

# Gazette

Vol. 632

**February Februarie** 

2018

No. 41419

Part 1 of 3

N.B. The Government Printing Works will not be held responsible for the quality of "Hard Copies" or "Electronic Files" submitted for publication purposes

ISSN 1682-5843

AIDS HELPLINE: 0800-0123-22 Prevention is the cure

For purposes of reference, all Proclamations, Government Notices, General Notices and Board Notices published are included in the following table of contents which thus forms a weekly index. Let yourself be guided by the gazette numbers in the righthand column:

Alle Proklamasies, Goewermentskennisgewings, Algemene Kennisgewings en Raadskennisgewings gepubliseer, word vir verwysingsdoeleindes in die volgende Inhoudopgawe ingesluit wat dus weeklikse indeks voorstel. Laat uself deur die Koerantnommers in die regterhandse kolom lei:

## **Weekly Index**

#### Weeklikse Indeks

No.	Page No.	Gazette No.	No.	Bladsy k No.	Koerant No.
PROCLAMATION			PROKLAMASIES		
R.2 Special Investigating Units and Special Tribunals Act (74/1996) :Referral of matters to existing Special Investigating Unit	11	41387	R.2 Special Investigating Units and Special Tribunals Act (74/1996) :Referral of mat- ters to existing Special Investigating Unit	14	41387
3 Section 84(2)(f) of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa :Judicial Commission of Inquiry into State Capture, Corruption and Fraud in the Public Sector	4	41403	3 Section 84(2)(f) of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa :Judicial Commission of Inquiry into State Capture, Corruption and Fraud in the Public Sector		41403
GOVERNMENT NOTICE			GOEWERMENTSKENNISGEWING	S	
Energy, Department of			Energie, Departement van		
55 National Energy Regulator Act (40/2004) :Invitation for public comments on Eskom's third Multi-Year Price Determination (MYPD3) Regulatory Clearing Account (RCA) Year 2 (2014/15), Year 3 (2015/16) and Year 4 (2016/17) applications and indicative timelines for the determination process	4	41402	55 National Energy Regulator Act (40/2004) :Invitation for public comments on Eskom's third Multi-Year Price Determination (MYPD3) Regulatory Clearing Account (RCA) Year 2 (2014/15), Year 3 (2015/16) and Year 4 (2016/17) applications and indicative timelines for the determination process		41402
Higher Education and Training, Department of			Hoër Onderwys en Opleiding, Departement van		
34 National Student Financial Aid Scheme Act (56/1999) :Regulations on additional functions assigned to NSFAS-Call for pub- lic comments	4	41390	34 National Student Financial Aid Scheme Act (56/1999) :Regulations on additional functions assigned to NSFAS-Call for pub- lic comments	•	41390
Labour, Department of			Arbeid, Departement van		
R.29 Occupational Health and Safety Act (85/1993) :Invitation of public comments on Draft Asbestos Abatement Regulations	17	41387	R.29 Occupational Health and Safety Act (85/1993) :Invitation of public comments on Draft Asbestos Abatement Regulations		41387
R.30 Labour Relations Act, 1995 :Bargaining Council for the Fishing Industry: Extension of period of operation of main collective agreement	43	41387	R.30 Labour Relations Act, 1995 :Bargaining Council for the Fishing Industry: Extension of period of operation of main collective agreement		41387
National Treasury			Nasionale Tesourie		
35 Division of Revenue Act (3/2017), as amended by the Division of Revenue Amendment Act (10/2017 :Publication of allocations	4	41394	35 Division of Revenue Act (3/2017), as amended by the Division of Revenue Amendment Act (10/2017 :Publication of allocations		41394
Trade and Industry, Department of			Handel en Nywerheid, Departement van		
19 Co-operatives Act, 2005 :Co-operatives that have been removed from the register	13	41386	19 Co-operatives Act, 2005 :Co-operatives that have been removed from the register	13	41386
20 Co-operatives Act, 2005 :Co-operatives that have been removed from the register	14	41386	20 Co-operatives Act, 2005 :Co-operatives that have been removed from the register	14	41386
21 Co-operatives Act, 2005 :Co-operatives that have been removed from the register	15	41386	21 Co-operatives Act, 2005 :Co-operatives that have been removed from the register	15	41386
22 Co-operatives Act, 2005 :Co-operatives that have been removed from the register	16	41386	22 Co-operatives Act, 2005 :Co-operatives that have been removed from the register	16	41386
23 Co-operatives Act, 2005 :Co-operatives have been removed from the register	17	41386	23 Co-operatives Act, 2005 :Co-operatives have been removed from the register		41386

No.	Page No.	Gazette No.	No.	Page No.	Gazette No.
24 Co-operatives Act, 2005 :Co-operatives that have been removed from the register	18	41386	24 Co-operatives Act, 2005 :Co-operatives that have been removed from the register	18	41386
25 Co-operatives Act, 2005	19	41386	25 Co-operatives Act, 2005:Co-operatives that have been removed from the register	19	41386
26 Co-operatives Act, 2005 :Co-operatives to be removed from the register	20	41386	26 Co-operatives Act, 2005 :Co-operatives to be removed from the register	20	41386
Transport, Department of			Vervoer, Departement van		
27 National Land Transport Act (5/2009) :Designation of Land in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality Area, Eastern Cape as a depot for impounded vehicles.	21	41386	27 National Land Transport Act (5/2009) :Designation of Land in the Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality Area, Eastern Cape as a depot for impounded vehicles.	21	41386
R.31 Convention on the International Recognition of Rights in Aircraft Act (59/1993) :Third Amendment of the Mortgaging of Aircraft Regulations, 2017	44	41387	R.31 Convention on the International Recognition of Rights in Aircraft Act (59/1993) :Third Amendment of the Mortgaging of Aircraft Regulations, 2017	44	41387
Water and Sanitation, Department of			Water en Sanitasie, Departement van		
28 National Water Act (36/1998): Restrictions on the use of water for domestic, industrial and agricultural purposes in the Mzimvubu-Tsitsikamma Water Management Area (WMA 7) in the Eastern Cape Province	22	41386	28 National Water Act (36/1998): Restrictions on the use of water for domestic, industrial and agricultural purposes in the Mzimvubu-Tsitsikamma Water Management Area (WMA 7) in the Eastern Cape Province	22	41386
GENERAL NOTICE			ALGEMENE KENNISGEWINGS		
Environmental Affairs, Department of			Omgewingsake, Departement van		
19 Biodiversity Act (10/2004) :National Environmental Management: Non-detriment Findings	4	41393	19 Biodiversity Act (10/2004) :National Envi- ronmental Management: Non-detriment Findings	4	41393
Independent Communications Authority of Sout	h Africa	a	Onafhanklike Kommunikasie-owerheid van Suid	-Afrika	
17 Electronic Communications Act (36/2005) :Application for amendment of Radio Frequency Spectrum Licence by Beat FM	4	41392	17 Electronic Communications Act (36/2005) :Application for amendment of Radio Frequency Spectrum Licence by Beat FM	4	41392
18 Electronic Communications Act (36/2005) :Application for Amendment of Radio Frequency Spectrum Licence by Rhythm FM	5	41392	18 Electronic Communications Act (36/2005) :Application for Amendment of Radio Frequency Spectrum Licence by Rhythm FM	5	41392
20 Electronic Communications Act (36/2005), as amended :Applications for the transfer of licences from Infovan (Pty) Ltd to T-Systems South Africa (Pty) Ltd	4	41396	20 Electronic Communications Act (36/2005), as amended :Applications for the transfer of licences from Infovan (Pty) Ltd to T-Sys- tems South Africa (Pty) Ltd	•	
Parliament of the Republic of South Africa			Parlement van die Republiek van Suid-Afrika		
9 Public Audit Act, 2004 :Invitation to comment on Draft Public Audit Amendment Bill, 2017	24	41386	9 Public Audit Act, 2004 :Invitation to comment on Draft Public Audit Amendment Bill, 2017	24	41386
South African Reserve Bank			Suid-Afrikaanse Reserwebank		
10 South African Reserve Bank Act, 1989 :The Dimension of, Design for, and Com- pilation of 2018 R5 circulation coin: Nelson Mandela Centenary	4	41391	10 South African Reserve Bank Act, 1989 :The Dimension of, Design for, and Com- pilation of 2018 R5 circulation coin: Nelson Mandela Centenary	4	41391
11 South African Reserve Bank Act, 1989 :The Dimension of, Design for, and Compi- lation of The Year 2018 Protea Coin Series: Llfe of a Legend – Nelson Mandela	6	41391	11 South African Reserve Bank Act, 1989 :The Dimension of, Design for, and Com- pilation of The Year 2018 Protea Coin Se- ries: Llfe of a Legend – Nelson Mandela	6	41391
12 South African Reserve Bank Act, 1989 :The Dimension of, Design for, and Com- pilation of 2018 R1 Coin Series: Reptiles of South Africa—The Parrot—Beaked Pad- loper	8	41391	12 South African Reserve Bank Act, 1989 :The Dimension of, Design for, and Com- pilation of 2018 R1 Coin Series: Reptiles of South Africa-The Parrot-Beaked Pad- loper	8	41391

No.	Page (	Gazette No.	No.	Page No.	Gazette No.
13 South African Reserve Bank Act, 1989 :The Dimension of, Design for, and Compilation of The Year 2018 OZ Krugerrand	10	41391	13 South African Reserve Bank Act, 1989 :The Dimension of, Design for, and Com- pilation of The Year 2018 OZ Krugerrand	10	41391
14 South African Reserve Bank Act, 1989 :The Dimension of, Design for, and Com- pilation of The 2018 Colour Coin Series: Flowers and Birds of the Waterberg Bio- sphere Reserve	12	41391	14 South African Reserve Bank Act, 1989 :The Dimension of, Design for, and Com- pilation of The 2018 Colour Coin Series: Flowers and Birds of the Waterberg Bio- sphere Reserve	12	41391
15 South African Reserve Bank Act, 1989 :The Dimension of, Design for, and Com- pilation of The Year 2018 Natura Coin Se- ries	14	41391	15 South African Reserve Bank Act, 1989 :The Dimension of, Design for, and Com- pilation of The Year 2018 Natura Coin Se- ries	14	41391
16 South African Reserve Bank Act, 1989 :The Dimension of, Design for, and Com- pilation of The Year 2017 Sterling Silver Crown and Tickey Coin Series	16	41391	16 South African Reserve Bank Act, 1989 :The Dimension of, Design for, and Com- pilation of The Year 2017 Sterling Silver Crown and Tickey Coin Series	16	41391
BOARD NOTICE			RAADSKENNISGEWINGS		
1 Allied Health Professions Act (63/1982) :Unprofessional Conduct Board Notice: The prohibition of Multilevel Marketing, Perverse Incentives and Franchising	47	41386	1 Allied Health Professions Act (63/1982) :Unprofessional Conduct Board Notice: The prohibition of Multilevel Marketing, Perverse Incentives and Franchising	47	41386
2 Housing Consumer Protection Measures Act (95/1998) :Invitation for public com- ment on the draft owner builder exemption application form in terms of the Act: Na- tional Home Builders Registration Council	49	41386	2 Housing Consumer Protection Measures Act (95/1998) :Invitation for public com- ment on the draft owner builder exemption application form in terms of the Act: Na- tional Home Builders Registration Council	49	41386
3 Allied Health Professions Act (63/1982) :Unprofessional Conduct Board Notice: Practice of Live Blood Analysis to be used only as an adjunct to the scope of practice of Homeopathy, Naturopathy or Phytotherapy	54	41386	3 Allied Health Professions Act (63/1982) :Unprofessional Conduct Board Notice: Practice of Live Blood Analysis to be used only as an adjunct to the scope of practice of Homeopathy, Naturopathy or Phytotherapy	54	41386

## **IMPORTANT NOTICE:**

THE GOVERNMENT PRINTING WORKS WILL NOT BE HELD RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY ERRORS THAT MIGHT OCCUR DUE TO THE SUBMISSION OF INCOMPLETE / INCORRECT / ILLEGIBLE COPY.

No future queries will be handled in connection with the above.

#### Contents

No.		Gazette No.	Page No.
,,,,,	GOVERNMENT NOTICES • GOEWERMENTSKENNISGEWINGS	,,,,,	
	Culture, Department of/ Kuns en Kultuur, Departement van		
63	National Heritage Resources Act (25/1999): Declaration of the Waaihoek Wesleyan Mission Church (also referred to as the Wesleyan School) as National Heritage Site	41419	15
64	National Heritage Resources Act (25/1999): Declaration of the Noordkapperpunt Stone-Walled Fish Traps and National Heritage Site	41419	17
Economi	c Development, Department of/ Ekonomiese Ontwikkeling, Departement van		
65	Competition Act (89/1998), as amended: The Western Cape Citrus Producers Forum granted Conditional Exemption	41419	18
66	Competition Act (89/1998), as amended: South African Petroleum Industry Association granted Conditional Exemption	41419	19
Health, D	epartment of/ Gesondheid, Departement van		
67	National Health Act (61/2013): Norms and standards regulations applicable to different categories of health establishments	41419	21
Justice a	nd Constitutional Development, Department of/ Justisie en Staatkundige Ontwikkeling, Departement van	ı	
68	Justices of the Peace and Commissioners of Oaths Act (16/1963): Designation of Commissioners of Oaths	41419	33
Rural Dev	velopment and Land Reform, Department of/ Landelike Ontwikkeling en Grondhervorming, Departement	van	
69	Restitution of Land Rights Act (22/1994) as amended: Remaining Extent of the Farm Waterval 45 LT, situated within the Waterval Local Municipality, Vhembe District, Limpopo	41419	36
Trade and	d Industry, Department of/ Handel en Nywerheid, Departement van		
70	Anti-Dumping Regulations (ADR): Sunset Review Investigation of the Anti-Dumping Duties on Clear Float Glass Originating in or imported from Indonesia: Final Determination	41419	37
71	Broad-Based Black Economic Cmpowerment Act (53/2003): Memorandum of Understanding between Broad- Based Black Economic Empowerment Commission and Companies and Intellectual Property Commission	41419	39
72	Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act (53/2003): Memorandum of Understanding between Broad- Based Black Economic Empowerment Commission and South African National Accreditation System	41419	54
73	Black Based Black Economic Empowerment Act (53/2003): Memorandum of Understanding between Broad- Based Black Economic Empowerment Commission and the National Gambling Board	41419	60
74	Broad-Based Black Aconomic Empowerment Act (53/2003): Memorandum of Understanding between Broad- Based Black Economic Empowerment Commission and Commission for Employment Enquity	41419	68
	General Notices • Algemene Kennisgewings		
Justice a	nd Constitutional Development, Department of/ Justisie en Staatkundige Ontwikkeling, Departement var	1	
43	Legal Practice Act (28/2014): Rules required by sections 95(1), 95(3) and 109 (2)(a)	41419	77
Rural Dev	velopment and Land Reform, Department of/ Landelike Ontwikkeling en Grondhervorming, Departement	van	
44	Land Rights Act (22/1994): Erf 312, Woodstock City of Cape Town	41419	245
45	Restitution of Land Rights Act (22/1994) as amended: Erf 6156, Stellenbosch	41419	246
46	Restitution of Land Rights Act (22/1994) as amended: Erf 19509, Brooklyn, City of Cape Town	41419	247
South Af	rican Reserve Bank/ Suid-Afrikaanse Reserwebank		
47	The Banks Act (94/1990): Consent granted in terms of section 34 of the Banks Act for a foreign institution to establish a representative office within the Republic of South Africa: HSBC Private Bank (SUISSE) SA	)- 41419	248
Trade and	d Industry, Department of/ Handel en Nywerheid, Departement van		
48	Income Tax Act (58/1962): Ironveld Smelting (Pty) Ltd	41419	249
49	Income Tax Act (58/1962), as amended: Section 12I Tax Allowance Programme: PG Bison Southern Cape (Pty) Ltd	41419	250
50	Standards Act (8/2008): Standards matters: Various schedules and sections	41419	251

## BOARD NOTICES • RAADSKENNISGEWINGS

7	Allied Health Professions Act (63/1982) ("the Act"): Unprofessional Conduct Board Notice: Injection therapy by Chiropractors and Osteopaths	41419	258
8	Allied Health Professions Act (63/1982) ("the Act"): Unprofessional Conduct Board Notice: Issuing of Death Certificates by Allied Health Practitioners	41419	260
9	Allied Health Professions Act (63/1982) ("the Act"): Conditions of restoration to any AHPCSA Register of Registers by any person previously deregistered in any one of the AHPCSA Professions	41419	262
10	Allied Health Professions Act (63/1982) ("the Act"): Institution of Professional Board Examinations for Graduates in the Professions of Chinese Medicine and Acupuncture, Naturopathy, Phythotherapy and Unani-Tibb	41419	264
11	SPCA Act (169/1993): National Council for Societies for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals	41419	265
12	Allied Health Professions Act (63/1982) ("the Act"): The Governing of Persons in Allied Health Professions not in Active Practice	41419	267
13	Landscape Architectural Profession Act (45/2000): SACLAP Nomination Procedures for public comments	41419	269
14	Employment Services Act (4/2014): Request for Proposal: Subsidy Scheme for workshops for persons with disabilities	41419	270
15	Council for the Built Environment Act (43/2000): Invitation for nominations of members of the public to be appointed to serve on the Council for the Built Environment	41419	271

## GENERAL NOTICES • ALGEMENE KENNISGEWINGS

# DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND CONSTITUTIONAL DEVELOPMENT NOTICE 43 OF 2018



## NATIONAL FORUM ON THE LEGAL PROFESSION

Spooral Park Building Ground Floor 2007 Lenchen Avenue South Centurion

2 February 2018

## Rules required by sections 95(1), 95(3) and 109(2) (a) of the Legal Practice Act

The National Forum for the Legal Profession ("the National Forum"), a transitional body established in terms of Chapter 10 of the Legal Practice Act 28 of 2014 ("the Act "), hereby publishes the draft Rules required by sections 95(1), 95(3) and 109(2)(a) of the Act for comment.

Sections 95(4) and 109(2) (b) read with sections 97(1) and 109(2) and (3) of the Act as amended by the Legal Practice Amendment Act 16 of 2017, requires the National Forum to publish a draft of the proposed Rules in the Gazette, calling on interested parties to comment thereon in writing within a period of not less than 30 days from date of publication.

After finalisation, the Rules will apply to all legal practitioners (attorneys and advocates) as well as all candidate legal practitioners and juristic entities as defined, when the Act comes into operation in terms of section 120(4) thereof. They consist of the following parts:

- I. Definitions
- II. Fees & Charges
- III. The Council
- IV. Provincial Councils
- V. Professional Practice
- VI. Education and Training
- VII. Admission and Enrolment
- VIII. Rendering of Legal Services
- IX. Law Clinics
- X. Disciplinary Rules
- XI. Legal Practitioners Fidelity Fund: Procedural Rules
- XII. Accounting Rules
- XIII. Legal Practice Fidelity Fund
- Schedules to the Rules

The National Forum which drafted these Rules consists of representatives of various organisations representing attorneys and advocates as well as persons nominated by teachers of law, Legal Aid South Africa, the Attorney's Fidelity Fund and the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services. Various stakeholders were consulted in the drafting process.

The Rules, along with the Code of Conduct for legal practitioners published in Gazette 40610 of 10 February 2017 and the Regulations still due to be promulgated, will play an important role in the establishment of a single unified statutory Legal Practice Council to regulate the affairs of all legal practitioners, candidate legal practitioners and juristic entities, for the first time in the history of South Africa.

The National Forum is confident that the Rules will contribute towards achieving the objectives of the Act, namely the transformation and restructuring of the legal profession which will embrace the values underpinning the Constitution and upholding the rule of law, promote access to justice, legal services and the profession and enhancing and maintaining the integrity, status and independence of the legal profession. The Rules will assist in the regulation of all legal practitioners, candidate legal practitioners and juristic entities in pursuit of the goals of an accountable, efficient and independent legal profession, the protection and promotion of the public interests, the provision of a fair, effective, efficient and transparent procedure for the resolution of complaints against legal practitioners, candidate legal practitioners and juristic entities, the creation of a framework for development and maintenance of appropriate professional and ethical norms and standards for the rendering of legal services by legal practitioners, candidate legal practitioners and juristic entities.\*

Interested parties should submit written comments within 30 days of publication hereof to:

Ms Charity Mhlungu, Executive Officer - National Forum

Email: BonGumede@justice.gov.za

Or hand delivered to:

The National Forum, SA Law Reform Commission, 1st Floor, Spooral Park Building, 2007 Lenchen South Avenue, Centurion between 9am – 3pm weekdays.

Signed at Pretoria on this 27th day of January 2018

Adv. Kgomotso Moroka SC

Chairperson: National Forum for the Legal Profession





The South African Legal Practice Council

#### Rules

made under the authority of sections 95(1), 95(3) and 109(2) of the Legal Practice Act, 28 of 2014 (as amended)

## The South African Legal Practice Council

## Rules

## made under the authority of section 95(1) of the Legal Practice Act, 28 of 2014

## **Table of Contents**

		Page No
PART	I	6
DEFIN	ITIONS	6
PART	II	10
FEES	AND CHARGES	10
2.	Application fees	10
3.	Annual fees for Fidelity Fund certificates	11
4.	Annual fees payable by all legal practitioners	11
5.	Fees payable in respect of examinations conducted by the Council	12
6.	Other fees, levies, contributions and charges	12
7.	Failure to pay fees, levies and charges	13
PART	III	13
THE C	OUNCIL	13
8.	Removal or suspension of member of Council	13
9.	Meetings of the Council	14
10.	Conduct of meetings of a committee	16
11.	Appointment of executive officer and other employees	17
12.	Conditions of service of executive officer and other employees	17
13.	Executive committee	17
14.	Convening of meeting and conduct of meetings of executive committee	e18
15.	Investment of monies of the Council	18
PART	IV	18
PROV	INCIAL COUNCILS	18
16.	Election of Provincial Councils	18
PART	V	27
PROF	ESSIONAL PRACTICE	27
17.	Information to be submitted for admission	27
18.	Period of practice as an attorney and advocacy training programme	33
19.	Information to be provided by attorney for appearance in High Court	34

PART '	VI	35
EDUCA	ATION AND TRAINING	35
20.	Competency-based examinations or assessments	35
21.	Practical vocational training and remuneration for candidate legal practitioners	37
22.	Assessment of persons undergoing practical vocational training	47
23.	Levels of competence for admission and enrolment as legal practitioner	48
24.	Qualifications to conduct assessment of practical vocational training	49
25.	Exemption from performing community service	50
26.	Legal practice management course	50
PART '	VII	51
ADMIS	SION AND ENROLMENT	51
27.	Application for enrolment	51
28.	Manner of keeping roll of legal practitioners	53
29.	Notification of cancellation or suspension of enrolment	54
30.	Application for conversion of enrolment by attorneys and advocates	54
31.	Application for conversion of enrolment by advocate practising without fidelity fund certificate and vice versa [section 95(1)(y) read with section 32(1)(b)]	57
32.	Circumstances in which legal practitioner can apply for conversion of enrolment	59
PART '	VIII	59
RENDE	ERING OF LEGAL SERVICES	59
33.	Legal services which may be rendered by advocate in possession of fidelity fund certificate	59
34.	Briefing of advocates by attorneys and by members of the public	60
35.	Instruction of attorneys	60
PART	X	61
LAW C	LINICS	61
36.	Establishment of law clinics	61
37.	Engagement of candidate legal practitioners by law clinics	62
PART	<b>X</b>	63
DISCIF	PLINARY	63
38.	Procedure to be followed by disciplinary bodies	63
39.	Commencement of enquiry into alleged misconduct	65
40.	Investigation of alleged misconduct	66
41	Disciplinary procedure	69

42.	Subpoena	71
43.	Proceedings after disciplinary hearing, and sanctions	71
44.	Appeal against conduct or finding of investigating committee or disciplinary committee	74
45.	Manner and form in which complaints of misconduct must be lodged with the Council	77
PART XI		78
LEGAL PR	ACTITIONERS' FIDELITY FUND: PROCEDURAL	78
46.	Procedure for election of legal practitioners to the board	78
47.	Application for Fidelity Fund certificates	82
48.	Contributions payable by applicants for Fidelity Fund certificates	83
49.	Form of application for Fidelity Fund certificate	84
PART XII		85
50.	ACCOUNTING RULES	85
Acceptable	financial reporting framework	86
Distinguish	ing between trust account and business account transactions	87
Retention of	of accounting records and files	87
Updating a	ccounting records	88
Trust mone	ey to be kept separate from other money	88
Accounting	to clients	88
Payment to	clients	89
Accounting	Requirements - Accounting Records	89
Internal cor	ntrols	90
Prompt dep	positing of trust monies	90
Transfers f	rom trust investment account	91
Trust mone	eys not to be less than trust balances	91
Trust accou	unts not to be in debit	91
Reports to	Council of non-compliance	91
Transfer fro	om trust bank account to business bank account	91
Deposits or	n account of charges	91
Withdrawal	s from trust banking account	92
Payments f	from trust banking account	92
Interest acc	crued on trust banking account	92
Lists of bala	ances	93
Notification	of trust banking account	93
Trust accou	unt investments in terms of section 86(4)	94

Responsil	oility for ensuring compliance	94
Reporting	Requirements	94
Opening o	of practice	99
Investmer	nt Practice Rules	99
Definitions	s 99	
Mandates	100	
Reports to	clients in relation to investments	100
Accountin	g records for investment practices	100
Pooling of	investments	102
Restriction	ns applicable to certain investments	102
Investmer	nt of funds by firms on behalf of persons, otherwise than in terms of investment practice rule 51	102
General P	Provisions	103
PART XIII		104
LEGAL PI	RACTITIONERS' FIDELITY FUND	104
54.	Compliance and Enforcement: Inspections	104
55.	Contributions to the fund: insurance premiums	111
56.	Issuing and costs of fidelity fund certificate	111
57.	Procedure for the appointment of the executive officer and other employees	112
Schedule	1A	
Schedule	1A	116
Schedule	1B (Part A)	118
Schedule	1B (Part B)	120
Schedule	2	122
Schedule	3	124
Schedule	4	126
Schedule	5	127
Schedule	6A	131
Schedule	6B	132
Schedule	7A	133
Schedule	7B	141
Schedule	8	148
Second S	chedule	163

#### **PART I**

#### **DEFINITIONS**

- 1. In these rules, unless the context otherwise indicates:
- 1.1 "accounting records" means the records which a firm is required to keep in terms of accounting rule 50.6;
- 1.2 "the Act" means the Legal Practice Act, 28 of 2014;
- 1.3 "attorney" means a legal practitioner who is admitted and enrolled as such under the Act;
- 1.4 "advocate" means a legal practitioner who is admitted and enrolled as such under the Act;
- 1.5 "auditor" means a person who is registered as an auditor in terms of the Auditing Profession Act, 26 of 2005 and who engages in public practice as an auditor registered in terms of that Act;
- 1.6 "bank" means a bank is defined in section 1 of the Banks Act, 94 of 1990;
- 1.7 "Board" means th Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund Board established in terms of section 61 of the Act:
- 1.8 "branch office" means an office at or from which the firm practises, but which is not a main office:
- 1.9 "business account transactions" means transactions in regard to which records are required to be kept in terms of accounting rule 50.6;
- 1.10 "candidate attorney" means a person undergoing practical vocational training with a view to being admitted and enrolled as an attorney;
- 1.11 "candidate legal practitioner" means a person undergoing practical vocational training, either as a candidate attorney or as a pupil;
- 1.12 "code of conduct" means the code of conduct setting out rules and standards relating to ethics, conduct and practice for legal practitioners, candidate legal

practitioners and juristic entities and its enforcement through the Council and its structures: 1.13 "conveyancer" means any practising attorney who is admitted and enrolled to practice as a conveyancer in terms of the Act; 1.14 "Council" means the South African Legal Practice Council established in terms of section 4 of the Act; 1.15 "court" means any court in the Republic as defined in section 166 of the Constitution: 1.16 "disciplinary body" means -1.16.1 an investigating committee; 1.16.2 a disciplinary committee; or 1.16.3 an appeal tribunal, as the case may be, established under the Act and the rules; 1.17 "fidelity fund certificate" means the certificate referred to in section 85 of the Act; 1.18 "firm" means -1.18.1 a partnership of attorneys; 1.18.2 an attorney practising for his or her own account; or 1.18.3 a juristic entity who or which in each case conducts the practice of an attorney, and for purposes of Part XI (accounting rules) of these rules only, includes an advocate referred to in section 34(2)(b) of the Act;

"Fund" means the Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund referred to in section 53 of

1.19

the Act;

- 1.20 "High Court" means the High Court of South Africa established by section 6 of the Superior Courts Act, 10 of 2013 or, if the context indicates otherwise, the Division thereof having jurisdiction;
- 1.21 "juristic entity" means a commercial juristic entity established to conduct a legal practice as an attorney, as contemplated in section 34(7) of the Act and a limited liability legal practice as contemplated in section 34(9) of the Act;
- 1.22 "legal practitioner" means an advocate or attorney admitted and enrolled as such in terms of sections 24 and 30 respectively of the Act;
- "main office" means the premises at and from which the practice of a firm is as a whole administered and controlled, including such premises in two or more buildings situate in sufficiently close proximity to one another to allow the administration of that practice as a single composite entity, and includes premises declared or determined as such in terms of accounting rules 14.2 or 14.5 as the case may be;
- 1.24 "Minister" means the Minister of Justice and Constitutional Development;
- 1.25 "notary" means any practising attorney who is admitted and enrolled to practise as a notary in terms of this Act;
- 1.26 "practical vocational training" means training required in terms of the Act to qualify as a candidate attorney or pupil in order to be admitted and enrolled as an attorney or advocate;
- "principal place of practice" means the place at which the main office of a firm is situated, notwithstanding that any member of the firm (being a sole practitioner, or a partner in a partnership, or a director of a juristic entity) may habitually or temporarily practise at or from a branch office; provided that the principal place of practice of a member of the firm who is a member of more than one firm, or who is the proprietor of one firm and a member of another firm or other firms shall be deemed to be the place of the main office of that firm which has its main office closest to his residential address:
- 1.28 "pupil" means a person undergoing practical vocational training with a view to being admitted and enrolled as an advocate;

- 1.29 "Republic" means the Republic of South Africa; 1.30 "Roll" means the Roll of Legal Practitioners referred to in section 30(3) of the Act; 1.31 "rules" means the rules made by the Council in terms of sections 95(1), 95(3) and 109(2) of the Act; 1.32 "training supervisor" means an individual who is authorised in terms of the Act, or in terms of any rule or regulation issued under the Act, to enter into a practical vocational training contract with a pupil, and includes a duly qualified employee of an entity which is accredited by the Council to provide practical vocational training to pupils; 1.33 "trust account advocate" means an advocate referred to in section 34(2)(b) of the Act who is, in terms of the Act, required to hold a fidelity fund certificate; 1.34 "trust account practice" means a practice conducted by -1.34.1 one or more attorneys who are; or 1.34.2 an advocate referred to in section 34(2)(b) of the Act who is in terms of the Act, required to hold a fidelity fund certificate; 1.35 "trust account transactions" means transactions in regard to which records are required to be kept in terms of rule 6; 1.36 "trust banking account" means a current cheque account, and includes all trust accounts kept by a trust account practice in terms of section 86(2) of the Act; 1.37 "trust cash" means any cash held in trust by a trust account practice otherwise than in a trust banking account or a trust investment account; 1.38 "trust creditor" means a person on whose account money is held or received as
- firm in terms of section 86(3) or section 86(4), of the Act;

section 86(4), of the Act;

1.39

contemplated by section 86(2), or invested as contemplated by section 86(3) or

"trust investment account" means and includes all banking accounts kept by a

R 342

Final Rules - The South African Legal Practice Council 19\_01\_2018.docx 19/01/2018

1.40 "trust money" means money held or received on account of any person as contemplated by section 86(2), or invested as contemplated by section 86(3) or section 86(4), of the Act.

Words or expressions referred to in these rules which are not defined herein shall bear the respective meanings assigned to them by section 1 of the Act.

#### **PART II**

2.1

#### **FEES AND CHARGES**

## 2. Application fees

## [section 95(1) read with section 6(4)(a)]

The following fees (which are inclusive of value-added tax) shall be payable to the Council in respect of the matters referred to below:

application for the registration of a practical vocational training contract, and the examination fee of any such contract

application for the registration of a practical vocational

	training contract, and the examination fee of any such contract	
2.2	issuing of a right of appearance certificate in terms of section 25(4) of the Act;	R 171
2.3	registration of a cession of a practical vocational training contract, and the examination fee in respect thereof;	R342
2.4	enrolment of a legal practitioner or re-enrolment of a person whose name was removed from the roll as a legal practitioner or as a notary or conveyance at his or her own request;	R456
2.5	re-enrolment as a legal practitioner, and/or as a notary or	R2 850

2.6

2.7

11

conveyancer, subsequent to the name of that legal practitioner being struck off the roll;
enrolment as a notary;
enrolment as a conveyancer;

2.8 registration for the legal practice management course in terms of section 26(1)(c)(ii) of the Act or application for exemption from attendance at the course;

2.9 conversion of enrolment in terms of section 31(1)(a) of the Act:

R684

R684

R684

R456

2.10 conversion of enrolment by an advocate in terms of R684 section 32(1)(b) of the Act.

## 3. Annual fees for Fidelity Fund certificates [section 95(1) read with section 6(4)(b)]

- 3.1 Every attorney required to be in possession of a Fidelity Fund certificate, and every advocate contemplated in section 34(2)(b) of the Act, shall pay to the Council an annual fee of R342 (inclusive of value-added tax) for the issue to him or her of a Fidelity Fund certificate, such fee being payable at such times as may from time to time be fixed by the Council.
- 3.2 The amount of the annual fee will be the amount applicable to the practitioner concerned on 1 January of the year in which application for a Fidelity Fund certificate is made; provided that any practitioner enrolled after 30 June in any year shall pay only one half of the annual fee for the year then current.

## 4. Annual fees payable by all legal practitioners [section 95(1)(1) read with section 6(4)(c)]

4.1 Every legal practitioner who is admitted and enrolled in terms of section 24(1) of the Act as a legal practitioner shall pay an annual fee to the Council at such time

as may from time to time be fixed by the Council. That fee (which is inclusive of value-added tax) shall be -

- 4.1.1 in the case of a legal practitioner who is in practice, R2 500;
- 4.1.2 in the case of a legal practitioner who is not in practice, R500.
- 4.2 The Council may in its discretion, and on application by the legal practitioner, permit the annual fee to be payable in instalments.

## 5. Fees payable in respect of examinations conducted by the Council [section 95(1)(a) read with section 6(4)(e)

5.1 Every legal practitioner and every candidate legal practitioner entering any examination conducted by the Council or on behalf of the Council, or repeating any such examination, shall pay the following fees to the Council:

5.1.1	in respect of	the	exam	nination	n referred	to	in	R342
	section 26(1)(d)	of	the	Act	(candidate	le	gal	
	practitioners);							

- 5.1.2 in respect of the examination referred to in R342 section 26(2) of the Act (conveyancers);
- 5.1.3 in respect of the examination referred to in section R342 26(3) of the Act (notaries).
- 5.2 Every candidate entering any examinations referred to in rule 5.1 who applies for a remark or a re-assessment of his or her examination scripts shall pay a fee equal to twice the fee payable in terms of rule 5.1 for the examination in question; provided that if the candidate successfully passes the examination as a result of the remark or re-assessment the fee paid shall be refunded.
- 6. Other fees, levies, contributions and charges [section 95(1)(a) read with section 6(4)(f)

Every legal practitioner shall pay to the Council such fees, levies, contributions or charges as it considers necessary, as contemplated in the Act, other than those fees, levies, contributions or charges specifically provided for in these rules, at such time and in such amounts as may from time to time be fixed by the Council.

## 7. Failure to pay fees, levies and charges

If a legal practitioner or candidate legal practitioner fails to pay any fee, levy or other charge payable by him or her in terms of the Act or in terms of these rules within one month after it has become due, the executive officer appointed in terms of section 19 shall, by letter or by electronic communication, draw his or her attention to that fact; and if the fee, levy or other charge in arrear is not paid within seven days from the date of despatch of that letter or electronic communication, or within such further time as the Council may allow, proceedings for the recovery thereof may be taken against him or her.

#### PART III

#### THE COUNCIL

## 8. Removal or suspension of member of Council [section 95(1)(b) read with section 12(4)]

- 8.1 If the Council proposes to suspend or remove a member of Council from office in terms of the powers granted to it in terms of section 12 of the Act it may not do so without having first notified the member of Council concerned in writing that it is considering such a suspension or removal and without advising such member of the reasons for which it is considering doing so.
- 8.2 The Council shall afford the member of the Council concerned the opportunity to furnish the Council, within a period stipulated in the notification, with his or her reasons, if any, as to why the Council should not exercise the right to suspend or remove him or her.

- 8.3 The Council shall be entitled to call upon the member of Council concerned to amplify such reasons by oral representations to the Council within such period as it shall stipulate.
- 8.4 The Council shall make its decision to suspend or remove the member of Council concerned from office in the light of such reasons, if any, and such oral representations, if any, as may have been submitted by that member.
- 8.5 The Council shall notify the member of Council concerned in writing of its decision either to suspend him or her or remove him or her from office, or not to do so, within 24 hours of such decision, and in the former instance the suspension or removal shall be effective from the date of the Council's decision.
- 8.6 The Council shall record the date on which the removal or suspension of a member of the Council becomes effective, and in the case of a suspension, the date on which the suspension terminates.

## 9. Meetings of the Council [section 95(1)(c) read with section 16(2)]

- 9.1 Meetings of the Council shall be held at least four times in each year on such dates and at such times and places as may from time to time be determined by the Council or, failing such determination, by the chairperson.
- 9.2 The successive date of each meeting of the Council shall be determined at its preceding meeting or, if the Council should fail to do so, by the chairperson.
- 9.3 The chairperson may at any time *mero motu* convene a meeting of the Council in such manner as he or she shall determine, and the executive officer must, if requested in writing to do so by members of the Council representing not less than one fifth of the Council members in office, convene a special meeting of the Council at such time and in such place as he or she may determine on not less than seven days and not more than fourteen days' notice in writing, stating the business to be considered.
- 9.4 When convening a meeting *mero motu* the chairperson may, in cases which are, in his or her judgment, of sufficient urgency, give such period of notice of the

meeting, and in such manner, as he or she thinks fit, to the members of the Council, but no decision shall be taken at such a meeting unless a quorum is present and the decision is unanimous.

- 9.5 A resolution, other than a written resolution, taken on a motion of the chairperson on a matter which is, in his or her opinion, of sufficient urgency, shall, although not taken at a meeting of the Council but by such other means of communication as the chairperson may deem fit to employ, be as valid and effective as if it had been passed at a meeting of the Council duly convened and held if all those members of the Council who are readily accessible have been consulted and if the majority of all members of the Council who are then in office have expressed their assent.
- 9.6 Every resolution taken in terms of rule 9.5 shall as soon as possible thereafter be recorded in writing and such record shall be deemed to be a minute of the meeting, shall be entered into the minute book of the Council and shall be noted at the next following meeting of the Council.
- 9.7 The majority of the members of the Council then in office constitutes a quorum at any meeting of the Council provided that if a quorum is not present within fifteen minutes after the time fixed for the commencement of the meeting it shall stand adjourned to the corresponding time on the seventh day thereafter at the same time and place, and the members then present shall constitute a quorum; but if the last mentioned date is a public holiday the meeting shall not take place on that day but shall stand adjourned instead to the corresponding time and the same place on the next succeeding business day not being a public holiday, a Saturday or a Sunday.
- 9.8 Minutes shall be kept in a minute book, to be maintained by the executive officer, of every meeting of the Council, and at every ordinary meeting of the Council the minutes of the previous ordinary meeting and of all extraordinary meetings held since then shall be read or, if so resolved by the Council, taken as read and shall, subject to any necessary corrections, be signed by the chairperson as being a correct record of the proceedings of the meeting or meetings concerned.
- 9.9 No resolution passed at any meeting of the Council shall be rescinded at any subsequent meeting unless not less than ten days' written notice of the intention

to propose such rescission shall have been given in the notice of the meeting; but such notice may be dispensed with by the Council if, at the meeting at which the proposed rescission is to be considered, every member of the Council then in office is present and agrees to waive notice and to the motion being moved.

- 9.10 Subject to the provisions of the Act and of these rules, the Council may make, vary and rescind regulations for its meetings and proceedings, and shall otherwise regulate its meetings as it deems fit.
- 9.11 No decision taken by or act performed under the authority of the Council is invalid only by reason of -
- 9.11.1 a casual vacancy on the Council; or
- 9.11.2 the fact that any person who is not entitled to sit as a member of the Council participated in the meeting at the time the decision was taken or the act was authorised, if the members who were present and acted at the time followed the required procedure for decisions.

## 10. Conduct of meetings of a committee [section 95(1)(d) read with section 18(3)]

- 10.1 Any committee of the Council established by the Council in terms of the Act shall meet as often as circumstances require but at least once in every year, as such time and at such place as the committee may determine.
- The chairperson of the committee may at any time convene a special meeting of the committee at a time and place determined by the chairperson of the committee.
- 10.3 If requested in writing by not less than one quarter of the members of a committee, the chairperson of the committee must convene a special meeting of the committee to be held within fourteen days after the receipt of the request, and a meeting must take place at a time and place determined by the chairperson of the committee.
- 10.4 A majority of members of the committee constitutes a quorum at a meeting.

- 17
- 10.5 Every member of the committee, including the chairperson, has one vote. In the event of an equality of votes the chairperson of the committee has a casting vote in addition to his or her deliberative vote.
- 10.6 A decision of the majority of members of a committee present at a duly constituted meeting is a decision of the committee.
- 10.7 Rules 9.8 to 9.11 inclusive relating to meetings and decisions of the Council, with the necessary changes required by the context, apply in respect of any committee.

## 11. Appointment of executive officer and other employees [Section 95(1)(e) read with section 19]

- 11.1 The Council shall adopt such procedure as it may determine for the appointment of the executive officer or any other employees of the Council.
- The Council may assign to the executive officer, in addition to the duties and functions assigned to him or her under the Act, the code of conduct, any other law or these rules, such other functions and duties of a general or particular nature as the Council may determine.

## 12. Conditions of service of executive officer and other employees [section 95(1)(f) read with section 19(6)]

- The executive officer of the Council is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Council's affairs, and is accountable to the Council.
- On appointment of the executive officer he or she must enter into a performance agreement with the Council on terms to be agreed between the executive officer and the Council.
- 12.3 The Council must determine the conditions of service of other employees of the Council which are appropriate to the seniority of each such other employee.

## 13. Executive committee [section 95(1)(g) read with section 20(1)]

The Council shall determine the powers of the executive committee established in terms of section 20 of the Act. The executive committee shall have only those powers which are delegated to it from time to time by the Council, and the Council may at any time revoke any powers so delegated.

## 14. Convening of meeting and conduct of meetings of executive committee [section 95(1)(h) read with section 20(9)(b)]

The provisions of rule 9, with the necessary changes required by the context, apply to meetings of the executive committee.

## 15. Investment of monies of the Council [section 95(1)(i) read with section 22(3)(b)]

- 15.1 The executive officer shall cause all monies held by the Council to be placed as soon as practicable after each receipt in such bank accounts as the Council may from time to time determine.
- Any monies which in the opinion of the Council are not required for immediate use may be invested by the Council with financial institutions, in securities listed on any registered securities exchange and in such other prudent investments as the Council deems fit.

#### **PART IV**

#### **PROVINCIAL COUNCILS**

## 16. Election of Provincial Councils [section 95(1)(j) read with section 23(4)]

A Provincial Council shall consist of such number of members as the Council may determine from time to time, elected in accordance with the provisions of this rule. A member of a Provincial Council shall hold office for a term of three years but may serve as a member for one further term if he or she is again so elected.

- Until otherwise determined by the Council, every Provincial Council other than the Gauteng Provincial Council will comprise six attorneys and four advocates, and the Gauteng Provincial Council will comprise eight attorneys and four advocates, constituted in accordance with the principles set out in Schedule 1 (in the case of attorney members) or Schedule 2 (in the case of advocate members) respectively.
- The provisions of sections 7(3), 8, 11 and 12 of the Act shall apply, with the necessary changes required by the context, to members of a Provincial Council.
- 16.4 Within 60 days after a Provincial Council has been established by the Council in terms of the Act the Council shall organise the holding of the first election for members of that Provincial Council. In respect of such election -
- the provisions of this rule will apply;
- a member of the Council who wishes to make himself or herself available for election as a member of the Provincial Council in whose area of jurisdiction he or she practises shall not be involved in any way in the conduct of the election of members of that Provincial Council.
- An election for members of a Provincial Council shall be held, in the manner prescribed in these rules, in every third year after the year in which the first such election is held. The term of office of members of the Provincial shall run from the date of their election to the third anniversary of that date; provided that in the case of a member elected to fill a casual vacancy in the Provincial Council, the term of office of that member shall terminate on the date on which the office of the member replaced by him or her would have terminated. The member elected to fill a casual vacancy shall be eligible for re-election.
- During September of each year in which an election is to be held, or at such other time as the Council may determine, the Council shall despatch a notice to every attorney and every advocate admitted to practice and enrolled on the practising roll in the area of jurisdiction of the Provincial Council concerned calling for nominations of attorneys and advocates for election to the Provincial Council, such nominations to be received not later than a date stipulated in the

notice but in any event not earlier than ten days from the date of the notice. The notice -

- shall be sent by email to the email address of the legal practitioner concerned; where no email address has been provided to the Council by the legal practitioner concerned the notice shall be sent by prepaid post;
- shall be published in the English language once in a journal published by the legal profession for attorneys practising in South Africa and once in a journal published by the legal profession for advocates practising in South Africa;
- shall be published once in the government gazette on a date as close as possible to the date of dispatch of the notice;
- shall give details of the number of vacancies on the Provincial Council for attorney members and advocate members respectively.
- Any two attorneys admitted to practice and enrolled on the practising roll and practising within the area of jurisdiction of the Provincial Council may, in the manner prescribed in this rule, nominate any eligible attorney (other than themselves) as an attorney member of the Provincial Council for the then ensuing period of office.
- Any two advocates admitted to practice and enrolled on the practising roll and practising within the area of jurisdiction of the Provincial Council may, in the manner prescribed in this rule, nominate any eligible advocate (other than themselves) as an advocate member of the Provincial Council for the then ensuing period of office.
- Any such nomination shall be made over the signature of the two nominating individuals in a document which shall provide the following information in relation to each nominee named therein, in not more than 600 words and in such format as the Council may require -
- 16.9.1 his or her name;

- 16.9.2 in the case of an attorney, the name of the firm of which he or she is a proprietor or a member or by which he or she is employed, stating also the status of that attorney within the firm; 16.9.3 in the case of an advocate, whether he or she renders legal services in terms of section 34(1)(2)(a)(i) or section 34(2)a)(ii) of the Act, and in either case whether or not he or she has the status of Senior Counsel. 16.9.4 his or her race, gender, date of admission and enrolment and period in practice; 16.9.5 if he or she suffers from a disability and wishes to disclose that fact, a statement to that effect and the nature of the disability; 16.9.6 the address of his or her principal place of practice and on which shall be endorsed, over the signature of each nominee named therein, the acceptance of nomination by that nominee and his or her confirmation that the information given therein is correct and that he or she is not disqualified from membership of the Provincial Council. 16.10 Originally signed nominations must be lodged with the Provincial Council by not later than the date stipulated in the notice referred to in rule 16.6. nomination which does not comply substantially with the provisions of this rule or which is not lodged within the prescribed time must not be recognised. 16.11 If no greater number of candidates is nominated than the number to be elected, then the candidates who are nominated will be deemed to have been elected. 16.12 If the number of candidates who are nominated exceeds the number to be elected as attorney members or as advocate members, as the case may be, the Council must, within 10 days after the last day on which nominations are required to be lodged in terms of rule 16.6, send to every legal practitioner
- 16.12.1 an envelope on which the address of the Council is printed, together with the words "voting papers", or, where the communication is by email,

legal practitioner has not appointed an email address, by prepaid post -

eligible to vote, by email to the legal practitioner's email address or, where the

	directions to the legal practitioner as to the size and format of an envelope to be used by the legal practitioner;
16.12.2	a smaller envelope on which is printed the words "ballot paper" and nothing else, or where the communication is by email, directions to the legal practitioner as to the size and format of an envelope to be created by the legal practitioner;
16.12.3	a printed declaration in such form as the Council may direct containing appropriate spaces for -
16.12.3.1	the surname and forenames of the voting legal practitioner and a statement whether he or she is an attorney or an advocate;
16.12.3.2	the date of signature by that legal practitioner and that legal practitioner's signature;
16.12.3.3	a declaration by the legal practitioner above his or her signature that he or she has not already voted in the election concerned;
16.12.4	a ballot paper, substantially in the form of Schedule 1A (in the case of the election of attorney members) or Schedule 1B (in the case of the election of advocate members), containing the surnames and forenames in alphabetical order by surname of the nominated candidates and providing the information indicated in Schedule1 or Schedule 2, as the case may be, and nothing more;
16.12.5	a written notice in such form as the Provincial Council may direct -
16.12.5.1	requesting the legal practitioner, if he or she wishes to record a vote -
16.12.5.1.1	place a cross on the accompanying ballot paper against the name of each candidate for whom the legal practitioner wishes to vote and so as to indicate a vote in favour of not more than the number of candidates for which there are vacancies, and to make no other mark or alteration on the ballot paper;
16.12.5.1.2	to place the ballot paper in the envelope marked "ballot paper";

Final Rules -	The South African	Legal Practice Cou	ıncil 19_01_2018.docx
19/01/2018			

- 16.12.5.1.3 to seal the envelope containing the ballot paper;
- 16.12.5.1.4 to complete and sign the form of declaration;
- 16.12.5.1.5 to place a completed and signed declaration, together with the envelope containing the ballot paper in and seal the envelope marked "voting papers";
- 16.12.5.1.6 to despatch the envelope marked "voting papers" with its contents to the Council so as to reach the Council not later than a date referred to in the notice:
- 16.12.5.2 drawing the attention of legal practitioners to the fact that the profiles of candidates, containing the information set out in rule 16.9, will be published on the website of the Council for a period of 30 days commencing on the date of the written notice referred to in rule 16.12.5.
- 16.13 The notice referred to in rule 16.12.5 shall contain a warning that if a vote is cast in favour of more than the number of names referred to in rule 16.12.5.1.1, or if any mark or alteration is made on the ballot paper other than the cross indicating a vote in favour of the candidates for whom the legal practitioner intends to vote, or if the declaration referred to in rule 16.12.3 is not duly completed and signed by the voter, the ballot paper will be void.
- 16.14 The Council shall despatch separate notices to attorneys and advocates for purposes of any election in terms of this rule, and all notifications shall distinguish clearly as to whether they are intended for the election of an attorney or for the election of an advocate.
- 16.15 Within 7 days after the last date on which nominations were required to be lodged in terms of rule 16.6 the chairperson of the Council ("the chairperson") shall in writing appoint a legal practitioner of more than fifteen years standing as a referee for the purpose of performing the duties assigned to a referee under these rules . The referee shall not be a candidate for office or a legal practitioner who has nominated a candidate, or a member of the Council or of a Provincial Council, as the case may be.

- 16.16 On each day on which envelopes marked "voting papers" despatched to the Provincial Council are received by the Council, or if it is not practicable on that day, as soon as practicable thereafter, the chairperson shall, in the presence of the referee, open each such envelope and remove its contents. The chairperson and the referee shall then together examine each declaration form, shall verify, to such extent as may appear necessary, the information contained therein against the records of the Council and shall satisfy themselves that the declaration form has been duly completed and signed by the legal practitioner, failing which it will be regarded as invalid. In the event of a disagreement between the chairperson and the referee as to the validity or otherwise of any form of declaration, the view of the referee shall prevail and his or her judgment on the matter shall be final. The referee shall endorse with his or her signature each form of declaration found to be invalid, with the reason for the invalidity. The chairperson and the referee shall together note the name and surname of each legal practitioner who has submitted a declaration and envelope marked "ballot papers", as well as whether that legal practitioner is an attorney or an advocate, in a voting register kept by the referee.
- The chairperson shall, in the presence of the referee, in respect of each declaration form found to be valid, place its accompanying envelope marked "ballot paper" unopened through a slot in a ballot box of a design and construction approved by the Council, which shall have been securely locked and sealed in advance by the chairperson and of which the chairperson. After placing the last of such envelopes duly received in the ballot box the chairperson shall, in the presence of the referee, securely seal the slot, and shall hand the key to the referee. The chairperson shall securely retain the ballot box, locked and sealed as aforesaid, and shall deliver the ballot box in that condition to the scrutineers appointed in terms of rule 16.19 on the day following the day referred to in rule 16.12.5.1.6. Separate ballot boxes shall be kept for ballot papers in respect of attorneys and advocates respectively.
- An envelope marked "ballot paper" which is accompanied by a form of declaration which has been found to be invalid shall not be placed in the ballot box but the chairperson shall, in the presence of the referee, replace in the envelope marked "voting papers" in which it was received each such envelope marked "ballot paper" unopened, together with its accompanying form of

declaration endorsed by the referee as provided in rule 16.16, shall securely seal all those documents and shall separately retain them in the same manner *mutatis* mutandis, as is provided for in rule 16.17, for a period of three months after the date referred to in rule 16.12.5.1.6. The chairperson shall thereafter destroy all of them unless ordered otherwise by an order of court; provided that if there should be a dispute regarding the validity of the form of declaration the documents shall be retained until the dispute has been resolved. The chairperson shall keep a separate record of the number of declarations and envelopes thus retained by him.

- 16.19 Prior to or on the date referred to in rule 13.12.5.16 the Council shall appoint as scrutineers to examine the ballot papers placed in the ballot box and of counting the votes received, not less than two legal practitioners, not being candidates for office or legal practitioners who have nominated candidates or who are members of the Council or of a Provincial Council, and none of whom shall be the legal practitioner appointed as referee under these rules. Upon receipt by the scrutineers of the ballot box they shall break the seal, open the ballot box and remove its contents. They shall then open each of the envelopes marked "ballot paper", remove the ballot paper contained therein, examine the ballot paper and satisfy themselves of its validity in accordance with these rules or, if not so satisfied, reject the ballot paper after having endorsed on its reverse over their signatures the reason for its rejection. They shall then count the votes recorded in the remaining ballot papers and record the result in the presence of the chairperson and the referee. Thereafter they shall replace all the ballot papers, including those rejected, in the ballot box and shall lock and re-seal it, and hand it to the chairperson for safekeeping.
- The number of attorney candidates in the respective categories indicated on the ballot paper who received the greatest number of votes of attorneys in diminishing order among the attorney candidates shall be deemed to have been elected as attorney members of the Provincial Council in those categories, and the advocate candidates in the respective categories indicated on the ballot paper who received the greatest number of votes of advocates in diminishing order among the advocate candidates shall be deemed to have been elected as advocate members of the Provincial Council in those categories. If there are insufficient candidates to fill a particular category the Council shall co-opt a

suitable candidate to fill the vacancy, and the co-opted candidate shall be deemed to have been elected in accordance with these rules.

- 16.21 If there is a tie between two or more candidates having the result of leaving undecided which of the candidates has been elected, in the relevant category, the question as to which of them shall be deemed elected shall be determined immediately by lot drawn by the scrutineers in the manner determined by them.
- Upon completion of their scrutiny the scrutineers shall immediately report the result of the election in writing to the chairperson and referee. The referee shall immediately determine whether the election was conducted freely and fairly, and shall issue a signed declaration in that regard to the chairperson. The report shall be signed by all of the scrutineers and shall contain the following particulars:
- the total number of ballot papers received by them;
- the numbers of ballot papers rejected and the grounds of rejection;
- 16.22.3 the total number of votes in favour of each candidate in each category;
- the result of any lot drawn in terms of rule 16.21;
- the names of those candidates who are deemed to have been elected.
- The chairperson shall, after receipt of the report of the scrutineers and a declaration in terms of rule 16.22 that the election was conducted freely and fairly, cause each candidate to be advised of the result of the election.
- The report of the scrutineers together with a declaration from the referee in terms of rule 16.22 that the election was conducted freely and fairly shall be conclusive as to the result of the electiony.
- The scrutineers, having completed their scrutiny, shall return the ballot box containing the examined ballot papers and which is locked in accordance with rule 16.19 to the chairperson, together with its key. The chairperson shall securely retain the ballot box in that condition for a period of three months after the date referred to in rule 16.12.5.1.6 and shall thereupon break the seal, unlock

the box, empty it of its contents and destroy the contents. The chairperson shall then also destroy all the valid declaration forms received by the Council.

If an election is declared to be not free and fair by the referee in terms of rule 16.22, or by a court on application brought within one month of the announcement of the result, the process for the election of members of the Provincial Council shall be conducted afresh.

#### **PART V**

#### PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE

- 17. Information to be submitted for admission [section 95(1)(k) read with section 24(2)(d)]
- A person seeking to be admitted to practise and to be authorised to be enrolled as a legal practitioner, conveyancer or notary must apply to a High Court in terms of the provisions of section 24(2) of the Act, and must serve a copy of the application on the Council containing the information set out in this rule.
- 17.2 The application must be accompanied by an affidavit by the applicant setting out the following information supported, where applicable, by documentary evidence:
- 17.2.1 confirmation of the jurisdiction of the Court;
- 17.2.2 the applicant's date of birth;
- 17.2.3 confirmation that the applicant is a South African citizen or is a permanent resident of the Republic;
- 17.2.4 confirmation that the applicant has passed the matriculation examination;
- 17.2.5 confirmation that the applicant has satisfied all the requirements for a degree referred to in section 26(1) of the Act after pursuing for that degree a course of study referred to in that section;
- 17.2.6 a statement whether the applicant intends to be enrolled and to practise as an attorney or as an advocate and, in the case of an advocate, whether the applicant intends practising with or without a fidelity fund certificate;

- 17.2.7 confirmation that the applicant had no pecuniary interest in any law practice and that he or she held no other position other than that of candidate legal practitioner during the period of service under the contract of practical vocational training or supervision, or proof that the applicant had such pecuniary interest or held such other position with the approval of the Council:
- 17.2.8 confirmation that the applicant has undergone all the prescribed practical vocational training requirements as a candidate legal practitioner, referred to in section 26(1)(c) of the Act;
- 17.2.9 confirmation that the applicant has passed the competency-based examination or assessment for candidate legal practitioners, referred to in section 26(1)(d) of the Act;
- 17.2.10 confirmation that the applicant has complied with the requirements for community service, if applicable, where that community service is a component of practical vocational training by candidate legal practitioners, pursuant to the provisions of section 29 of the Act, or proof that the applicant has been exempted from performing community service;
- if a period of more than one year has elapsed between the date of completion of the practical vocational training contract and the date of the application, a statement as to the activities of the applicant during that period;
- 17.2.12 confirmation that the applicant is a fit and proper person to be admitted, including a statement -
- that the applicant has no previous criminal convictions and has no criminal investigations pending. Alternatively, if there have been any proceedings as contemplated in this sub-rule, or if any such proceedings are pending, the applicant shall set out full details thereof;
- that the applicant has not been subject to previous disciplinary proceedings by the Council or any law society, university or employer, and that no such disciplinary proceedings are pending.

Alternatively, if there have been any proceedings as contemplated in this sub-rule, or if any such proceedings are pending, the applicant shall set out full details thereof;

- 17.2.12.3 that the estate of the applicant has not been sequestrated, provisionally or finally, and that there is no application for a sequestration of his or her estate which is pending
- 17.2.13 confirmation that the originals of all attachments to the affidavit will be made available to the Court on the date of the hearing of the application.
- 17.3 A person seeking to be admitted to practise and to be authorised to be enrolled as an attorney must include in the affidavit in support of the application (in addition to any other information to be provided in terms of this rule) -
- 17.3.1 confirmation that the applicant has served under a practical vocational training contract, stating the dates of filing and registration of that contract and the period served by the applicant under that contract;
- 17.3.2 confirmation by the applicant that his or her principal was entitled to enter into the contract of practical vocational training;
- 17.3.3 confirmation by the applicant that service under the contract of practical vocational training was performed under the direct supervision of the principal or of another attorney in the firm of the principal;
- 17.3.4 confirmation that the applicant was not absent for more than 30 working days during any one year of service under the contract of practical vocational training;
- 17.3.5 confirmation by the applicant of the exact dates served under the practical vocational training contract;
- 17.3.6 a statement as to the type of legal experience gained by the applicant whilst serving under the contract of practical vocational training.
- 17.4 An applicant for admission to practise and to be authorised to be enrolled as an attorney shall attach to his or her application a supporting affidavit by the applicant's principal containing the following information:

- 17.4.1 confirmation of the exact dates that the applicant served under his or her supervision in terms of the contract of practical vocational training;
- 17.4.2 in relation to the principal:
- 17.4.2.1

a statement that he or she has been practising as an attorney for his or her own account or as a partner in a firm of attorneys or as a member of a professional company continuously for three years or for periods of three years in the aggregate during the preceding four years, or has practised as a professional assistant in a firm for a period of five years within the preceding six years, or has practised as a professional assistant in a firm for a period of two years in the preceding five years and has practised as an attorney for his or her own account or as a partner in a firm or as a member of a professional company continuously for two years or for periods of two years in the aggregate during the preceding four years at the date of commencement of the contract of practical vocational training;

17.4.2.2

where the applicant has undergone practical vocational training with a law clinic or with Legal Aid South Africa, or with another entity accredited by the Council to provide practical vocational training, that his or her principal has been practising as an attorney or as an advocate, as the case may be, in the full time employment of the law clinic or of Legal Aid South Africa or with that other entity continuously for three years or for periods of three years in the aggregate during the preceding four years at the date of commencement of the practical vocational training contract;

17.4.2.3

where the applicant has undergone practical vocational training with the state attorney, that his or her principal has practised the profession of an attorney as the state attorney, deputy state attorney, senior assistant state attorney or assistant state attorney in the office of the state attorney or any branch thereof continuously for four years at the date of commencement of the practical vocational training contract;

- 17.4.2.4 that he or she has continued to practise as aforesaid during the period of the contract of practical vocational training;
- that he or she at no time during the course of the contract of the practical vocational training in question was a principal to more than three candidate attorneys, or where the principal was employed at a law clinic or at Legal Aid South Africa that he or she at no time during the course of the contract of the practical vocational training in question was a principal to more than six candidate attorneys;
- 17.4.3 confirmation that in his or her view the applicant is a fit and proper person to be admitted and enrolled as an attorney.
- An applicant for admission to practise and to be authorised to be enrolled as an advocate shall attach to his or her application (in addition to any further information to be included in terms of this rule) a supporting affidavit by the applicant's supervisor containing the following information:
- 17.5.1 confirmation that he or she is a practising advocate, or has been accredited by the Council to act as a supervisor of pupils for purposes of practical vocational training or is employed by an entity which has been accredited to provide supervisors who are qualified to act as supervisors to pupils
- 17.5.2 confirmation of the exact dates that the applicant served under the supervision of his or her supervisor;
- 17.5.3 confirmation that in his or her view the applicant is a fit and proper person to be admitted and enrolled as an advocate.
- 17.6 Copies of the following documents must be attached to the founding affidavit of the applicant, whether for admission as an attorney or as an advocate, and must be certified as being true copies of the originals by a notary public or by a commissioner of oaths:
- 17.6.1 identity document of the applicant;
- 17.6.2 where the surname of the applicant does not correspond with the applicant's name in the application, or with any other documents attached

to the application, a marriage certificate or other proof to reflect the reason

Final Rules - The South African Legal Practice Council 19\_01\_2018.docx 19/01/2018

for the discrepancy;

17.6.3	matriculation certificate of the applicant;
17.6.4	degree certificate or certificates of the applicant;
17.6.5	the relevant practical vocational training contract (in the case of an application for admission as an attorney) or written confirmation that the applicant has registered with a person or entity accredited by the Council to supervise the practise vocational training of pupils (in the case of application for admission as an advocate);
17.6.6	written confirmation from the Council confirming that the contract of practical vocational training or of supervision, as the case may be, has been registered with the Council;
17.6.7	where applicable, an agreement relating to the cession of the contract of practical vocational training and written confirmation from the Council that the cession of the contract has been registered;
17.6.8	in the case of an application for admission as an advocate intending to practise with a fidelity fund certificate, proof that the applicant has the knowledge of accounting necessary for the keeping of accounting records referred to in section 87 of the Act and for compliance with the accounting rules published by the Council from time to time;
17.6.9	attendance report issued in respect of attendance of the applicant at an approved practical legal training course.
17.7	An application for admission as a conveyancer or as a notary must be accompanied by an affidavit by the applicant setting out the following information:
17.7.1	confirmation of the jurisdiction of the Court;
17.7.2	confirmation that the applicant has been admitted as an attorney and practises in that capacity;

- 33
- 17.7.3 confirmation that the applicant complies with the provisions of section 26(2) of the Act (in the case of application as a conveyancer) or section 26(3) of the Act (in the case of application as a notary) of the Act.
- The original and two copies of the application must lie for inspection with the Council for a period of not less than one month. The application must be properly prepared and bound with an index, all pages of the application must be paginated at the top right hand corner of every page, and all attachments must be clearly marked when the application is served on the Council.
- 17.9 The application must be accompanied by proof of payment of the prescribed fee.

# 18. Period of practice as an attorney and advocacy training programme [section 95(1)(m) read with section 25(4)(a)].

- 18.1 The continuous period of three years of practice as an attorney, provided for in section 25(3)(a)(i) of the Act, that an attorney applying for the right to appear in the High Court, the Supreme Court of Appeal or the Constitutional Court is required to serve before having the right to appear may be reduced by such period as the Council in its discretion may determine if the applicant has successfully undergone a trial advocacy training programme approved by the Council.
- 18.2 The trial advocacy training programme referred to in rule 18.1 -
- shall comprise training under the direct supervision of an advocate who has been practising as such for a continuous period of not less than five years, or of an attorney who has the right of appearance in the High Court, the Supreme Court of Appeal and the Constitutional Court and has exercised the right of appearance in those courts for a continuous period of not less than five years;
- shall require involvement in the programme by the attorney of not less than 40 hours in the aggregate over a period of no longer than six months;
- 18.2.3 may require attendance by the attorney at lectures and workshops, and the completion of written assignments, of sufficient standard to provide training to the attorney in the practical aspects of court work and trial advocacy;

18.2.4 shall require the supervisor, at the completion of the programme, to issue a certificate to the attorney that he or she has successfully completed the trial advocacy training programme.

# 19. Information to be provided by attorney for appearance in High Court [section 95(1)(m) read with section 25(4)(a)]

- An attorney who wishes to apply in terms of section 25(3) for the right of appearance in the High Court, the Supreme Court of Appeal and the Constitutional Court must apply to the registrar of the Division of the High Court in which he or she was admitted and enrolled as an attorney for the issue to him or her of the prescribed certificate.
- 19.2 The application must be in writing, must be dated and signed by the attorney and must be accompanied by:
- 19.2.1 documentary proof that he or she has satisfied all the requirements for the LLB degree of any university in the Republic;
- 19.2.2 a certificate issued by the executive officer of the Council to the effect that the applicant has been practising as an attorney for a continuous period of not less than three years;
- 19.2.3 a certificate issued by the executive officer of the Council that the applicant has not had his or her name struck off the Roll and has not been suspended from practice, and that there are no proceedings pending to strike the applicant's name from the Roll or to suspend him or her from practice.
- 19.3 If the applicant wishes to apply for the period of practice to be reduced as contemplated in section 25(3)(a)(i), he or she must provide the registrar with a certificate by the executive officer of the Council that he or she has undergone a trial advocacy training programme approved by the Council and that the Council has resolved that the three year period referred to in that section be reduced to such period as may be specified by the Council.

- 35
- 19.4 Where the applicant claims that he or she has gained appropriate relevant experience, as contemplated in section 25(3)(b) of the Act, full details of that experience must be provided in the application.
- 19.5 The applicant must serve a copy of the application on the Council not less than thirty days before he or she applies to the registrar in terms of section 25(3) of the Act.
- 19.6 The certificate issued by the registrar of the relevant Division of the High Court for the right of appearance of the applicant shall be substantially in the form of Appendix 1 of the rules.
- 19.7 Every attorney who, at the date of coming into effect of this rule, was in possession of a certificate issued in terms of section 4(2) of the Right of Appearance in Courts Act, 62 of 1995 shall, within six months of the date of coming into effect of this rule, lodge with the Council a copy of the certificate issued to him or her in terms of that Act.

#### **PART VI**

#### **EDUCATION AND TRAINING**

- 20. Competency-based examinations or assessments [section 95(1)(n) read with section 26(1)(d), (2) and (3)]
- A person wishing to qualify to be admitted and enrolled as a legal practitioner will be required to have passed a competency based assessment in terms of this rule 20.1, read with any rule made by the Council or the National Forum concerning levels of competence required for the admission and enrolment of legal practitioners.
- 20.2 The assessment of a person wishing to be admitted and enrolled as an attorney shall comprise assessment at least in relation to -
- 20.2.1 the practice and procedure in the High Court and in courts established under the Magistrates' Courts Act, 32 of 1944;
- 20.2.2 the practice and procedure relating to the winding up and distribution of the estates of deceased persons;

- 20.2.3 the practice, functions and duties of an attorney, including the ethical duties of an attorney;
- 20.2.4 a knowledge of accounting necessary for the keeping of accounting records referred to in section 87 of the Act, and compliance with accounting rules published by the Council from time to time.
- A person wishing to qualify to be admitted and enrolled as an attorney who, before the date referred to in section 120(4) of the Act, had passed one of more parts of the practical examinations provided for in section 14 of the Attorneys Act, 1979 (Act no. 53 of 1979) but at that date had not yet passed all parts of those examinations, shall have the right to be examined or assessed on those parts which he or she had not yet passed, and upon successfully completing those parts of the said examinations which he or she had not passed at that date, he or she will be deemed to have complied with rule 20.1; provided, however, that if the candidate concerned has not passed the parts of the said examination which he or she had not successfully completed prior to the date referred to in section 120(4) of the Act within a period of three years from that date, then he or she shall no longer have the right to be examined or assessed on any part of those examinations.
- 20.4 The assessment of a person wishing to be admitted and enrolled as an advocate shall comprise assessment at least in relation to -
- 20.4.1 the practice and procedure in the High Court and in courts established under the Magistrates' Courts Act, 32 of 1944;
- 20.4.2 the practice, functions and duties of an advocate, including the ethical duties of an advocate;
- in the case of an advocate intending to practise as a legal practitioner conducting a trust account practice, a knowledge of accounting necessary for the keeping of accounting records referred to in section 87 of the Act, and compliance with accounting rules published by the Council from time to time.
- 20.5 The assessment of persons wishing to be admitted and enrolled as a notary shall comprise assessment in relation to the practice, functions and duties of a notary.

- 37
- 20.6 The assessment of persons wishing to be admitted and enrolled as a conveyancer shall comprise assessment in relation to the practice, functions and duties of a conveyancer.
- The areas of knowledge required of persons wishing to be admitted and enrolled as attorneys or as advocates, as the case may be, in terms of this rule, and the standards of proficiency required of such persons, shall be determined by the Council from time to time and shall be published by the Council for the information of legal practitioners and candidate legal practitioners.
- 20.8 An assessment referred to in rules 20.2 and 20.3 shall not be conducted in respect of any person unless that person -
- 20.8.1 has complied with the provisions of the Act in regard to practical vocational training; or
- 20.8.2 is undergoing practical vocational training and has so undergone practical vocational training for a continuous period of not less than six months; or
- 20.8.3 is, under the provisions of the Act, exempt from undergoing practical vocational training.

# 21. Practical vocational training and remuneration for candidate legal practitioners [section 95(1)(o) read with section 27]

#### 21.1 Candidate attorneys

21.1.1 Information to be submitted to the Council before contract of practical vocational training contract is entered into

Any person intending to serve an attorney under a practical vocational training contract must submit the following to the Council:

21.1.1.1 his or her identity document or other proof to the satisfaction of the Council of his or her date of birth; and

- 21.1.1.2 proof to the satisfaction of the Council that he or she is a fit and proper person and has satisfied all the requirements for the degrees referred to in sections 26(1)(a) or (b) of the Act.
- 21.1.2 Lodging, examination and registration of practical vocational training contract
- 21.1.2.1 A practical vocational training contract shall be substantially in the form set out in Schedule 2 of these rules.
- 21.1.2.2 The original of any practical vocational training contract shall, within two months of its date, be lodged by the principal concerned with the Council.
- 21.1.2.3 The Council shall, on payment of the prescribed fee, examine any practical vocational training contract lodged with it and, if it is satisfied that the practical vocational training contract is in order and the Council has no objection to its registration, register the practical vocational training contract, and shall advise the principal and the candidate attorney concerned in writing of such registration.
- 21.1.2.4 If a practical vocational training contract is not lodged for registration within two months from the date thereof, any service under any such contract will be deemed to commence on the date of registration.

### 21.1.3 Supervision over candidate attorney

A candidate attorney shall, during the whole term of service specified in the practical vocational training contract -

- 21.1.3.1 serve in the office of his or her principal under the direct personal supervision of the principal or under the direct personal supervision of an attorney who is a partner or other admitted attorney in the office of the principal;
- 21.1.3.2 in the case of a candidate attorney serving under a practical vocational training contract with the State Attorney or a member of the professional staff of the State Attorney, serve in the office of the State Attorney or in any branch thereof and under the direct personal

supervision of the State Attorney or a member of his or her professional staff; or

21.1.3.3

in the case of a candidate attorney serving under a contract of service with a law clinic or Legal Aid South Africa, serve under the direct personal supervision of a legal practitioner who is employed full time at the law clinic or at the office of Legal Aid South Africa.

### 21.1.4 Absence of candidate attorneys

21.1.4.1 Subject to rule

Subject to rule 21.1.4.2, a candidate attorney may, with the consent of his or her principal, absent himself or herself from office for a period which does not, or for periods which in the aggregate do not, exceed thirty working days in any one year of the practical vocational contract.

- 21.1.4.2 A court may, on the application of a candidate attorney in any case -
- 21.1.4.2.1 where the principal refuses to grant the candidate attorney leave of absence from office; or
- 21.1.4.2.2 where the period of absence fr

where the period of absence from office exceeds, or the periods of absence from the office in the aggregate exceed, thirty working days in any one year of the practical vocational training contract

grant an order authorising leave of absence from office for the period in question, if the court is satisfied that the principal and the Council received due notice of the application and that sufficient cause for the absence exists or existed, as the case may be.

- 21.1.4.3 An order referred to in rule 21.1.4.2 may be granted before, during or after the period of absence.
- 21.1.4.4 If any period of absence from office exceeds (or the periods of absence from office in the aggregate exceed) thirty working days in any one year of the practical vocational training contract, the period in excess of thirty working days shall be added to the period for which the candidate attorney is bound to serve under the contract.

21.1.4.5

Notwithstanding the provisions of rule 21.1.4, any period of absence not exceeding [six months] by a candidate attorney from the office of his or her principal for the purpose of attending a training course approved by the Council shall, if that candidate attorney has completed the course to the satisfaction of the Council, be deemed to have been served under a practical vocational training contract.

21.1.4.6

Notwithstanding the provisions of rule 21.1.4, any period of absence not exceeding twelve months of a candidate attorney from the office of his or her principal for the purposes of service, in terms of a contract with terms and conditions similar to those of his or her practical vocational training contract, under the direct supervision of another attorney who is entitled to engage a candidate attorney shall, provided the Council has approved such service in advance in writing, be deemed to have been served by the candidate attorney concerned under a practical vocational training contract with his or her principal.

### 21.1.5 Restriction on pecuniary interests of candidate attorneys

21.1.5.1

A candidate attorney shall not have any pecuniary interest in the practice and service of an attorney, other than in respect of bona fide remuneration for his or her services, and shall not, without the prior written consent of the Council, hold or occupy any office in respect of which he or she receives any form of remuneration, directly or indirectly, or engage in any other business other than that of candidate attorney, where holding that office or engaging in that business is likely to interfere with the proper training of the candidate attorney.

21.1.5.2

If any candidate attorney contravenes the provisions of rule 21.1.5.1 the contract concerned shall be void *ab initio* and service rendered thereunder shall be ineffective unless the court on good cause shown otherwise directs.

### 21.1.6 Cession of practical vocational training contract

21.1.6.1 A practical vocational training contract may with the consent of the principal and the candidate attorney concerned be ceded to any other principal willing to accept such cession.

The Council may, in the event of the death, mental illness, insolvency, conviction of a crime, suspension from practice striking off the roll or discontinuation of practice of the principal under whom the candidate attorney is serving, or the debarring of that principal from engaging or continuing to engage a candidate attorney, or any other cause, direct that the practical vocational training contract concerned be ceded to any other principal willing to accept such cession, and all service completed under the ceded contract shall be effective for purposes of the Act and these rules.

A practical vocational training contract may be ceded under rule 21.1.6.2 notwithstanding the fact that the principal who accepts the cession will, as a result of that acceptance, have more than the maximum allowable number of candidate attorneys in his or her employment.

An agreement whereby a practical vocational training contract is ceded shall, within two months of the date on which the service of the candidate attorney concerned may have terminated with the cedent, or within such further period as a court may on good cause allow, be lodged with the Council by the cessionary together with affidavits -

by the cedent stating whether the provisions of the Act and these rules relating to service under the practical vocational training contract have been complied with during the whole term of service during which the candidate attorney concerned was in the service of the cedent, and the date on which the candidate attorney terminated his or her services with the cedent; and

21.1.6.2

21.1.6.3

21.1.6.4

21.1.6.4.1

21.1.7.2

Final Rules - The South African Legal Practice Council 19\_01\_2018.docx 19/01/2018

21.1.6.4.2	by	the	cessionary	stating	the	date	on	which	the	candidate
	atto	orne	y assumed d	luty with	the	cessio	onar	y.		

- 21.1.6.5 The Council shall on payment of such fee as may be prescribed -
- 21.1.6.5.1 examine the agreement and affidavits referred to in rule 21.1.6.4; and
- 21.1.6.5.2 if it is satisfied that the cession is in order and it has no objection thereto, register the cession

and shall advise the attorney and the candidate attorney concerned in writing of such registration.

21.1.6.6 If a practical vocational training contract is ceded in terms of rule 21.1.6.2 the agreement whereby the practical vocational training contract is ceded shall be signed by the legal representative of the attorney concerned or by the chairperson or the executive officer of the Council as cedent, and a certificate of such legal representative, chairperson or executive officer containing the particulars referred to in rule 21.1.6.4 shall serve as a substitute for the affidavit of the cedent referred to in 21.1.4.

### 21.1.7 Termination of practical vocational training contract

21.1.7.1 If a practical vocational training contract is for any reason cancelled, abandoned or ceded, the principal with whom the candidate attorney is serving at that time must forthwith in writing notify the Council of such cancellation, abandonment or cession.

If a practical vocational training contract has been cancelled or abandoned before it has been completed, the court may in its discretion, on the application of the person who served under such contract, and subject to such conditions as the court may impose, order that for the purposes of the Act and these rules the whole or such part of the period served under such contract as the court deems fit, be added to any period served by that person under a practical vocational training contract or contract of service entered

into after the first mentioned contract was cancelled or abandoned, and any period so added shall for purposes of the Act and these rules be deemed to have been served under the last mentioned contract and continuously with any period served thereunder.

### 21.1.8 Registration of practical vocational training contract by advocate

Any person admitted as a legal practitioner and enrolled to practice as an advocate shall not be allowed to register a practical vocational training contract in terms of the provisions of these rules unless his or her enrolment as an advocate has been converted to that of an attorney in terms of section 32(1) of the Act.

### 21.1.9 Irregular service under practical vocational training contract

If any person has not served regularly as a candidate attorney in terms of the provisions of these rules the court, if satisfied that such irregular service was occasioned by sufficient cause, and that such service is substantially equivalent to regular service, and that the Council has had due notice of the application, may permit such person, on such conditions as it may deem fit, to apply for admission as an attorney as if he or she had served regularly under a practical vocational training contract or a contract of service.

### 21.1.10 Cancellation or abandonment of practical vocational training contract

if a person who has served any period under a practical vocational training contract which was cancelled or abandoned before its completion, has satisfied all the requirements for the degrees referred to in sections 26(1)(a) or (b) of the Act, the court may, on the application of such person and subject to such conditions as the court may impose, order -

21.1.10.1 that, for the purpose of this rule 21, the whole of the period so served, or such part of that period as the court deems fit be added to any period served by such person after he or she satisfied such requirements or became so entitled under a practical vocational training contract entered into after the first mentioned contract was

cancelled or abandoned, and thereafter any period so added shall be deemed to have been served -

- 21.1.10.1.1 after that person satisfied such requirements or became so entitled; and
- 21.1.10.1.2 under the practical vocational training contract entered into after the first mentioned contract was cancelled or abandoned, and continuously with any period served thereunder.
- 21.1.10.2 if the period served by that person under the first mentioned practical vocational training contract is equal to or exceeds the period which that person would, at the time of making the application, be required to serve under a practical vocational training contract, that the period so served be considered as adequate service under a practical vocational training contract for purposes of this rule 21, and thereafter any period serviced by that person shall be deemed to have been served after and under a practical vocational training contract entered into after he/she satisfied those requirements and became so entitled.

#### 21.2 Pupils

# 21.2.1 Information to be submitted to the Council for purposes of registration of pupillage

Any person intending to register with the Council as a pupil must submit the following to the Council:

- 21.2.1.1 his or her identity document or other proof to the satisfaction of the Council of his or her date of birth;
- 21.2.1.2 proof to the satisfaction of the Council that he or she is a fit and proper person and has satisfied all the requirements for the degrees referred to in sections 26(1)(a) or (b) of the Act.
- 21.2.2 Lodging, examination and registration of practical vocational training contract

- 21.2.2.1 A practical vocational training contract shall be substantially in the form set out in Schedule 3 of these rules.
- 21.2.2.2 The original of any practical vocational training contract shall, within 2 months of its date, be lodged by the training supervisor concerned with the Council.
- 21.2.2.3 The Council shall, on payment of the prescribed fee, examine any practical vocational training contract lodged with it and, if it is satisfied that the practical vocational training contract is in order and the Council has no objection to its registration, register the practical vocational training contract, and shall advise the training supervisor and the pupil concerned in writing of such registration.
- 21.2.2.4 If a practical vocational training contract is not lodged for registration within 2 months from the date thereof, any service under such contract will be deemed to commence from the date of registration.

#### 21.2.3 **Supervision over pupil**

The training supervisor shall, during the whole term of service specified in the practical vocational training contract, supervise the training of the pupil to ensure that the pupil is instructed in the practice and profession of an advocate.

#### 21.2.4 Restriction on pecuniary interests of pupil

- A pupil shall not have any pecuniary interest in the practice and service of an attorney, or in the practice of an advocate, and shall not, without the prior written consent of the Council, hold or occupy any office in respect of which he or she receives any form of remuneration, directly or indirectly, or engage in any business, where holding that office or engaging in that business is likely to interfere with the proper training of the pupil.
- 21.2.4.2 If a pupil contravenes the provisions of rule 21.2.4.1, the contract concerned shall be void ab initio and ineffective unless the court on good cause shown otherwise directs.

### 21.2.5 Cession of practical vocational training contract

The provisions of rule 21.1.6 relating to the cession of practical vocational training contracts of candidate attorneys, with the necessary changes required by the context, apply in respect of the cession of practical vocational training contracts of pupils.

### 21.2.6 Termination of practical vocational training contract

The provisions of rule 21.1.7 relating to the termination of practical vocational training contracts of candidate attorneys, with the necessary changes required by the context, apply in respect of the termination of practical vocational training contracts of pupils.

### 21.2.7 Irregular service under practical vocational training contract

The provisions of rule 21.1.9 relating to irregular service under practical vocational training contracts of candidate attorneys, with the necessary changes required by the context, apply in respect of irregular service under practical vocational training contracts of pupils.

#### 21.2.8 Cancellation or abandonment of practical vocation training contract

The provisions of rule 21.1.10 relating to the cancellation or abandonment of practical vocational training contracts of candidate attorneys, with the necessary changes required by the context, apply in respect of the cancellation or abandonment of practical vocational training contracts of pupils.

- 21.3 Every candidate attorney undergoing practical vocational training in terms of a practical vocational training contract shall be entitled to such reasonable remuneration, allowances or stipends for his or her service under the practical vocational training contract as may be determined from time to time by the Council, which remuneration, allowances or stipends shall be payable not less frequently than monthly and shall in any event be not less than an amount determined from time to time by the Council.
- 21.4 Every pupil undergoing practical vocational training in terms of a practical vocational training contract shall be entitled to such reasonable remuneration,

allowances or stipends (if any) as may be determined from time to time by the Council and as may be appropriate having regard to the nature of the pupil's activities in terms of the practical vocational training contract.

# 22. Assessment of persons undergoing practical vocational training [section 95(1)(p) read with section 28(1)]

- 22.1 Every assessment shall be conducted by one or more assessors who qualify in terms of rule 24 to conduct assessments.
- 22.2 The assessor or assessors who conduct an assessment shall put written questions to the candidate when conducting assessments in respect of the subjects referred to in-
- 22.2.1 rules 20.2 and 20.4, which respective assessments may, subject to rule 20.7, be taken separately and may require the candidate to draft such process, accounts and documents to show whether he or she possesses sufficient practical knowledge of such subjects to comply with the provisions of any rule made by the Council or the National Forum concerning levels of competence required for the admission and enrolment of legal practitioners;
- rule 20.6, and may require the candidate to draft such documents to show whether he or she possesses sufficient practical knowledge of such subject to comply with the levels of competence referred to in rule 22.2.1;
- rule 2.6, and may require the candidate to draft such deeds and other documents to show whether he or she possesses sufficient practical knowledge of the requirements of deeds registries and to comply with the levels of competence referred to in rule 22.2.1;

provided that if the candidate has failed to obtain the prescribed minimum standard in the written questions which are put to him or her as part of the assessment, as determined from time to time by the Council, the assessor or assessors conducting the assessment may put oral questions to the candidate to

determine whether or not the candidate possesses sufficient practical knowledge of the subjects concerned.

- 22.3 The assessment in respect of the subjects referred to in rules 20.5 and 20.6 may only be conducted together with or after the successful completion of the assessment in respect of the subjects referred to in rule 20.2.
- The assessor or assessors conducting the assessment shall, if in their opinion the candidate has satisfactorily answered the questions put to him or her and has shown that he or she possesses sufficient practical knowledge of the subjects concerned, as required in terms of any rule made by the Council or the National Forum concerning levels of competence required for the admission and enrolment of legal practitioners, issue or cause to be issued to the candidate a certificate of proficiency in such subjects. When the Council engages an institution or organisation to perform the functions set out in rule 24 the certificate of proficiency shall be issued by the institution or organisation, as the case may be.
- A candidate entering for assessment in respect of any of the subjects referred to in rule 2, or repeating any such assessment, shall pay a fee to the Council or such amount as may be determined by the Council from time to time, in respect of any such assessment, which fee shall be payable at the time that the candidate registers for the assessment.

# 23. Levels of competence for admission and enrolment as legal practitioner [section 95(1)(q) read with section 28(2)]

Any person wishing to be admitted and enrolled as a legal practitioner must satisfy the Council that he or she has attained the levels of competence contemplated in the Act and the rules regarding the required knowledge, skills and values that will enable him or her -

- 23.1 to serve the public with diligence and integrity;
- 23.2 to apply the provisions and values enshrined in the Constitution of South Africa;

- 49
- 23.3 to practise in accordance with the rules of ethics of the relevant branch of the legal profession to which the applicant seeks admission and enrolment;
- 23.4 to promote measures and processes that enhance access to justice;
- 23.5 to apply relevant laws and procedures to resolve disputes;
- 23.6 to advise clients in relation to their rights and the appropriate action to be taken to enforce those rights;
- 23.7 to draft all legal documents which are required to be drafted in the normal course of practice in the branch of the profession to which the applicant seeks admission and enrolment;
- 23.8 to manage his or her practice in the manner appropriate to the branch of the profession to which the applicant seeks admission and enrolment;
- 23.9 in circumstances applicable to the profession to which the applicant seeks admission and enrolment, to apply appropriate principles of accounting relevant to his or her practice;
- in general to conduct himself or herself in a manner that enhances the repute of the legal profession in terms of independence, integrity, competence and the promotion of justice in South Africa.

# 24. Qualifications to conduct assessment of practical vocational training [section 95(1)(r) read with section 28(4)]

- The Council shall appoint persons to determine the structure and process of assessment and to arrange, control and conduct assessments for the purpose of assessing whether individuals undergoing practical vocational training have attained an adequate level of competence for admission and enrolment as a legal practitioner, or may engage or accredit an appropriate institution or organisation to do so on its behalf.
- 24.2 Every person appointed by the Council for the purpose of arranging, controlling and conducting assessments in respect of the subjects referred to in -

- 24.2.1 rule 20.2, shall be a practising attorney of not less than seven years' standing as a practising attorney;
- 24.2.2 rule 20.4, shall be a practising advocate of not less than seven years' standing as a practising advocate: provided that in the case of a candidate legal practitioner intending to be admitted and enrolled as an advocate conducting a trust account practice, at least one of the persons conducting the assessment must be an attorney of not less than seven years' standing as a practising attorney;
- 24.2.3 rule 20.5, shall be a notary of not less than seven years' standing as a practising notary; and
- 24.2.4 rule 20.6 shall be a conveyancer of not less than seven year's standing as a practising conveyancer, or a registrar of deeds.
- 24.3 The periods of practice which are required to qualify an attorney, or an advocate, or a notary, or a conveyancer, as the case may be, to conduct assessments may be reduced by the Council in its discretion if in any particular instance the person concerned had other prior experience to qualify him or her to conduct an assessment.
- Where the Council engages an institution or organisation to conduct the assessment on its behalf, that institution or organisation will be required to ensure that the persons employed by it to arrange, control and conduct assessments shall be individuals with the qualifications referred to in 24.2.

### 25. Exemption from performing community service [section 95(1)(s) read with section 29(3)]

The Council may from time to time publish rules relating to the legal practitioners or categories of legal practitioners who shall be exempted from performing community service.

# 26. Legal practice management course [section 95(1)(zL) read with section 85(1)(b)]

- 51
- 26.1 Every legal practitioner who is obliged in terms of section 84(1) of the Act to be in possession of a Fidelity Fund certificate must:
- 26.1.1 within a period of one year after the date on which the legal practitioner was required for the first time to be in possession of a Fidelity Fund certificate; and
- after payment of the fee prescribed in rule 3.1.
  - complete a legal practice management course accredited by the Council
- 26.2 The Council may exempt any legal practitioner, fully or partially and on such conditions as the Council may determine, from completing a legal practice management course to the extent that the legal practitioner -
- 26.2.1 has a qualification that is similar to or of a higher standard than that attainable on completion of the course in question; or
- 26.2.2 has a level of experience that would render the completion of the course in question or any part of such course unnecessary.
- A legal practice management course referred to in rule 26.1 may be presented through lectures, seminars or any other forms of learning requiring the physical presence of the legal practitioner concerned, or in appropriate circumstances determined by the Council may be presented through an approved distance learning method or digital transmission, telephone or video conference call, audio tape or electronic network.

#### **PART VII**

#### **ADMISSION AND ENROLMENT**

- 27. Application for enrolment [section 95(1)(t) read with section 30(1)(a) and (b)(iii)]
- 27.1 Any person duly admitted by the High Court and authorised to be enrolled to practise as a legal practitioner, or as a notary, or as a conveyancer under the Act may, in the manner prescribed by rule 27.2, apply to the Council, through the

Provincial Council where the legal practitioner or notary or conveyancer intends to practise, (or in the case of a person who does not intend to practice, where that person is ordinarily resident) for the enrolment of his or her name on the roll of legal practitioners, or notaries, or conveyancers, as the case may be.

- An application for enrolment in terms of rule 27.1 shall be in writing and shall contain the following information in respect of the applicant:
- 27.2.1 his or her full names, date of birth, identity number and residential address;
- 27.2.2 whether or not he or she practises or is about to commence practice;
- 27.2.3 if he or she does not practise, his or her business address and postal address and telephone numbers, if any;
- 27.2.4 the address of his or her main office and its postal address, and telephone numbers, mobile telephone numbers, fax numbers, email addresses and other electronic communication contact particulars, if any;
- 27.2.5 whether he or she conducts practice as an attorney or as an advocate, and, in the case of an advocate, whether with or without a Fidelity Fund certificate;
- 27.2.6 in the case of an attorney, whether he or she conducts practice -
- 27.2.6.1 for his or her own account and, if so, whether alone or in partnership (stating the full names of his or her partners) or as a member of a commercial juristic entity (stating the full names of his or her comembers); or
- 27.2.6.2 as an employee;
- 27.2.7 the address and postal addresses and telephone numbers, mobile telephone numbers, fax numbers, email addresses and other electronic communication contact particulars, if any, of every branch office and of every building at and from which he or she practises;
- 27.2.8 the name under which the firm of which he or she is the proprietor or a member or by which he or she is employed conducts practice;

- 27.2.9 if he or she is employed by any person who does not practise, the nature of his or her employment and the name and business address and postal address and telephone numbers, if any, of his or her employer.
  - and shall, within thirty days of any change taking place in any of these particulars, lodge a statement of such change with the Council through the Provincial Council where he or she practises or intends to practise.
- 27.3 The Council may require that the information referred to in rule 27.2 be submitted on a form to be determined by the Council.
- An application referred to in rule 27.1 must be in writing and signed by the applicant, and must be accompanied by the following:
- 27.4.1 proof of payment of the fee payable in terms of rule 2;
- a certificate signed by the registrar of the High Court to which the applicant applied for admission to practise that the applicant was admitted to practise and was authorised to be enrolled as a legal practitioner, and/or as a notary, and/or as a conveyancer, as the case may be, and that no proceedings are pending or are contemplated to strike the name of the applicant off the roll or to suspend the applicant from practice;
- a statement indicating whether the applicant intends to practise as an attorney, and/or as a notary, and/or as a conveyancer, or as an advocate, and, in the case of an advocate, whether he or she intends practising with or without a Fidelity Fund certificate.
- 27.5 Subject to the compliance with rules 27.1 to 27.4, the Council shall place the name of the applicant on the roll of attorneys or of advocates or of notaries or of conveyancers, as the case may be, to be kept in terms of rule 28.
- A notary or conveyancer shall not be enrolled in terms of this rule unless he or she is also first enrolled as an attorney.
- 28. Manner of keeping roll of legal practitioners [section 95(1)(v) read with section 30(3)]

- The Council shall keep separate alphabetical registers in which are recorded the names of all attorneys, advocates, notaries and conveyancers admitted by the High Court, as well as the dates of admission and enrolment, and in the case of advocates practising with a Fidelity Fund certificate, a statement to that effect.
- The roll of legal practitioners kept by the Council shall reflect the particulars contained in section 30(3) of the Act.
- 28.3 The roll of legal practitioners kept by the Council may be kept in electronic form.

# 29. Notification of cancellation or suspension of enrolment [section 95(1)(w) read with section 31(3)]

- 29.1 If the High Court orders that the name of a legal practitioner be struck off the roll or that he or she be suspended from practice the Council must forthwith upon receipt of notification to that effect from the High Court cancel or suspend the enrolment of the legal practitioner, as the case may be.
- 29.2 The Council shall forthwith upon the cancellation or suspension of the enrolment of a legal practitioner in terms of rule 29.1 notify that legal practitioner of the cancellation or suspension of enrolment and shall make the appropriate entry in the roll kept by the Council in terms of rule 28.
- 29.3 The notification of cancellation or suspension of enrolment shall be in writing by notice delivered to the legal practitioner concerned or sent by pre-paid registered post, and in addition a copy of the notice shall be sent to the electronic address (if any) chosen by the legal practitioner.

# 30. Application for conversion of enrolment by attorneys and advocates [section 95(1)(x) read with section 32(1)(a)]

Any person duly admitted by the High Court and enrolled to practise as a legal practitioner under the Act may, in the manner prescribed by rule 30.2, apply to the Council, through the Provincial Council where the legal practitioner intends to practise, to convert his or her enrolment as an attorney to that of an advocate, and vice versa.

ム	L
U	Ċ

30.2 An application for conversion in terms of rule 30.1 shall be in writing and shall contain the following information in respect of the applicant: 30.2.1 his or her full names, date of birth, identity number and residential address; 30.2.2 whether or not he or she practises or is about to commence practice; 30.2.3 if he or she does not practise, his or her business address and personal address and telephone numbers, if any; 30.2.4 the address of his or her main office and its postal address, and telephone numbers, mobile telephone numbers, fax numbers, email addresses and other electronic communication contact particulars, if any; 30.2.5 whether he or she conducts practice as an attorney or as an advocate and, in the case of an advocate, whether he or she conducts practice -30.2.5.1 in the manner contemplated in section 34(2)(a)(i) of the Act; or 30.2.5.2 in the manner contemplated in section 34(2)(a)(ii) of the Act; 30.2.6 if he or she is employed by any person who does not practise, the nature of his or her employment and the name and business address and postal address and telephone numbers, if any, of his or her employer; 30.3 The Council may require that information referred to in rule 30.2 be submitted on a form to be determined by the Council. 30.4 The application referred to in rule 30.1 must be signed by the applicant, and must be accompanied by the following: 30.4.1 proof of payment of the prescribed fee; 30.4.2 a certificate signed by the registrar of the High Court to which the applicant applied for admission to practise that no proceedings are pending or are contemplated to strike the name of the applicant off the roll or to suspend the applicant from practice; 30.4.3 where the applicant is an attorney applying to convert his or her enrolment to that of an advocate -

30.4.4.4

30.5

Final Rules - The South African Legal Practice Council 19\_01\_2018.docx 19/01/2018

30.4.3.1	a statement indicating whether he or she intends to practise as an advocate and, if so, whether he or she intends to practise with or without a fidelity fund certificate;
30.4.3.2	proof to the satisfaction of the Council that he or she has the right of appearance in the High Court, the Supreme Court of Appeal and the Constitutional Court in terms of section 25(2) of the Act or in terms of any legislation in force prior to the coming into force of the Act and has undergone such specialised training in advocacy as is required by pupils for admission as advocates, other than training in terms of a contract for the provision of practical vocational training under the supervision of a training supervisor, as provided for in the rules;
30.4.3.3	such other requirements as the Council may determine.
30.4.4	where the applicant is an advocate applying to convert his or her enrolment to that of an attorney, proof to the satisfaction of the Council -
30.4.4.1	that the applicant has the knowledge of accounting necessary for the keeping of accounting records referred to in section 87 of the Act and for compliance with the accounting rules published by the Council from time to time;
30.4.4.2	that the applicant has attended a legal practice management course as contemplated in section 26(1)(c)(ii) of the Act;
30.4.4.3	that the applicant has been enrolled as an advocate for a period of not less than 12 months, or 3 years in the case of an advocate who has been admitted and enrolled as such without having complied with the requirements of regulation 7 of the regulations under section 109(1)(a) of the Act or without having successfully completed a training course as contemplated in section 112(1)(a)(ii) of the Act;

such other requirements as the Council may determine.

Where the applicant is an attorney, and the Council is satisfied that the applicant is entitled to convert his or her enrolment to that of an advocate, the Council shall remove the name of the applicant from the roll of attorneys and shall place the

- name of the applicant on the roll of advocates intending to practice without a fidelity fund certificate, or with a fidelity fund certificate, as the case may be.
- Where the applicant is an advocate, and the Council is satisfied that the applicant is entitled to convert his or her enrolment to that of an attorney, the Council shall remove the name of the applicant from the roll of advocates and place the name of the applicant on the roll of attorneys.

# 31. Application for conversion of enrolment by advocate practising without fidelity fund certificate and vice versa [section 95(1)(y) read with section 32(1)(b)]

- Any person duly admitted by the High Court and enrolled as an advocate practising as such in terms of section 34(2)(a)(i) may, in the manner prescribed by rule 31.2, apply to the Council, through the Provincial Council where the advocate intends to practise, to convert his or her enrolment to that of an advocate practising as such in terms of section 34(2)(a)(ii), and vice versa.
- 31.2 An application for conversion in terms of rule 31.1 shall be in writing and shall contain the following information in respect of the applicant:
- 31.2.1 his or her full names, date of birth, identity number and residential address;
- 31.2.2 whether or not he or she practises, or is about to commence practice and to be enrolled as an advocate;
- 31.2.3 if he or she does not practise, his or her business address and personal address and telephone numbers, if any;
- the address of his or her main office and its postal address, and telephone numbers, mobile telephone numbers, fax numbers, email addresses and other electronic communication contact particulars, if any;
- 31.2.5 whether he or she conducts practice -
- 31.2.5.1 in the manner contemplated in section 34(2)(a)(i) of the Act; or
- 31.2.5.2 in the manner contemplated in section 34(2)(a)(ii) of the Act;

- 31.2.5.3 if he or she is employed by any person who does not practise, the nature of his or her employment and the name and business address and postal address and telephone numbers, if any, of his or her employer.
- 31.3 The Council may require that information referred to in rule 31.2 be submitted on a form to be determined by the Council.
- 31.4 The application referred to in rule 31.1 must be signed by the applicant, and must be accompanied by the following:
- 31.4.1 proof of payment of the prescribed fee;
- a certificate signed by the registrar of the High Court to which the applicant applied for admission to practise that no proceedings are pending or are contemplated to strike the name of the applicant off the roll or to suspend the applicant from practice;
- 31.4.3 where the applicant applies to convert his or her enrolment to that of an advocate conducting a practice in the manner contemplated in section 34(2)(a)(ii) of the Act, proof to the satisfaction of the Council -
- 31.4.3.1 that the applicant has the knowledge of accounting necessary for the keeping of accounting records referred to in section 87 of the Act and for compliance with the accounting rules published by the Council from time to time;
- 31.4.3.2 that the applicant has attended a legal practice management course as contemplated in section 26(1)(c)(ii) of the Act.
- 31.5 If the Council is satisfied that the applicant is entitled to convert his or her enrolment from that of an advocate conducting a practice in a manner contemplated in section 34(2)(a)(i) of the Act to that of an advocate conducting a practice in the manner contemplated in section 34(2)(a)(ii) of the Act, and vice versa, the Council shall remove the name of the applicant from the relevant roll of advocates and shall enrol the applicant on the appropriate roll of advocates.

# 32. Circumstances in which legal practitioner can apply for conversion of enrolment [section 95(1)(z) read with section 32(3)]

- An attorney may at any time, in the manner determined in rule 30, and upon payment of the fee determined by the Council in the rules, apply to the Council to convert his or her enrolment as an attorney to that of an advocate, whether an advocate who conducts a practice in the manner contemplated in section 34(2)(a)(i) of the Act, or an advocate conducting a practice in the manner contemplated in section 34(2)(a)(ii) of the Act.
- 32.2 An advocate referred to in section 34(2)(a)(i) and practising as such may at any time, as determined in the rules and upon payment of the fee determined by the Council, apply to the Council for the conversion of his or her enrolment to that of an advocate referred to in section 34(2)(a)(ii) and practising as such, provided the applicant satisfies the Council -
- 32.2.1 that the applicant has the knowledge of accounting necessary for the keeping of accounting records referred to in section 87 of the Act and for compliance with the accounting rules published by the Council from time to time;
- 32.2.2 that the applicant has attended a legal practice management course as contemplated in section 26(1)(c)(ii) of the Act.
- An advocate referred to in section 34(2)(a)(ii) and practising as such may at any time, as determined in the rules and upon payment of the fee determined by the Council in the rules, apply to the Council for the conversion of his or her enrolment to that of an advocate referred to in section 34(2)(a)(i) and practising as such.

#### **PART VIII**

#### RENDERING OF LEGAL SERVICES

 Legal services which may be rendered by advocate in possession of fidelity fund certificate [section 95(1)(zA) read with section 34(2)(b)]

An advocate referred to in section 34(2)(a)(ii) of the Act who is in possession of a fidelity fund certificate may render all those legal services which advocates were entitled to render before the commencement of the Act, and may perform such functions ancillary to his or her instructions as are necessary to enable him or her properly to represent the client.

# 34. Briefing of advocates by attorneys and by members of the public [section 95(1)(zB) read with section 34(3)]

All briefs to advocates as contemplated in section 34(2)(a)(i) shall be subject to the terms and conditions contained in Part IV of the code of conduct made under section 97(1)(b) of the Act applicable to that type of advocate.

## 35. Instruction of attorneys [section 95(1)(zC) read with section 34(4)]

- 35.1 For purposes of this Rule 35 "client" means the user or intended user of legal services to be provided by an attorney.
- 35.2 Instructions by a client to an attorney may be in writing or may be verbal.
- When written instructions are given by a client to an attorney the attorney must ensure that they set out the intended scope of the engagement with sufficient clarity to enable the attorney to understand the full extent of the mandate. If the attorney is uncertain as to the scope of the mandate the attorney must seek written clarification of the intended scope of the instruction.
- Where the client instructs the attorney verbally, the attorney must as soon as practically possible confirm the instructions in writing and in particular must set out the attorney's understanding of the scope of the engagement.
- An attorney who is in receipt of instructions from a client must comply with those provisions of the Act which relate to the provision of legal services, including, without limitation, the provisions of sections 34 and 35 of the Act.
- Rule 35 applies, with the necessary changes, to an advocate contemplated in section 34(2)(a)(ii) of the Act who is in possession of a Fidelity Fund certificate.

#### **PARTIX**

#### **LAW CLINICS**

- 36. Establishment of law clinics [section 95(1)(zD) and (zF) read with section 34(8)(a)]
- 36.1 The Council may grant recognition to an entity as a law clinic if it is satisfied that the entity complies with the following requirements:
- 36.1.1 if it complies with the provisions of section 34(8)(a) of the Act;
- 36.1.2 if it is properly constituted, organised and controlled to the satisfaction of the Council;
- 36.1.3 if it provides legal services to the public;
- 36.1.4 if the legal services provided by the clinic are rendered free of charge, direct or indirect, to the recipient of those services; provided that -
- 36.1.4.1 the clinic may recover from the recipient of its services any amounts actually disbursed by the clinic on behalf of the recipient;
- 36.1.4.2 where the clinic acts for a successful litigant in litigation it will be entitled to take cession from that litigant of an order for costs awarded in favour of the litigant, and to recover those costs for its own account;
- the services may be rendered only to persons who, in the opinion of the Council, would not otherwise be able to afford them, or, with the prior written approval of the Council, services rendered in the public interest; and the Council may from time to time issue guidelines for the assistance of clinics in determining to whom services may be rendered;
- the clinic may not undertake work in connection with the administration or liquidation or distribution of the estate of any deceased or insolvent person, mentally ill person or any person under any other legal disability, or the liquidation of a company, nor in relation to the transfer or mortgaging of

immovable property, nor in relation to the lodging or processing of claims under the Road Accident Fund Act, 1996, or such other work as the Council may from time to time determine;

- 36.1.7 the name under which the clinic is to carry on its activities, and the letterheads and other stationery of the clinic will require the prior approval of the Council; and
- 36.1.8 legal practitioners in the employ of the clinic may be remunerated only by way of salary payable by the clinic or by the organisation to which it is attached.

# 37. Engagement of candidate legal practitioners by law clinics [section 95(1)(zE) read with section 34(8)(b)(iv)]

- 37.1 If a legal practitioner in the full time employment of a law clinic wishes to engage a candidate legal practitioner for purposes of practical vocational training he or she may do so only if:
- 37.1.1 the candidate legal practitioner is to be under his or her direct personal supervision or under the direct personal supervision of another legal practitioner who is a member of the professional staff of the clinic;
- 37.1.2 the clinic is open for business during normal business hours for not less than eleven months in any year;
- 37.1.3 the clinic has proper office systems, including telephones, information technology facilities, files and filing procedures, a diary system and at least elementary library facilities;
- 37.1.4 the clinic has a proper accounting system and accounting procedures;
- 37.1.5 the clinic handles a reasonably wide range of work to give the candidate legal practitioner exposure to the kind of problems that a newly qualified legal practitioner would expect to encounter and be able to handle competently during his or her first year of practice. The Council shall have the right to direct the clinic to require the candidate legal practitioner to attend a training course approved by the Council in areas of practice

which, in the opinion of the Council, are not adequately dealt with by the clinic;

provided that no such legal practitioner shall be entitled to engage more than three candidate legal practitioners at any one time.

#### **PART X**

#### **DISCIPLINARY**

38. Procedure to be followed by disciplinary bodies [section 95(1)(zG) read with section 38(1) and 39(1)]

### 38.1 Disciplinary proceedings

In rules 38 to 45 -

- 38.1.1 "the executive officer" means the executive officer of the Council appointed in terms of section 19(1) of the Act;
- 38.1.2 "the legal officer" means a person, by whatever title he or she may be designated, who is an employee of the Council and who is appointed or charged by the Council to perform the disciplinary functions referred to in these rules:
- 38.1.3 "the respondent" means a legal practitioner or candidate legal practitioner or juristic entity referred to in section 37(1) of the Act whose conduct is the subject of any proceedings (of whatever nature, including a complaint or a decision whether or not to refer such conduct to investigation) under these rules;
- 38.1.4 "costs", where an investigating committee or a disciplinary committee [or an appeal tribunal] orders a respondent to pay the costs of the investigation or of the disciplinary [or appeal] hearing, means the actual costs incurred by the Council in conducting the disciplinary proceedings, including without limitation:
- 38.1.4.1 the cost of procuring the attendance of witnesses;

- 38.1.4.2 the professional fees of accountants or auditors in public practice, in relation to evidence of an accounting nature;
- 38.1.4.3 the professional fees of legal practitioners engaged by the Council to act as *pro forma* complainant, or in any other capacity, to assist the investigating committee or the disciplinary committee [or the appeal tribunal] in the disciplinary process, assessed on the scale as between attorney and client.
- 38.2 The Council shall have disciplinary jurisdiction over all respondents no matter where the conduct which is, or allegedly is, misconduct is perpetrated. On the understanding that the Council is empowered by section 38(1) of the Act to enquire into and deal with any complaint of misconduct, and on the further understanding that this rule is not intended to be a complete list of acts or omissions which may constitute misconduct on the part of a legal practitioner, any legal practitioner shall be guilty of misconduct if he or she -
- 38.2.1 contravenes or fails to comply with any rule or any provision of a code of conduct applicable to him or her; or
- fails after demand to pay any subscription or any fee, levy or other charge payable to the Council in terms of the Act.
- 38.3 The Council shall assign its duties in relation to the exercise of its disciplinary functions to a committee established by it in terms of section 37(1) or section 37(4) of the Act, subject to the provisions of the Act and these rules.
- An investigating committee established by the Council shall consist of not less than two legal practitioners, of whom at least one shall be an attorney where the respondent is an attorney or a candidate attorney or a juristic entity, and at least one shall be an advocate where the respondent is an advocate or a pupil;
- a disciplinary committee established by the Council shall consist of the individuals provided for in section 37(4) of the Act; provided that where more than two legal practitioners have been appointed to serve on a disciplinary committee:

- where the respondent is an attorney or a candidate attorney, the majority of legal practitioners serving on the committee shall be attorneys;
- 38.5.2 where the respondent is an advocate or a pupil, the majority of the legal practitioners serving on the committee shall be advocates.

#### 39. Commencement of enquiry into alleged misconduct

- 39.1 If an allegation of misconduct against a respondent comes to the attention of the executive officer or the legal officer, he or she must refer the allegation to the investigating committee if -
- 39.1.1 the allegations are in the public domain and he or she on reasonable grounds suspects that a respondent may be guilty of misconduct; or
- 39.1.2 a court sends, or directs to be sent, a record of proceedings in that court; or
- 39.1.3 a member of the public lodges a complaint with the Council and the executive officer or the legal officer is of the opinion that the complaint of misconduct appears to be justified.
- 39.2 Members of the public who wish to lodge a complaint of misconduct against a respondent must do so on affidavit lodged with the Council, unless the executive officer or the legal officer decides otherwise. A complaint shall set out clearly and concisely the specific acts or failures to act which give rise to the complaint of misconduct.
- 39.3 In order to establish whether grounds for referring the complaint to the investigating committee exist, the executive officer or the legal officer may, in his or her discretion:
- 39.3.1.1 notify the respondent in writing of the nature of the complaint and call upon the respondent to furnish a written explanation in answer to the complaint within 30 days of such notice; and
- 39.3.1.2 request the complainant to provide further particulars on any aspect of the complaint.

#### 40. Investigation of alleged misconduct

- When a complaint or allegation of misconduct against the respondent is referred to the investigating committee, that committee must investigate the complaint or allegation.
- For purposes of carrying out its responsibilities in terms of rule 40.1 the investigating committee may:
- 40.2.1 take any steps which are not prohibited by law to gather information with regard to the complaint or allegation;
- 40.2.2 request a complainant to provide further particulars on any aspect of the complaint;
- 40.2.3 request the respondent to appear before the investigating committee in order to assist it to formulate its recommendations to the Council by notice, specifying the time and place of the meeting of the investigating committee. That notice shall inform the respondent:
- 40.2.3.1 that the respondent has the right to be assisted or represented by another person;
- 40.2.3.2 that any statement made by the respondent to the investigating committee may be used in evidence and that the proceedings of the investigating committee will be recorded; and
- 40.2.3.3 that section 40(4)(b) of the Act provides that a respondent may be ordered to pay the cost of the investigation or of any disciplinary hearing;
- by notice in writing require the respondent, or any employee of the respondent, to produce to the investigating committee at a time and place stipulated in the notice, any information relating to the complaint including, but not limited to, files, statements, correspondence, accounting records or other documents which are in the possession of or under the control of the

respondent or that other person and which relate to the subject matter of the complaint;

- 40.2.5 request the executive officer to institute legal action against any person referred to in rule 40.2.4 who fails to produce to the investigating committee the information referred to in that rule at the time and place stipulated in the notice; and
- 40.2.6 inspect and, if the investigating committee considers it appropriate, retain any information obtained pursuant to rules 40.2.4 and 40.2.5, and make copies of and take extracts from such information.
- 40.3 Notwithstanding the provisions of rules 40.2.3.1 and 40.2.3.2, the investigating committee and the respondent may agree to declare any appearance or part of an appearance of the respondent before the committee to be "without prejudice". In such a case:
- 40.3.1 the evidence presented or the discussions at such appearance or part of the appearance will not be recorded;
- 40.3.2 the discussions between the investigating committee and the respondent will not be used in evidence against the respondent;
- 40.3.3 the complainant will not be entitled to attend the proceedings.
- If, in the course of the investigations, the respondent admits to the investigating committee that the respondent is guilty of misconduct, and the investigating committee and the respondent agree on an appropriate punishment to be imposed for that misconduct, or if it appears to the investigating committee to be appropriate, the investigating committee may recommend to the Council that a specific sanction be imposed on, and the payment of a specific amount in respect of costs be required from, the respondent; provided that such a recommendation will not be binding on the Council or on a disciplinary committee, which will be entitled to impose its own punishment after conducting an enquiry in accordance with this rule.
- 40.5 If after investigating allegations of misconduct against the respondent the investigating committee is satisfied:

- 40.5.1 that the respondent, on the basis of available *prima facie* evidence, is guilty of misconduct which, on account of the nature of conduct, warrants misconduct proceedings, the investigating committee must refer the matter to the Council for adjudication by a disciplinary committee;
- 40.5.2 that the complaint should be dismissed on the grounds that the conduct in question does not necessarily warrant misconduct proceedings, it must discuss the complaint and inform the Council, the complainant and the respondent of its decision and the reasons for it. Without limiting the discretion of the investigating committee, the following may be grounds for determining that the conduct in question does not warrant misconduct proceedings:
- 40.5.2.1 that the respondent is not guilty of misconduct; or
- 40.5.2.2 that the respondent has given a reasonable explanation for his or her conduct; or
- 40.5.2.3 that the conduct of which the respondent may be guilty is of an inconsequential nature; or
- 40.5.2.4 that there is no reasonable prospect of success in preferring a charge of misconduct against the respondent; or
- 40.5.2.5 that in all the circumstances it is not appropriate to charge the respondent with misconduct.
- 40.6 If a complainant is aggrieved by:
- 40.6.1 the manner in which the investigating committee conducted its investigation; or
- 40.6.2 the outcome of the investigation,

he or she may appeal to the appeal tribunal in terms of section 41 of the Act.

When the Council receives a referral from the investigating committee in terms of rule 40.5.1 that the legal practitioner be charged with misconduct, it must refer the matter to a disciplinary committee for adjudication.

#### 41. Disciplinary procedure

- 41.1 A disciplinary enquiry shall be commenced by way of the service on the respondent personally of a summons requiring the attendance of that respondent at the enquiry.
- The summons shall be issued under the hand of the executive officer or the legal officer or some other duly authorised employee of the Council and shall be served not less than 10 days before the date appointed for the hearing, in the computation of which period weekends and statutory public holidays shall be excluded.
- 41.3 The summons shall set out the place, date and time of the hearing and shall contain the charge or charges of unprofessional or unworthy or dishonourable conduct alleged against the respondent.
- 41.4 At an enquiry conducted under this rule the respondent -
- 41.4.1 may be present at the hearing of the proceedings provided that if the respondent is not so present, the hearing may proceed in his or her absence if summons has been properly served on him or her;
- 41.4.2 may be assisted or represented by another person or by a legal practitioner in conducting his or her defence;
- 41.4.3 has the right to be heard;
- 41.4.4 may call witnesses;
- 41.4.5 may cross-examine any person called as a witness in support of the charge; and
- 41.4.6 may have access to any book, document or object produced in evidence;
- 41.5 a respondent appearing at an enquiry -
- 41.5.1 may admit at any time before a conviction that he or she is guilty of the charge; and

- 41.5.2 may, in the case where he or she makes an admission of guilt, be deemed to be guilty of misconduct as charged.
- 41.6 The complainant in the matter shall be entitled to be present during all proceedings in the disciplinary enquiry relating to his or her complaint in the same manner as a complainant in criminal proceedings.
- 41.7 The Council may appoint a practising attorney or advocate, or an employee who is admitted as an attorney or advocate, to act as a pro forma prosecutor in the leading of evidence against, and the presentation of the case against, the respondent at the enquiry, and to examine and cross-examine witnesses.
- 41.8 The duties, functions and powers of the disciplinary committee relating to the conduct of an enquiry shall be the following, namely:
- 41.8.1 to determine through its chairman and, subject always to the provision of these rules and to the Act, the manner in which the enquiry shall be conducted;
- 41.8.2 to exercise the powers vested in the Council in terms of the Act in relation to its disciplinary functions;
- 41.8.3 to dispense with any requirements regarding summonses, notices, affidavits, documents, service or times in any case where it appears to be just to do so, or to extend the time for doing anything in connection with the conduct of the enquiry;
- of its own accord, or upon the application of any affected person, to adjourn the enquiry upon such terms as to costs or otherwise as it deems fit;
- 41.8.5 to cause the proceedings at the enquiry to be recorded in such a manner as shall enable a true and correct record of such proceedings to be available, and to procure that each of its decisions shall be recorded in writing and be prefaced by a statement of its findings in relation to the fact investigated during the course of the enquiry, and shall be signed by the chairperson of the committee:

- 41.8.6 to procure that all decisions referred to in rule 41.8.5 shall be filed in the records of the Council;
- 41.8.7 of its own accord, to treat as a separate complaint of misconduct, any act or omission on the part of a respondent attending, or required to attend, an enquiry being conducted under these rules, where such act or omission is calculated to interfere with, or otherwise interferes with, its proper consideration, investigation and determination of the complaint for the subject matter of the enquiry, and to refer any such separate complaint to the Council for consideration and investigation in accordance with the provisions of these rules;
- 41.8.8 to exercise such ancillary powers as it shall consider reasonably necessary to enable it to discharge its duties, functions and powers under these rules;
- 41.8.9 to appoint a person or persons to assist it in the performance of its functions under these rules;
- 41.8.10 where any matter of procedure arises for which no provision is made in these rules, to determine through its chairman in his or her discretion what procedure shall be followed.

#### 42. Subpoena

A subpoena issued by the disciplinary committee in terms of section 39(3) of the Act-

- 42.1 shall be in the form of Schedule 4 to these rules;
- 42.2 shall be signed by the chairperson of the committee or, in the absence of the chairperson, any member of the committee; and
- 42.3 shall be served on the person concerned personally.

#### Proceedings after disciplinary hearing, and sanctions 43.

43.1 After the conclusion of the hearing the disciplinary committee must, within 30 days, decide whether or not the respondent is guilty of misconduct.

43.2	If the disciplinary committee finds that the respondent is guilty of misconduct it must -
43.2.1	inform the respondent and the Council and the Provincial Council concerned of the finding; and
43.2.2	inform the respondent of the right of appeal as provided for in terms of section 41 of the Act;
43.3	A respondent found guilty of misconduct may -
43.3.1	address the disciplinary committee in mitigation of sentence; and
43.3.2	call witnesses to give evidence on his or her behalf in mitigation of sentence.
43.4	If the disciplinary committee finds the respondent guilty of misconduct it may call witnesses to give evidence in aggravation of sentence and may-
43.4.1	in the case of a legal practitioner:
43.4.1.1	order him or her to pay compensation, with or without interest, to the complainant, which order is subject to confirmation by an order of any court having jurisdiction in the circumstances in the prescribed manner, on application by the Council;
43.4.1.2	impose upon him or her a fine, payable to the Council, not exceeding the amount determined from time to time by the Minister by notice in the <i>Gazette</i> , on the advice of the Council;
43.4.1.3	temporarily suspend him or her from practising or from engaging in any particular aspects of the practice of law, pending the finalisation of an application referred to in rule 43.4.1.4;
43.4.1.4	advise the Council to apply to the High Court for -
43.4.1.4.1	an order striking his or her name from the roll;
43.4.1.4.2	an order suspending him or her from practice;

43.4.1.4.3	an interdict prohibiting him or her from dealing with trust money; or
43.4.1.4.4	any other appropriate relief;
43.4.1.5	advise the Council to amend or endorse his or her enrolment;
43.4.1.6	order that his or her Fidelity Fund certificate be withdrawn, where applicable;
43.4.1.7	warn him or her against certain conduct and order that such warning be endorsed against his or her enrolment; or
43.4.1.8	caution or reprimand him or her;
43.4.2	in the case of a juristic entity:
43.4.2.1	order it to pay compensation, with or without interest, to the complainant, which order is subject to confirmation by an order of any court having jurisdiction in the circumstances in a prescribed manner on application by the Council;
43.4.2.2	impose upon it a fine, payable to the Council, not exceeding the amount determined from time to time by the Minister by notice in the <i>Gazette</i> , on the advice of the Council;
43.4.2.3	warn it against certain conduct;
43.4.2.4	advise the Council to apply to the High Court for the winding up of the juristic entity; or
43.4.2.5	caution or reprimand the juristic entity; or
43.4.3	in the case of a candidate legal practitioner:
43.4.3.1	cancel or suspend his or her practical vocational training;
43.4.3.2	impose upon him or her a fine, payable to the Council, not exceeding the amount determined from time to time by the Minister by notice in the <i>Gazette</i> , on the advice of the Council; or

43.4.3.3 caution or reprimand him or her. 43.5 The disciplinary committee may -43.5.1 impose any combination of the sanctions in rules 43.4.1, 43.4.2 or 43.4.3; and 43.5.2 postpone the taking of any steps or suspend the imposition of any sanction on such conditions as it may determine; 43.5.3 in addition to the sanctions referred to in rule 43.4, order the respondent to pay the cost of the investigation or of the disciplinary hearing. 43.6 If the respondent fails to comply with any conditions determined by the disciplinary committee, the committee may impose a sanction for noncompliance or may execute the sanction which was originally imposed, unless the respondent satisfies the disciplinary committee that the non-compliance was due to circumstances beyond his or her or its control, in which case the disciplinary committee may impose such further conditions as it deems fit. 43.7 At the conclusion of a disciplinary hearing -43.7.1 the disciplinary committee must notify the complainant, the respondent, the Council and the Provincial Council in writing of the outcome of the hearing; 43.7.2 if the disciplinary committee has found the respondent not guilty of misconduct it must inform the complainant of the right to appeal as provided for in terms of section 41 of the Act and of the time limit imposed

# 44. Appeal against conduct or finding of investigating committee or disciplinary committee

by rule 44.2.

Subject to section 43 of the Act, a respondent may, within thirty days of being informed of the decision of a disciplinary committee, lodge an appeal with the appeal tribunal against the finding of the disciplinary committee or against the sanction imposed by the disciplinary committee, or both

- 44.2 A complainant who is aggrieved by -
- the manner in which an investigating committee conducted its investigation, or the outcome of the investigating committee; or
- 44.2.2 the outcome of a disciplinary enquiry.

may lodge an appeal with the appeal tribunal, within thirty days of being informed on the decision of the investigating committee or the disciplinary committee, as the case may be, against the conduct or finding of the investigating committee or the disciplinary committee, as the case may be.

- The appeal referred to in rule 44.1 or 44.2 shall be by notice of appeal in writing, addressed to the Council, setting out -
- in the case of an appeal by the respondent:
- 44.3.1.1 whether the appeal is against the finding of misconduct by the disciplinary committee, or against the sanction imposed, or both; and
- 44.3.1.2 the grounds of appeal in detail;
- 44.3.2 in the case of an appeal by the complainant:
- 44.3.2.1 whether the appeal is against the manner in which the investigating committee or the disciplinary committee, as the case may be, conducted the investigation or the hearing; and/or
- 44.3.2.2 whether the appeal is against the decision of the investigating committee or the disciplinary committee, as the case may be; and
- 44.3.2.3 the grounds of appeal in detail.
- The Council shall forward a copy of the notice of appeal referred to in rules 44.3.1 or 44.3.2 to the complainant or to the respondent, as the case may be, and shall call upon the complainant or the respondent, as the case may be, to respond in writing to the notice of appeal within thirty days, or within such longer period as the Council may determine.

- On receipt of the response from the complainant or the respondent, as the case may be, in terms of rule 44.4 the Council must forward the notice of appeal and the response to the appeal tribunal. If no response is received from the complainant or the respondent, as the case may be, the Council must send the copy of the notice of appeal to the appeal tribunal to be dealt with in accordance with these rules.
- On receipt of the notice of appeal and, if applicable, the response to the notice of appeal the appeal tribunal shall advise the respondent and the complainant of the place and date, being a date not less than ten days after the date of the notice, at which the appeal will be heard by the appeal tribunal.
- At the hearing of the appeal the respondent and the complainant may be present and may be assisted or represented by another person or by a legal practitioner. The proceedings before the appeal tribunal shall be conducted in such manner as the appeal tribunal shall determine.
- After the conclusion of the hearing before the appeal tribunal the appeal tribunal must, within thirty days:
- decide whether or not the finding of the disciplinary committee should be confirmed or set aside; or
- decide whether or not the sanction imposed on the respondent should be confirmed or set aside; provided that if the sanction imposed by the disciplinary committee is to be set aside the appeal tribunal may impose its own sanction in respect of the misconduct, which sanction imposed by the appeal tribunal may be one which is more severe than that imposed by the disciplinary committee; or
- 44.8.3 if it decides that the conduct of the investigating committee or the disciplinary committee was unlawful or unfairly prejudicial to the respondent or to the complainant, or was in any other respect irregular or not in accordance with natural justice, it shall refer the matter back to the Council to be dealt with as a new complaint before a different investigating committee or disciplinary committee.

- 77
- 44.9 At the conclusion of the hearing before the appeal tribunal the appeal tribunal must notify the respondent, the complainant, the Council and the Provincial Council in writing of the outcome of the appeal.
- 44.10 If a respondent who has been found guilty of misconduct lodges an appeal in terms of rule 44.1 the decision of the disciplinary committee may not be enforced before the appeal tribunal has decided the appeal.

#### 44.11 **Publication**

The Council shall cause particulars of all disciplinary hearings, including the particulars of:

- 44.11.1 the allegations of misconduct dealt with;
- 44.11.2 the members of the disciplinary committee in question;
- 44.11.3 the respondent involved in the dispute; and
- 44.11.4 the outcome of the hearings and any sanction imposed, if applicable

to be published on the website of the Council, to be updated at least once every month, and to be available for inspection by members of the public during business hours of the Council and of the relevant Provincial Councils.

# 45. Manner and form in which complaints of misconduct must be lodged with the Council [Section 109(2)(a)(vi)]

- A person wishing to lodge a complaint of misconduct against a legal practitioner, a candidate legal practitioner or a juristic entity must lodge the complaint in writing with the Council.
- The complaint must be substantially in the form of Schedule 5 of these rules, must be signed by the complainant before a Commissioner of Oaths, and must be lodged with the Council; provided that the Council may in appropriate circumstances require that the complaint be lodged in a different format.

- The Council, or a person to whom the function may be assigned by the Council, shall be entitled to dispense with the requirements of this rule in any specific case if in his or her view it is appropriate, and in the interests of justice, that the requirements of the rule be dispensed with.
- The failure of a complainant to comply with the provisions of this rule shall not prevent the Council from exercising its powers to enquire into the conduct of a legal practitioner, a candidate legal practitioner or a juristic entity even in the absence of a formal complaint by a complainant.
- 45.5 The Council may require a complainant to provide, on affidavit, such further particulars in relation to any aspect of the complaint as it deems necessary

#### **PART XI**

#### LEGAL PRACTITIONERS' FIDELITY FUND: PROCEDURAL

- 46. Procedure for election of legal practitioners to the board [section 95(1)(zJ) read with section 62(1)(a)]
- One member shall be elected to the Board from among, and by, the practising legal practitioners who are in good standing and who have their principal place of business as such in the area of the following provinces:
- 46.1.1 one member from the province of Gauteng;
- 46.1.2 one member from the provinces of Western Cape and Northern Cape;
- one member from the provinces of the Free State, North West, Limpopo and Mpumalanga;
- one member from the provinces of KwaZulu-Natal and Eastern Cape.
- One member shall be elected to the Board from among the practising advocates referred to in section 34(2)(b) who are in good standing, by all the practising legal practitioners in the Republic who are in good standing.
- 46.3 Whenever a vacancy occurs in the Board in respect of –

- 46.3.1 a member elected from among the legal practitioners having their principal places of business in the areas referred to in rule 46.1 respectively; or
- 46.3.2 the member elected to the Board from among the advocates referred to in section 34(2)(b) of the Act

the Council shall call for nominations from among the legal practitioners of the respective province or provinces and who are on the practising roll, or from among the advocates referred to in section 34(2)(b) of the Act who are on the practising roll, as the case may be, by notice in the *Gazette* and in such other publication as may be appropriate, allowing 21 days from the date of the notice to the date on which nominations are to be submitted, and stating that nominations are to be made in writing in accordance with these rules.

- 46.4 A nomination may only be made –
- in the case of a nomination in respect of a vacancy referred to in rule 46.3.1, by a legal practitioner having his or her principal place of business in the province concerned; and
- in the case of a nomination in respect of a vacancy referred in in rule 46.3.2, by a legal practitioner.
- 46.5 Every nomination shall be in writing, shall be signed by the person making it and shall –
- in the case of a nomination by an attorney, state the name of that attorney, his or her date of admission as an attorney and the address of that attorney's principal place of business; and
- 46.5.2 in the case of an advocate, state the name of advocate, his or her date of admission as an advocate and the address at which such advocate keeps chambers.
- 46.6 Every nomination shall be accompanied by –
- written acceptance of the practising attorney or practising advocate being nominated, duly signed by the said attorney or advocate, and providing

	such details relating to the said attorney or advocate as is required from the attorney or advocate making the nomination in terms of rule 46.5; and	
46.6.2	a comprehensive <i>curriculum vitae</i> of the person being nominated, in not more than 600 words and in such format as the Council may require, containing at least the following information:	
46.6.2.1	his or her name;	
46.6.2.2	in the case of an attorney, the name of the firm of which he or she is a proprietor or a member or by which he or she is employed, stating also the status of that attorney within the firm;	
46.6.2.3	in the case of an advocate, whether or not he or she renders legal services in terms of section 34(2)(a)(ii) of the Act, and whether or not he or she has the status of a Senior Counsel;	
46.6.2.4	his or her race, gender, date of admission and enrolment, and period in practice;	
46.6.2.5	if he or she suffers from a disability, a statement to that effect and the nature of the disability;	
46.6.2.6	the address of his or her principle place of practice	
	and on which shall be endorsed, over the signature of each nominee named therein, his or her confirmation that the information given therein is correct and that he or she is not disqualified from membership of the Board.	
46.7	Upon receipt of a nomination, the Council shall make every effort to verify the information provided in the <i>curriculum vitae</i> that accompanied such nomination.	
46.8	Within 30 days after the closing date for nominations, the Council shall publish a list of all the persons duly nominated and who have duly accepted such nomination, by notice in the <i>Gazette</i> and in such other publications as may be	

appropriate: provided that the Council may refuse to include the name of any person who has been nominated in respect of whom the Council has reason to believe that the information provided in the *curriculum vitae* submitted by or on

behalf of such person contains material details that are untrue, and any person whose name is so omitted shall be ineligible for election to the Board.

- 46.9 A notice referred to in rule 46.8 -
- 46.9.1 shall invite the submission of a written communication from every legal practitioner eligible to vote for the election of the member or members concerned, in such format as the Council may determine, by which such practitioner exercises his or her right to vote;
- 46.9.2 shall draw the attention of legal practitioners to the following consideration in relation to the constitution of the Board:
- 46.9.2.1 the racial and gender composition of South Africa;
- 46.9.2.2 representation of persons with disabilities;
- 46.9.2.3 provincial representation.
- 46.10 Every such written communication shall be signed by its author and -
- 46.10.1 in the case of a communication from an attorney, state the name of his or her practice and the address of that attorney's principal place of business; and
- 46.10.2 in the case of a communication from an advocate, specify the date of admission of the advocate concerned and the address at which such advocate keeps chambers.
- 46.11 Upon the expiry of 21 days from the date of the last-mentioned notice in the Gazette, referred to in rule 46.8, the Council shall, at a formal special meeting, tally all the votes received in writing by hand delivery, facsimile transmission or ordinary mail in respect of each person duly nominated, and shall determine the names of the persons in favour of whom the most such votes have been cast in order to fill the number of vacancies on the Board which are required to the filled.
- 46.12 Having made such a determination, the Council shall at such meeting declare such person or persons duly elected.

The Council shall within 7 days of having made such a declaration, by notice in the *Gazette*, publish the name of the person or persons so elected.

### 47. Application for Fidelity Fund certificates [section 95(1)(zK) read with section 85(1)(a)]

- The Council shall, not later than the last day of September in every year, send to every legal practitioner who is obliged in terms of section 84(1) of the Act to be in possession of a fidelity fund certificate, by electronic on-line submission to that legal practitioner's electronic mail address (or by pre-paid post to the postal address of that legal practitioner, or by delivery to that legal practitioner's business address, where the legal practitioner has not provided the Council with an email address) an application form for a fidelity fund certificate in respect of the year following. The Council shall enclose with such application form a statement setting out the liability, if any, of the legal practitioner concerned in respect of his or her subscription or other amounts due to the Council.
- 47.2 The application form for a fidelity fund certificate shall, as nearly as circumstances will permit, be in the form set out in rule 49.
- Every legal practitioner who is obliged in terms of section 84(1) of the Act to be in possession of a fidelity fund certificate shall sign the application form relevant to him or her and shall truly, accurately and completely set out the information and particulars provided for in the form, and shall return the duly completed and signed application form by electronic on-line submission (or where the legal practitioner does not have an email facility, by pre-paid post or by delivery) to the Council not later than the first day of December of the same year in which it was sent.
- 47.4 The failure on the part of a legal practitioner to receive an application form and the statement of liability shall not relieve the legal practitioner of his or her obligation to make an application as required by section 85(1) of the Act.
- The Council may from time to time require an applicant to furnish it with further and additional information and particulars in respect of any application before it issues a fidelity fund certificate, and neither the Council nor the Board shall incur any liability in respect of any penalty incurred or loss sustained by the applicant

due to any delay in issuing such a certificate if such delay was caused by the applicant's failure to furnish such information or particulars.

- A fidelity fund certificate shall be in the form of Schedule 6A (in the case of attorneys) and Schedule 6B (in the case of advocates referred to in section 34(2)(b) of the Act) to this rule and shall be signed by an authorised official on behalf of the Council, and the production of such a certificate purporting to be so signed shall be *prima facie* evidence of its contents.
- 47.7 Every such application shall be accompanied by –
- 47.7.1 the contribution payable by the applicant, the amount of which shall from time to time be notified by the Council through publication in the *Gazette*; and
- 47.7.2 proof that the applicant has discharged all her or his liabilities in respect of enrolment fees and other amounts due to the Council;
- in the case of an applicant who, for the first time, is required to be in possession of a fidelity fund certificate, proof that the applicant has completed a legal practice management course referred to in section 85(1)(b) of the Act or where, at the date of application, the applicant has not yet completed the practice management course, a statement to that effect and an acknowledement that the applicant is aware that he or she will be required to complete the practice management course within the period referred to in rule 26, failing which a fidelity fund certificate will not be issued to him or her until he or she has completed the course;
- 47.7.4 in the case of a legal practitioner other than one referred to in rule 47.7.3, the certificate of an auditor in respect of an audit of his or her trust accounts that had been performed immediately prior to the application.

### 48. Contributions payable by applicants for Fidelity Fund certificates [section 95(1)(zM) read with section 85(2)]

The contribution payable by the applicant for a fidelity fund certificate shall be in the amount determined by the Council from time to time, in consultation with the Board, in

Final Rules - The South African Legal Practice Council 19\_01\_2018.docx 19/01/2018

accordance with sections 85(3) and 85(4) of the Act, and as notified by the Council in the *Gazette*.

## 49. Form of application for Fidelity Fund certificate [section 95(1)(zN)]

The application form for a fidelity fund certificate, referred to in rule 47.2 shall, in the case of attorneys, be as nearly as circumstances will permit in the form set out in Schedule 7A to these rules, and in the case of advocates referred to in section 34(2)(b) of the Act, be as nearly as circumstances will permit in the form set out in Schedule 7B to these rules.

#### **PART XII**

#### 50. ACCOUNTING RULES

- 50.1 Part XII of the rules applies only to legal practitioners conducting a trust account practice.
- If a firm at any time administers and controls its practice as a whole from premises in two or more buildings which, in the opinion of the Council, do not constitute such a single composite entity as is contemplated in the definition of 'main office' in rule 1, the Council may require the firm to declare to it in writing, within a time stipulated by the Council, which one or more of those buildings as may constitute such an entity, in the opinion of the Council, contains or contain its main office, and thereafter that firm shall administer and control its practice as a whole from the premises so declared.
- The Council may make such enquiry as it deems fit, including inspection of the premises concerned, and the firm concerned shall furnish the Council with such information and render such assistance as it may require to enable it to form an opinion in terms of accounting rule 50.2.
- A declaration made by a firm under accounting rule 50.2 shall remain effective until such time as the firm:
- 50.4.1 moves its main office from the premises which are the subject of the declaration; or
- 50.4.2 makes a declaration in terms of accounting rule 50.2 in respect of other premises.
- Should a firm fail to make a declaration under accounting rule 50.2 within the time stipulated by the Council, the Council may by notice in writing to the firm determine which of the premises concerned constitutes its main office, whereupon the remaining provisions of accounting rules 50.2, 50.3 and 50.4 shall apply as though those premises had been so declared by the firm.

#### **Accounting Requirements - General**

- A firm shall keep in an official language of the Republic such accounting records as are necessary to enable the firm to satisfy its obligations in terms of the Act, these rules and any other law with respect to the preparation of financial statements that present fairly and in accordance with an acceptable financial reporting framework in South Africa the state of affairs and business of the firm and to explain the transactions and financial position of the firm including, without derogation from the generality of this rule:
- 50.6.1 records showing all assets and liabilities as required in terms of sections 87 of the Act:
- 50.6.2 records containing entries from day to day of all monies received and paid by it on its own account, as required by sections 87(1) and 87(3) of the Act;
- 50.6.3 records containing particulars and information of:
- 50.6.3.1 all monies received, held and paid by it for and on account of any person;
- 50.6.3.2 all monies invested by it in terms of section 86(3) or section 86(4) of the Act;
- 50.6.3.3 any interest referred to in section 86(5) of the Act which is paid over or credited to it:
- 50.6.3.4 any interest credited to or in respect of any separate trust savings.

#### Acceptable financial reporting framework

#### 50.7 For purposes of these rules:

50.7.1 acceptable financial reporting frameworks which are to be recognised and applied are:

- 50.7.1.1 "IFRS" being International Financial Reporting Standards as issued from time to time by the International Reporting Standards Board, or its successor body; and
- 50.7.1.2 "IFRS for SMEs", being IFRS for Small and Medium Enterprises.
- In determining what is meant by "acceptable financial reporting frameworks" regard shall be had, *inter alia*, to any rulings of the Council published to trust account practitioners with respect to specific additional disclosures required to be made in the financial statements or trust account Schedules.

#### Distinguishing between trust account and business account transactions

50.8 The accounting records shall distinguish in readily discernible form between business account transactions and trust account transactions.

#### Retention of accounting records and files

- A firm shall retain its accounting records, and all files and documents relating to matters dealt with by the firm on behalf of clients:
- for at least five years from the date of the last entry recorded in each particular book or other document of record or file;
- save with the prior written consent of the Council, or when removed therefrom under other lawful authority, at no place other than its main office, a branch office or, in the case of electronic accounting records or files, the location at which such accounting records or files are ordinarily hosted; provided that:
- 50.9.2.1 in the case of electronic accounting records or files hosted offsite, such records or files shall always be reasonably secured and shall remain immediately accessible to authorised persons from the office of the firm, and to the Council; and
- 50.9.2.2 in the case of a branch office, only insofar as they relate to any part of its practice conducted at that branch office.

#### **Updating accounting records**

A firm shall update and balance its accounting records monthly and shall be deemed to comply with this rule if, *inter alia*, its accounting records have been written up by the last day of the following month.

#### Trust money to be kept separate from other money

- 50.11 Trust money shall in no circumstances be deposited in or credited to a business banking account. Money other than trust money found in a trust banking account at any time shall be transferred to a business banking account without undue delay. A firm shall be deemed to have complied sufficiently with this rule if it:
- 50.11.1 makes transfers from its trust banking account to its business banking account at least once a month; and
- 50.11.2 ensures that, when making a transfer from its trust banking account to its business banking account:
- 50.11.2.1 the amount transferred is identifiable with, and does not exceed, the amount due to the firm:
- 50.11.2.2 the trust creditor from whose account the transfer is made is identified; and
- 50.11.2.3 the balance of any amount due to the firm remaining in its trust banking account is capable of identification with corresponding entries appearing in its trust ledger.

#### **Accounting to clients**

- Every firm shall, within a reasonable time after the performance or earlier termination of any mandate, account to its client in writing and retain a copy of each such account for not less than five years; each account shall contain details of:
- 50.12.1.1 all amounts received by it in connection with the matter concerned, appropriately explained;

- all disbursements and other payments made by it in connection with the matter;

  all fees and other charges charged to or raised against the client and, where any fee represents an agreed fee, a statement that such fee was agreed upon and the amount so agreed;
- 50.12.1.4 the amount owing to or by the client.

#### Payment to clients

A firm shall, unless otherwise instructed, pay any amount due to a client within a reasonable time.

#### **Accounting Requirements - Accounting Records**

- 50.14.1 A firm shall maintain its accounting records in terms of the Act and these rules.
- A firm shall report to the Council forthwith, in writing, any loss, theft or destruction of any such records.
- A firm shall, in the case of the accounting records being computerised, make monthly back-ups which shall be kept in a safe, fireproof place remote from the firm or, in the case of accounting records being in the form of manual books of account, by ensuring that, outside normal business hours, such records are kept in a safe place.
- 50.14.4 If the firm keeps any of its accounting records in electronic form, the firm shall:
- 50.14.4.1 provide adequate precautions against loss of the records as a result of damage to or failure of the media in which the records are maintained; and
- 50.14.4.2 ensure that the records are at all times capable of being retrieved to a readable and printable form, including by converting the records from legacy to later systems or software from time to time.

50.14.5	A firm shall, where the firm utilises electronic banking in respect of
	payments from the trust account, keep a proper audit trail, which shall
	include verification of the payee's banking account details.

The firm's accounting records shall not, save with the prior written consent of Council or under lawful authority, and except for electronic records in terms of accounting rule 50.14.3 and backups of computerised records, be maintained at any place other than its main office or branch office, but in the latter instance, only insofar as they relate to any part of its practice conducted at that branch.

#### 50.14.7 A firm shall ensure:

#### Internal controls

50.14.7.1	that adequate internal controls are implemented to ensure
	compliance with these rules and to ensure that trust funds are
	safeguarded; and in particular to ensure -
50.14.7.1.1	that the design of the internal controls is appropriate to address identified risks;
50.14.7.1.2	that the internal controls have been implemented as designed;
50.14.7.1.3	that the internal controls which have been implemented operate
	effectively throughout the period;
50.14.7.1.4	that the effective operation of the internal controls is monitored regularly by designated persons in the firm having the appropriate authority;

#### Prompt depositing of trust monies

that all money received by it on account of any person is deposited intact into its trust banking account on the date of its receipt or the first banking day following its receipt on which it might reasonably be expected that it would be banked;

#### Transfers from trust investment account

50.14.7.3

unless the firm has received written authorisation for the payment of any guarantees issued by a bank on the strength of a trust investment, that any amount withdrawn by it from a trust investment account is deposited promptly by it in its trust banking account.

#### Trust moneys not to be less than trust balances

A firm shall ensure that the total amount of money in its trust banking account, trust investment account and trust cash at any date shall not be less than the total amount of the credit balances of the trust creditors shown in its accounting records.

#### Trust accounts not to be in debit

50.14.9 A firm shall ensure that no account of any trust creditor is in debit.

#### Reports to Council of non-compliance

A firm shall immediately report in writing to the Council should the total amount of money in its trust bank accounts and money held as trust cash be less than the total amount of credit balances of the trust creditors shown in its accounting records, together with a written explanation of the reason for the debit and proof of rectification.

A firm shall immediately report in writing to the Council should an account of any trust creditor be in debit, together with a written explanation of the reason for the debit and proof of rectification.

#### Transfer from trust bank account to business bank account

A firm shall employ and maintain a system to ensure that the requirements of these rules are not infringed when amounts are transferred from its trust banking account to its business banking account.

#### Deposits on account of charges

50.14.13 Amounts received by a firm in advance to cover a prospective liability for services rendered or to be rendered or for disbursements (including

counsel's fees) to be made must be deposited forthwith to the credit of its trust banking account.

### Withdrawals from trust banking account

50.14.14	Withdrawals from a firm's trust banking account shall be made only:
50.14.14.1	to or for a trust creditor; or
50.14.14.2	as transfers to the firm's business banking account, provided that such transfers shall be made only in respect of money due to the firm; and provided that no transfer from its trust banking account to its business banking account is made in respect of any disbursement (including counsel's fees) or fees of the firm unless:
50.14.14.2.1	the disbursements have actually been made and debited by the firm; or
50.14.14.2.2	a contractual obligation has arisen on the part of the firm to pay the disbursement; or
50.14.14.2.3	fees and disbursement have been correctly debited in its accounting records.

#### Payments from trust banking account

50.14.15.1	Any cheque drawn on a firm's trust banking account shall be made payable to or to the order of a payee specifically designated.
50.14.15.2	Payments from the trust banking account of a firm shall only be by cheque or electronic transfer.
50.14.15.3	No withdrawals from the trust banking account of a firm may be made by way of cellular and telephone transacting.

### Interest accrued on trust banking account

50.14.16 The trust interest accrued on a firm's trust banking account or trust investment account, and that part of the interest accrued on a trust savings account opened in terms of section 86(4) of the Act which is payable to the

Fund in terms of section 86(5)(b) of the Act, shall be paid over to the Fund or its nominee at such times and in such manner as shall be determined by the Council from time to time.

#### Lists of balances

- Every firm shall extract at intervals of not more than three calendar months, and in a clearly legible manner, a list showing all persons on whose account money is held or has been received and the amount of all such moneys standing to the credit of each such person, who shall be identified therein by name, and shall total such list and compare the said total with the total of the balance standing to the credit of the firm's trust banking account, trust investment account and amounts held by it as trust cash, in order to ensure compliance with accounting rule 50.14.7.
- 50.15.2 The balance listed in respect of each such account shall also be noted in some permanent, prominent and clear manner in the ledger account from which the balance was extracted.
- 50.15.3 Each such list shall be part of the accounting records of the firm to be retained for the five-year period referred to in accounting rule 50.9.

#### Notification of trust banking account

- 50.16 Every firm shall:
- 50.16.1 immediately notify the Council in writing of the name and address of the bank or banks at which its trust banking account or accounts are kept and shall thereafter notify the Council immediately of any change in the name and address of such bank or banks;
- 50.16.2 whenever so required by the Council, furnish to the Council within ten days or such longer period as the Council may stipulate, a signed statement issued by the bank or banks with which it keeps its trust banking account or accounts and a signed statement issued by the bank with which the firm keeps any trust investment account, certifying the amount of the balance of such trust banking account or accounts or trust investment account or accounts at such date or dates as may be specified by the Council.

#### Trust account investments in terms of section 86(4)

- 50.17 A firm which invests funds on behalf of any person shall, in addition to all other requirements applicable to the holding or investment of trust money:
- 50.17.1 not invest such funds other than in a trust savings or other interest-bearing account with a bank;
- 50.17.2 obtain that person's written confirmation of the investment as soon as is reasonably possible, or notify that person forthwith thereof in writing; and
- 50.17.3 forthwith cause the relevant trust savings or other interest-bearing account to be endorsed to the effect that it is an account opened in terms of Section 86(4) of the Act.
- A firm shall not, in connection with any mandate which the firm has accepted to invest trust funds, agree or arrange to receive from a bank any commission, fee or other reward, without having disclosed, in writing, such commission, fee or reward to the person who has given the firm the mandate to invest.

#### Responsibility for ensuring compliance

50.19 Every partner of a firm, and every director of a juristic entity referred to in section 34(7) of the Act, and every advocate referred to in section 34(2)(b) of the Act, will be responsible for ensuring that the provisions of the Act and of those rules relating to trust accounts of the firm are complied with.

#### **Reporting Requirements**

- A firm shall at its expense once in each calendar year or at such other times as the Council may require, appoint an auditor to discharge the duties assigned to the auditor in terms of these rules; provided that:
- 50.20.1 the Council may refuse to recognise the appointment by a firm of an auditor of whom the Council on good cause does not approve;
- the Council may at any time, in its discretion and at its expense, appoint an auditor or a suitably qualified inspector to discharge those duties;

- on the written application of a firm the Council may authorise the firm to appoint a person who in the opinion of the Council is suitably qualified as an inspector to perform the functions of an auditor in terms of these rules, subject to such terms as the Council in its discretion may determine.
- A firm which commences practice for the first time shall, within six months of so commencing practice, furnish the Council with a report substantially in the form of the First Schedule to these rules (or in such other form as the Council may determine after consultation with the Independent Regulatory Board for auditors) covering the first four months of that firm's practice.
- A firm shall allow an auditor or inspector appointed under accounting rule 50.20 access to such of its records as the auditor or inspector may deem necessary to examine for the purposes of discharging his duties under accounting rule 50.24 and shall furnish the auditor or inspector with any authority which may be required to enable the auditor or inspector to obtain such information, certificates or other evidence as the auditor may reasonably require for such purposes.
- A firm shall ensure that the report to be furnished by an auditor or inspector in terms of accounting rule 50.21 or 50.22 is furnished in its original format (which may include an electronic format specified by the Council) within the required time or on the required date; provided that on written application by a firm relating to a particular report the Council may, in its discretion and on such conditions as it may stipulate, condone a failure by that firm to comply with this requirement. The form of such report shall be obtained only from the Council, which shall issue it on request to any firm or to any auditor or inspector appointed in terms of accounting rule 50.20.
- A firm shall ensure that every auditor or inspector who has accepted an appointment in terms of accounting rule 50.20 shall:
- 50.24.1 within six months of the annual closing of the accounting records of the firm concerned or at such other times as the Council may require and subject to any conditions that the Council may impose, furnish the Council with a report which shall be in the form of the First Schedule to these rules or in such other form as the Council may determine after consultation with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors;

50.24.2	without delay report in writing directly to the Council if at any time during the discharge of his or her functions and duties under this rule:
50.24.2.1	if it comes to his or her notice that at any date the total of the balances shown on trust accounts in the accounting records of the firm exceeded the total amount of the funds in its trust banking account, its trust investment account and held by it as trust cash;
50.24.2.2	any material queries regarding the firm's accounting records which the auditor or inspector has raised with the firm have not been dealt with to his satisfaction;
50.24.2.3	any reasonable request made by the auditor or inspector for access to the firm's records or for any authority referred to in accounting rule 50.24 has not been met to his or her satisfaction;
50.24.3	state in his or her report in terms of accounting rule 50.24.1 that to the best of his or her belief:
50.24.3.1	the firm has not, during the period under review, carried on the business of an investment practice; or
50.24.3.2	the firm has carried on the business of an investment practice and has complied with these rules.
50.25.1	The Council may reject a report in terms of accounting rule 50.24 from an auditor or inspector whose appointment the Council has refused to recognise, as provided in accounting rule 50.20.1, or which is not in the prescribed format.
50.25.2	A copy of the report on the prescribed form required under accounting rule 50.24.1 and any report made in terms of accounting rule 50.24.2 shall be sent by the auditor or inspector to the firm concerned.
50.26	Where the Council is satisfied that it is not practicable to obtain the services of

accounting rule 50.24 such other evidence as it may deem sufficient.

an auditor or inspector for the issuing of a report as prescribed under accounting rule 50.24, it may in lieu thereof accept as compliance with the requirements of

- The Council may by notice to trust account practices amend the Schedule or the audit report form as may be required from time to time to report such information as may be required.
- A firm is obliged to report in the relevant sections of the accounting rule 51 report the gross interest earned and the gross charges levied in respect of trust accounts in terms of sections 86(1) or 86(3) or 86(4) of the Act, even if no claim in respect of bank charges is to be made.
- In order to qualify for the issue of a Fidelity Fund certificate, a trust account practitioner must ensure that an unqualified audit or inspector's report is issued in respect of any firm or firms of which he or she was a partner or director or sole practitioner during the financial period under review, and is delivered timeously to the Society.
- Where the audit or inspector's report in respect of the trust account of the firm is qualified by the auditor or inspector, as the case may be, the firm shall provide the Council with such information as the Council may require to satisfy itself that the firm's trust account is in good order, that the trust account practitioner remains fit and proper to continue to practise and that Fidelity Fund certificates may be issued to the members of the firm.

#### Closure of firm

- A trust account practitioner who practises for his or her own account and who intends to cease practising shall, before he or she so ceases to practice, provide the Council, in writing, with the following information:
- 50.31.1 notice of the trust account practitioner's intention to cease practising for his or her own account:
- 50.31.2 his or her future contact particulars, being his or her residential and business address, fax, e-mail and telephone details;
- 50.31.3 the steps to be taken to satisfy the Council that provision has been made for the effective winding up of his or her practice, both in respect of current files and archived files and in respect of accounting records;
- 50.31.4 the name, address and telephone number of his or her bookkeeper;

- 50.31.5 the status of the writing up of his or her accounting records by providing the Council with a copy of the latest trust reconciliation; 50.31.6 the name of the auditor or inspector who will be submitting the final audit report; 50.31.7 updated contact particulars for as the trust account practitioner remains on the roll. 50.32 A trust account practitioner shall be required to submit, within three months of the date that such practitioner ceases to practise: 50.32.1 an audit or inspector's report for any period for which an audit or review is outstanding, up to date of closure of the trust banking account; 50.32.2 a final list of trust creditors as at the date on which the trust account practitioner ceased to practise; 50.32.3 confirmation from the auditor or inspector that all trust creditors have been paid; 50.32.4 in the event of trust creditors being taken over by another firm, a list of trust creditors, signed by the trust account practitioner, after the auditor or inspector confirms that that list is correct, and signed by or on behalf of the partners of the firm taking over the trust creditors, confirming that they accept liability for claims of the trust creditors listed and that they have received the funds: 50.32.5 a certificate of nil balance from the trust account practitioner's bank confirming that the trust banking account has been closed.
- In the event of non-compliance with accounting rule 50.31 or 50.32, or if at any time the Council has reason to believe that adequate provision has not been made for the winding up of the practice or for the protection of the interests of clients' affairs, the Council may take such steps as it deems necessary to wind up the practice subject to the Council's being entitled to recover the reasonable expenses incurred and reasonable compensation for work done in connection therewith from the trust account practitioner concerned.

#### **Opening of practice**

- An office opened by a firm, which for the first time opens a practice within the jurisdiction of a Provincial Council, shall be designated as a main office of the firm in that jurisdiction, and the firm shall ensure that:
- 50.34.1 banking accounts for the firm are opened in that jurisdiction;
- 50.34.2 a separate set of accounting records is kept for the office.
- The Council may at any time inspect or cause to be inspected the accounting records of any firm to satisfy itself that the provisions of section 86 of the Act, read with these rules, have been or are being complied with. Such inspection may be conducted by the Council, or by an auditor or suitably qualified inspector appointed by the Council, or by the Fund at the request of the Council.

### Report of dishonest or irregular conduct

50.36 Unless prevented by law from doing so every trust account practitioner is required to report to the Council any dishonest or irregular conduct on the part of another trust account practitioner in relation to the handling of or accounting for trust money on the part of that other trust account practitioner.

50.37

#### **Investment Practice Rules**

#### **Definitions**

- A firm shall for the purpose of this rule be deemed to be carrying on the business of an investment practice if it invests funds on behalf of a client or clients and it controls or manages such investments, whether directly or indirectly.
- A client shall for the purpose of this investment practice rule include any person on whose behalf a firm invests funds or manages or controls investments, whether or not such person is otherwise a client of the firm concerned.
- 51.3 This investment practice rule shall not apply to:

- 51.3.1 investments made pursuant to section 86(4) of the Act, which are not transactions contemplated in investment practice rule 51.1;
- 51.3.2 any investment of a temporary nature that is made in the course of and incidental to a conveyancing or other matter, including litigation, to which the investing client is a party;
- 51.3.3 investments made by attorneys in their capacity as executors, trustees, curators or in any similar capacity in so far as such investments are governed by any other statutory enactment or regulation;
- 51.3.4 any investment (other than one referred to in investment practice rule 51.1) made with a bank in the name of that client alone and on the written instructions of that client.

#### **Mandates**

A firm carrying on an investment practice shall obtain an investment mandate from each client before or as soon as possible after investing funds for that client. The form of the investment mandate shall be substantially in the form of the Second Schedule to these rules, and shall contain a statement that the client acknowledges that moneys so invested do not enjoy the protection of the Fund.

#### Reports to clients in relation to investments

Every firm carrying on an investment practice shall report to its client in writing in terms of the client's investment mandate at least once every twelve months on income earned and capital movements during the period of the report. That report shall reflect all commission earned or other charges made by the firm in carrying out the mandate.

#### Accounting records for investment practices

51.6 Every firm carrying on an investment practice shall, in addition to its normal accounting records, also keep a separate trust account record and supporting documents in respect of each client, which record shall reflect:

- 51.6.1 payments of all monies entrusted to it from time to time by the client for investment pursuant to the mandate granted by the client in terms of investment practice rule 51.4;
- 51.6.2 payments of all monies invested by it on the client's behalf;
- 51.6.3 payments of all amounts, both capital and income, derived from investments and received for the client's account;
- 51.6.4 all payments made by it to the client in respect of the client's investments, and
- 51.6.5 all charges paid to the firm in respect of services rendered by it to the client pursuant to the client's mandate in terms of investment practice rule 51.4.
- The accounting records and other supporting documents referred to in investment practice rule 51.6 shall be retained by the firm in such manner as to enable it to furnish each client upon request with all current details of the client's investments as recorded in investment practice rule 51.6. Such accounting records, other supporting documents and systems shall be maintained in sufficient detail and be cross-referenced to the trust account records retained in respect of each client, in such a way as to provide an adequate and appropriate audit trail which will enable a particular transaction to be identified at any time and traced through the accounting records to the client. The system shall collect the information in an orderly manner and the accounting records and other supporting documents shall be properly arranged, filed and indexed so that any particular record can be promptly accessed. Where accounting records are maintained by means other than on paper, adequate facilities must exist for such records to be reproduced in printed form.
- All accounting records required to be retained in terms of investment practice rule 51.3 and copies of all reports dispatched in terms of rule 51.3 shall be retained for at least five years, unless there is statutory provision to the contrary, from the date of the last entry recorded in each particular book or other document of record, and shall be held at the same office as the firm's other accounting records.

#### **Pooling of investments**

- No firm may mix deposits in a pooled account or make other money market investments in any manner otherwise than by accepting funds as agent for each participating client and placing such funds with a bank in a savings account or on the money market on behalf of the client. The firm shall obtain from the bank an acknowledgement of receipt of each deposit or money market investment and such written receipts shall be retained by the firm as part of its accounting records.
- All monies received by a firm for investment with a bank shall be paid to such bank as soon as reasonably possible after receipt by the firm, having regard to matters such as whether a payment by cheque has been cleared with the issuing bank.

#### Restrictions applicable to certain investments

- 51.11 A firm may not invest on behalf of a client:
- 51.11.1 in shares or debentures in any company which is not listed on a licensed securities exchange in the Republic, unless it is a subsidiary of a listed company; or
- 51.11.2 in loans in respect of which, in the firm's reasonable opinion at the time of making the investment, there is no adequate security, unless the client's specific written authorisation for each such investment has first been obtained.

# Compliance with requirements of Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services FAIS Act.

51.12 Every firm carrying on an investment practice must comply with all the applicable requirements of the Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services Act, 37 of 2002 and the regulations thereunder.

Investment of funds by firms on behalf of persons, otherwise than in terms of investment practice rule 51

- 103
- A firm shall not invest any funds on behalf of any person otherwise than in accordance with the written instructions of that person, detailing the manner and form of the investment.
- 52.2 The written instructions referred to in rule 52.1:
- shall be obtained by the firm concerned before the investment is made, save that, in cases of urgency, the firm may obtain them as soon as possible thereafter and shall forthwith upon making the investment request the person concerned in writing to furnish it with such instructions, detailing in that request the manner and form of the investment;
- 52.2.2 may be incorporated in a written contract to which the person giving the instructions is a party.
- If the firm does not receive the written instructions to be obtained by it in terms of rule 52.2 within one month after its written request the firm shall forthwith notify the Council in writing and at the same time furnish the Council with copies of all relevant letters of request and responses, if any.

#### **General Provisions**

- Failure by a firm to comply with any of the provisions of the rules contained in Part XI of the rules shall constitute misconduct on the part of the partners or directors of the firm.
- An administrative levy in an amount to be determined by the Council from time to time shall be payable by all firms whose audit reports are not submitted within six months of the annual close of the accounting records of the firms concerned, as prescribed by accounting rule 50.24.
- It shall constitute misconduct, or an abuse or misuse of trust funds, for a trust account practitioner to enter into any abnormal or unusual banking arrangement in relation to trust accounts such as "no interest no charges" or to agree to or acquiesce in reduced interest or to increased charges in return for, or in the expectation or hope of, work allocated or referred to the trust account practitioner by the bank or corresponding advantages allowed by the bank to him or her in respect of his or her business or private accounts.

53.4 The Council shall be entitled to recover from any firm any expenditure incurred by the Council resulting from the firm's failure to comply with these accounting rules.

#### **PART XIII**

#### LEGAL PRACTITIONERS' FIDELITY FUND

#### 54. Compliance and Enforcement: Inspections

#### 54.1 Authority to conduct inspections

- The Board may at any time, itself or through its nominee, or through a nominee of the Council acting on behalf of the Board, and at its own cost and on its own initiative, inspect the accounting records of any trust account practice in order to satisfy itself that the provisions of sections 86 and 87 of the Act, and the Council rules, are being complied with.
- If on an inspection it is found that any of the provisions of sections 86 or 87, or the Council rules, have not been complied with, the Board may write up the accounting records of the trust account practice and recover the costs of the inspection and the writing up of the accounting records from the trust account practice concerned. If on an inspection it is found that any of the provisions of sections 86 or 87, or the Council rules, have not been complied with, the Board may write up the accounting records of the trust account practice and recover the costs of the inspection and the writing up of the accounting records from the trust account practice concerned.

# 54.2 Inspections

- 54.2.1 The Board may appoint any person in the service of the Board, or any other suitably qualified person, as an inspector to carry out inspections in terms of these rules.
- 54.2.2 The Board may determine the remuneration to be paid to a person who is appointed in terms of rule 54.2.1 and who is not in the full time service of the Board.

#### 54.3 **Certificate of appointment**

- 1	Λ	5
- 1	v	

54.3.1 The Board must issue an inspector contemplated in rule 54.2 (whether a person in the full time service of the Board or any other suitably qualified person) with a certificate of appointment signed by the chief executive officer of the Board, which certificate of appointment must specify -54.3.1.1 the full name of the person so appointed; 54.3.1.2 his or her identity number; 54.3.1.3 his or her signature; 54.3.1.4 a description of the capacity in which he or she is appointed; and 54.3.1.5 the extent of his or her powers to inspect. 54.3.2 When an inspector undertakes an inspection in terms of these rules the inspector must -54.3.2.1 be in possession of a certificate of appointment issued in terms of rule 54.3.1; and 54.3.2.2 on request, show that certificate to any person who is affected by the performance of the functions of the inspector, or is in charge of any premises or firm to be inspected. 54.4 **Conduct of inspections** 54.4.1 In carrying out the Board's functions in terms of these rules an inspector may at any reasonable time, and on reasonable notice where appropriate, enter and inspect any premises at which the Board reasonably believes that a trust account practice is being conducted. 54.4.2 In conducting such an inspection an inspector may -54.4.2.1 in writing direct a person to appear for questioning before the inspector at a time and place determined by the inspector; 54.4.2.2 order any person who has or had any document in his, her or its possession or under his, her or its control relating to the accounting records of the firm to produce that document or to furnish the

	inspector, at the place and in a manner determined by the inspector, with information in respect of that document;
54.4.2.3	open any strongroom, safe or other container, or order any person to open any strongroom, safe or other container, in which the inspector suspects any document relevant to the inspection is kept;
54.4.2.4	use any computer system or equipment on the premises, or require reasonable assistance from any person on the premises to use that computer system, to access any data contained in or available to that computer system, and to reproduce any document from that data;
54.4.2.5	examine or make extracts from, or copy, any document in the possession of the firm or any other person which is relevant to the inspection or, against the issue of a receipt, remove that document temporarily for that purpose; and
54.4.2.6	against the issue of a receipt, seize any document obtained in terms of 54.4.2.3 to 54.4.2.5 which, in the opinion of the inspector, may constitute evidence of non-compliance with the provisions of sections 86 and 87 of the Act or of the rules.
54.4.3	A firm to whom this Act applies must, without delay, provide reasonable assistance to an inspector acting in terms of rule 54.4.
54.4.4	No warrant is required for the purposes of an inspection in terms of these rules.
54.4.5	An inspector may at any time request the firm to provide to the Board such additional information or documentation relating to the subject matter of the inspection.
54.5	The inspection procedure
54.5.1	The procedure for an inspection will be determined on a case-by-case basis by the inspector.
54.5.2	An inspection may be conducted by one or more inspectors. Where more

than one inspector is engaged in an inspection, one of the inspectors will

be designated as the lead inspector who will take overall responsibility for the conduct of the inspection.

- Any request for the firm to produce documentation for purposes of inspection must be in writing, unless the purpose of the inspection, in the reasonable opinion of the inspector, would be frustrated by the giving of notice.
- 54.5.4 All inspections must be conducted so as to cause as little inconvenience and disruption to the firm and its staff as possible.
- 54.5.5 The inspection should be conducted only during normal business hours, unless the inspector reasonably considers that the conducting of an inspection at any other time is necessary on the grounds of urgency or expediency.
- Not less than seven days' notice in writing shall be given to the firm of any inspection; provided that where the inspector has a reasonable suspicion that there has been a contravention of the Act or of the Council rules, or that the purpose of the inspection may be frustrated by the giving of notice, the inspection may be conducted without notice.
- Only the inspector, and such other officials of the Board as may be reasonably necessary to carry out the inspection, should enter the premises of the firm during the course of the inspection. The person in charge of the firm, or a person nominated by him or her, shall be entitled to be present and to observe all aspects of the inspection, but the failure of that person to be present at the inspection shall not prevent the inspector from proceeding with the inspection.
- If an inspector, after having identified himself or herself and declared his or her official capacity and the purpose for requiring admission to the premises of the firm and having complied with any other reasonable requirements, is not immediately given admission to the premises, the Board may apply to court for an order that the inspector be admitted to the premises to enable the inspection to be carried out.

54.5.9	The firm which is the subject of the inspection shall make such facilities available to the inspector as may reasonably be required for the purpose of conducting the inspection.
54.5.10	Any request for information or documentation which is not immediately available for inspection must be in writing and must allow the firm a reasonable time to comply with the request. Any such request -
54.5.10.1	must describe with reasonable particularity each item or category of items to be inspected;
54.5.10.2	must specify a reasonable time, place and manner for inspection and for performing any related acts; and
54.5.10.3	in the case of electronically stored information, must specify the form in which that information is to be produced.
54.5.11	If the firm which is the subject of an inspection objects to making disclosure of documentation or information which is called for by the inspector, the firm must set out its objection in writing, with detailed grounds of the objection, and the matter shall be determined by the chief executive officer of the Board.
54.5.12	Unless otherwise stipulated or ordered by a court, the following procedures shall apply to producing documents or electronically stored information:
54.5.12.1	the firm must produce documents as they are kept in the normal and ordinary course of business, or must otherwise organise and label the documents to correspond to the categories in the request;
54.5.12.2	if the request for information does not specify a form for producing electronically stored information, the firm must produce the information in a form or forms in which it is ordinarily maintained or in a reasonably usable form; and
54.5.12.3	the firm may not be required to produce the same electronically stored information in more than one form.

- 54.5.13 The Board may request the firm which is subject to the inspection to complete a pre-inspection questionnaire to allow for more efficient planning and conducting of the inspection.
- At the conclusion of the inspection the inspector must prepare a report to the Board on the findings of the inspection, a copy of which report must be made available to the firm which was subject to the inspection. If the firm objects to any of the findings in the report it must do so in writing to the Board, outlining the basis of the objection. The Board shall consider the objections and shall take such further action in relation thereto as the Board considers appropriate.
- 54.5.15 The Board may in its discretion refer the inspection report to the Council for consideration. The firm which is the subject of the report shall be notified of such referral.
- 54.5.16 Any report of an inspection may, if appropriate, be used in disciplinary or criminal proceedings which may be brought against members of the firm.

# 54.6 **Duty to cooperate**

- 54.6.1 Every firm, and every partner or director of the firm, and every trust account advocate, must cooperate with the Board in the performance of any inspection in terms of these rules. Without limiting the generality of this provision, cooperation shall include cooperating with and complying with any lawful request, made in pursuance of the Board's authority and responsibilities under the Act -
- 54.6.1.1 to provide access to, and the ability to copy, any accounting record in the possession, custody or control of the firm or of that person; and
- 54.6.1.2 provide information by oral interviews, written responses or otherwise.
- any person who refuses or fails to produce a book, document or any article for purposes of an inspection, or obstructs or hinders any person in the performance of his or her functions in conducting the investigation, is guilty of an offence.

54.6.2 The Board will not be liable for any costs incurred by the firm arising out of an inspection in terms of these rules, otherwise than in exceptional circumstances.

## 54.7 **Confidentiality**

Subject to any other law, any person who performs any function under these rules may not disclose any information which he or she obtained in the performance of that function except -

- 54.7.1 for the purposes of an inspection or hearing by a disciplinary body of the Council:
- 54.7.2 to any person authorised thereto by the Board or the Council who of necessity requires it for the performance of his or her functions under the Act or these rules:
- 54.7.3 if he or she is a person who of necessity supplies it in the performance of his or her functions under the Act or under these rules;
- 54.7.4 when required to do so by order of a court of law;
- 54.7.5 at the written request of the Legal Services Ombud for the Republic; or
- 54.7.6 at the written request of the National Prosecuting Authority or any competent authority which requires it for the institution of an investigation with a view to the institution of any criminal prosecution.

# Obligations to provide information and documentation not affected by confidentiality rules

Subject to the provisions of any other law, a firm, or the person in charge of the firm, or any person nominated by him or her, may not refuse to produce any book, document or article required for purposes of an inspection under these rules, even though he or she is of the opinion that it contains confidential information belonging to or concerning his or her client. Contributions to the fund: insurance premiums

#### 55. Contributions to the fund: insurance premiums

- Every attorney who is required to be in possession of a fidelity fund certificate, and every advocate contemplated in section 34(2)(b) of the Act, shall pay annually to the Council, on behalf of the Fund, such amount as the Board shall determine as a contribution to the Fund towards the cost of the premiums payable by the Fund in respect of contracts of insurance entered into in terms of section 77 of the Act.
- The annual contributions payable in terms of rule 3.1 shall be payable by not later than 30 November in every year commencing in the year to be determined by the Board; provided that any practitioner enrolled after 30 June in any year shall pay only one-half of the annual fee for the year then current, payable within thirty days of enrolment.
- The Board shall, not later than the last day of September in every year, cause to be sent to every legal practitioner who is obliged in terms of section 84(1) of the Act to be in possession of a fidelity fund certificate, by electronic on-line transmission to that legal practitioner's electronic mail address (or by pre-paid post to the postal address of that legal practitioner, or by delivery to that legal practitioner's business address, where the legal practitioner has not provided the Council with an email address) an invoice in respect of the contribution to be made by the legal practitioner in respect of the year following.
- The failure on the part of a legal practitioner to receive an invoice in respect of the contribution shall not relieve the legal practitioner of his or her obligation to make payment of the contribution as required by rule 55.1.

# 56. Issuing and costs of fidelity fund certificate

Subject to the payment of all contributions payable by a legal practitioner for the issue of a fidelity fund certificate, as required by rule 55.1, and upon receipt of the costs payable to the Council for the issue of the fidelity fund certificate, as determined from time to time by the Council in consultation with the Board, and as notified by the Council in the *Gazette*, and subject to the Council's being satisfied as to the matters dealt with in the application for the fidelity fund

certificate, the Board shall cause the Council to issue a fidelity fund certificate to the applicant.

A fidelity fund certificate shall be in the form of Schedule 2A to these rules (in the case of attorneys) and Schedulee 2B to these rules (in the case of advocates referred to in section 34(2)(b) of the Act), and shall be signed by an authorised official on behalf of the Council, and the production of such a certificate purporting to be so signed shall be prima facie evidence of its contents.

#### 57. Procedure for the appointment of the executive officer and other employees

- 57.1 The Board must appoint an executive officer to carry out the functions referred to in section 63(2) of the Act, and such other employees as it deems necessary to assist the executive officer.
- 57.2 The procedure for the appointment of the executive officer shall be as follows:
- 57.2.1 the Board shall advertise the vacancy for an executive officer in such media and in such manner as the Board shall determine;
- 57.2.2 the advertisement shall state the criteria to be considered by the Board in appointing the executive officer;
- 57.2.3 the advertisement calling for applications shall state the date by which applications should be received, and shall include a statement that applications received after that date will not be considered;
- after the closing date the Board, or a committee of the Board established for that purpose, shall review the applications and arrange to interview those of the applicants which the Board or the committee, as the case may be, considers to be suitable for the position of executive officer; provided that if the Board or the committee, as the case may be, considers that none of the applicants is suitable for the position the Board shall again advertise for the vacancy, and the provisions of rules 57.2.1 to 57.2.4 shall again apply.
- 57.2.5 If, after following the procedure referred to in this rule 57.2, the Board appoints a candidate to fill the office of executive officer it shall enter into a

written agreement with the individual setting out the terms and conditions of the appointment.

- 57.3 Nothing in these rules shall be construed -
- 57.3.1 as requiring the Board to appoint any of the applicants for the vacancy; or
- 57.3.2 as prohibiting an existing employee of the Board from applying for the position of executive officer.
- 57.4 The procedure for the appointment of other employees of the Board shall be determined by the Board.
- 57.5 The need for the staff of the Board to reflect -
- 57.5.1 the racial and gender composition of South Africa; and
- 57.5.2 representation of persons with disabilities

must as far as practicable be considered when the executive officer and other employees of the Board are appointed.

57.6 The Board must determine the conditions of service of the executive officer and other employees of the Board.

Schedule 1A (Part A) (Rule 16.12.4)

#### Provincial Council of [•]

### **Ballot Paper - Attorneys**

# (for use in elections for all Provincial Councils except for the Gauteng Provincial Council)

Every attorney who is on the roll of practising attorneys and who practises within the area of jurisdiction of the Provincial Council may vote for a maximum of six candidates from the candidates listed below. Please note, however, that in order to achieve an appropriate balance of race and gender in relation to the composition of the Provincial Council, and subject to the availability of candidates, the following individuals will constitute the six attorneys who will serve as members of the Provincial Council:

- 1. the two black women<sup>1</sup> with the highest number of votes in this category;
- 2. the two black men with the highest number of votes in this category;
- 3. the white woman with the highest number of votes in this category;
- 4. the white man with the highest number of votes in this category.

A short profile of each candidate is available at www.lpc.co.za.

Α

В

C

D

Е

. G

Black is used as defined in section 1 of the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act 53 of 2003, read with the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Amendment Act 46 of 2013 as a generic term which means Africans, Coloureds and Indians who are citizens of the Republic of South Africa by birth or descent, or who became citizens of the Republic of South Africa by naturalisation before 27 April 1994 or on or after 27 April 1994 and who would have been entitled to acquire citizenship by naturalisation prior to that date and such other persons as may be categorised as black persons for purposes of that legislation.

115

When voting, please take into account the following considerations in relation to the constitution of the Provincial Council:

- (a) the racial and gender composition of South Africa;
- (b) representation of persons with disabilities; and
- (c) experience and knowledge of-
  - (i) the provision of legal services;
  - (ii) the principles of promoting access to justice;
  - (iii) legal education and training;
  - (iv) consumer affairs;
  - (v) civil and criminal proceedings and the functioning of the courts and tribunals in general;
  - (vi) the maintenance of professional standards of persons who provide legal services;
  - (vii) the handling of complaints; and
  - (viii) competition law.

Final Rules - The South African Legal Practice Council 19\_01\_2018.docx 19/01/2018

Schedule 1A (Part B) (Rule 16.12.4)

#### **Provincial Council of Gauteng**

# **Ballot Paper - Attorneys**

(only for use in elections for the Gauteng Provincial Council)

Every attorney who is on the roll of practising attorneys and who practises within the area of jurisdiction of the Provincial Council may vote for a maximum of eight candidates from the candidates listed below. Please note, however, that in order to achieve an appropriate balance of race and gender in relation to the composition of the Provincial Council, and subject to the availability of candidates, the following individuals will constitute the eight attorneys who will serve as members of the Provincial Council:

- 1. the two black women<sup>2</sup> with the highest number of votes in this category;
- 2. the two black men with the highest number of votes in this category;
- 3. the two white women with the highest number of votes in this category;
- 4. the two white men with the highest number of votes in this category.

A short profile of each candidate is available at www.lpc.co.za.

Α

В

C

D

Ε

F

G

Black is used as defined in section 1 of the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act 53 of 2003, read with the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Amendment Act 46 of 2013 as a generic term which means Africans, Coloureds and Indians who are citizens of the Republic of South Africa by birth or descent, or who became citizens of the Republic of South Africa by naturalisation before 27 April 1994 or on or after 27 April 1994 and who would have been entitled to acquire citizenship by naturalisation prior to that date and such other persons as may be categorised as black persons for purposes of that legislation.

117

#### Н

When voting, please take into account the following considerations in relation to the constitution of the Provincial Council:

- (a) the racial and gender composition of South Africa;
- (b) representation of persons with disabilities; and
- (c) experience and knowledge of-
  - (i) the provision of legal services;
  - (ii) the principles of promoting access to justice;
  - (iii) legal education and training;
  - (iv) consumer affairs;
  - (v) civil and criminal proceedings and the functioning of the courts and tribunals in general;
  - (vi) the maintenance of professional standards of persons who provide legal services;
  - (vii) the handling of complaints; and
  - (viii) competition law.

Final Rules - The South African Legal Practice Council 19\_01\_2018.docx 19/01/2018

Schedule 1B (Part A) (Rule 16.12.4)

#### Provincial Council of [•]

### **Ballot Paper - Advocates**

# (for use in elections for all Provincial Councils except for the Gauteng Provincial Council)

Every advocate who is on the roll of practising advocates and who practises within the area of jurisdiction of the Provincial Council may vote for a maximum of four candidates from the candidates listed below. Please note, however, that in order to achieve an appropriate balance of race and gender in relation to the composition of the Provincial Council, and subject to the availability of candidates, the following individuals will constitute the four advocates who will serve as members of the Provincial Council:

- 1. the black woman<sup>3</sup> with the highest number of votes in this category;
- 2. the black man with the highest number of votes in this category;
- 3. the white woman with the highest number of votes in this category;
- 4. the white man with the highest number of votes in this category.

A short profile of each candidate is available at www.lpc.co.za.

Α

В

С

D

Ε

F

G

Black is used as defined in section 1 of the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act 53 of 2003, read with the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Amendment Act 46 of 2013 as a generic term which means Africans, Coloureds and Indians who are citizens of the Republic of South Africa by birth or descent, or who became citizens of the Republic of South Africa by naturalisation before 27 April 1994 or on or after 27 April 1994 and who would have been entitled to acquire citizenship by naturalisation prior to that date and such other persons as may be categorised as black persons for purposes of that legislation.

119

When voting, please take into account the following considerations in relation to the constitution of the Provincial Council:

- (a) the racial and gender composition of South Africa;
- (b) representation of persons with disabilities; and
- (c) experience and knowledge of-
  - (i) the provision of legal services;
  - (ii) the principles of promoting access to justice;
  - (iii) legal education and training;
  - (iv) consumer affairs;
  - (v) civil and criminal proceedings and the functioning of the courts and tribunals in general;
  - (vi) the maintenance of professional standards of persons who provide legal services;
  - (vii) the handling of complaints; and
  - (viii) competition law.

Schedule 1B (Part B) (Rule 16.12.4)

#### **Provincial Council of Gauteng**

#### **Ballot Paper - Advocates**

# (only for use in elections for the Gauteng Provincial Council)

Every advocate who is on the roll of practising advocates and who practises within the area of jurisdiction of the Provincial Council may vote for a maximum of four candidates from the candidates listed below. Please note, however, that in order to achieve an appropriate balance of race and gender in relation to the composition of the Provincial Council, and subject to the availability of candidates, the following individuals will constitute the four advocates who will serve as members of the Provincial Council:

- the black woman⁴ with the highest number of votes in this category; the black man with the highest number of votes in this category;
- 2. the white woman with the highest number of votes in this category;
- 3. the white man with the highest number of votes in this category.

A short profile of each candidate is available at www.lpc.co.za.

Α

В

C

D

Ε

F

G

Black is used as defined in section 1 of the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act 53 of 2003, read with the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Amendment Act 46 of 2013 as a generic term which means Africans, Coloureds and Indians who are citizens of the Republic of South Africa by birth or descent, or who became citizens of the Republic of South Africa by naturalisation before 27 April 1994 or on or after 27 April 1994 and who would have been entitled to acquire citizenship by naturalisation prior to that date and such other persons as may be categorised as black persons for purposes of that legislation.

121

When voting, please take into account the following considerations in relation to the constitution of the Provincial Council:

- (a) the racial and gender composition of South Africa;
- (b) representation of persons with disabilities; and
- (c) experience and knowledge of-
  - (i) the provision of legal services;
  - (ii) the principles of promoting access to justice;
  - (iii) legal education and training;
  - (iv) consumer affairs;
  - (v) civil and criminal proceedings and the functioning of the courts and tribunals in general;
  - (vi) the maintenance of professional standards of persons who provide legal services;
  - (vii) the handling of complaints; and
  - (viii) competition law.

Schedule 2 (Rule 21.1.2.1)

# **Form of Practical Vocational Training Contract**

	al vocational training contract entered into at on this
	day of
	, an attorney of the
•	court of South Africa (hereinafter referred to as the principal) and born on (hereinafter referred to as the
	ate attorney).
1. T	he candidate attorney undertake -
1.1	to serve the principal diligently, honestly and properly in his or her profession as an attorney from the date hereof for such period as may be determined by regulation, and during that period to maintain confidentiality in all matters relating to the business of the principal;
1.2	to execute, at all times, all lawful instructions given to him or her by the principal or any partner of the principal or any person placed in authority over the candidate attorney by the principal or any partner of the principal;
1.3	not to absent himself or herself from his or her employment by the principal without the principal's prior consent;
1.4	subject to any applicable rule or regulation, not to engage in any business whatsoever other than that of a candidate attorney without the written consent of the principal and the Legal Practice Council;
2. T	he principal undertakes -
2.1	to use his or her best efforts to teach and instruct the candidate attorney in the

provided the candidate attorney has served his or her period under this contract properly and is in the principal's opinion a fit and proper person for admission, to

practice and profession of an attorney;

2.2

use his or her best efforts to procure the admission and enrolment of the candidate attorney as an attorney of the High Court of South Africa.

- Should the principal discontinue his or her practice he or she shall not thereafter be bound by this contract but shall, if requested by the candidate attorney, cede this contract to another qualified principal.
- 4. Should the candidate attorney:
- 4.1 not serve the period of service properly in terms of this contract;
- 4.2 commit a breach of any of the terms of this contract; or
- 4.3 be guilty of any misconduct

the principal will be entitled to cancel this contract and dismiss the candidate attorney from his or her employment.

Signed on	20
As witnesses:	
1	Principal
2	Candidate Attorney

Final Rules - The South African Legal Practice Council 19\_01\_2018.docx 19/01/2018

> Schedule 3 (Rule 21.2.2.1)

	Form of Practical Vocational Training Contract
	al vocational training contract entered into at
	Court of South Africa (hereinafter referred to as the training supervisor and
1. T	he pupil undertakes -
1.1	to undergo training under the supervision of the training supervisor diligently honestly and properly from the date hereof for such period as may be determined by regulation, and during that period to maintain confidentiality in all matters relating to the business of the training supervisor
1.2	to execute, at all times, all lawful instructions given to him or her by the training supervisor or any person placed in authority over the pupil by the training supervisor;
1.3	subject to any applicable rule or regulation not to engage in any business whatsoever other than that of a pupil without the written consent of the training supervisor and the Legal Practice Council;
2. T	he training supervisor undertakes -
2.1	to use his or her best efforts to teach and instruct the pupil in the practice and profession of an advocate;

- 2.2 provided the pupil has served his or her period under this contract properly and is in the training supervisor's opinion a fit and proper person for admission, to training supervisor use his or her best efforts to procure the admission and enrolment of the pupil as an advocate of the High Court of South Africa.

- Should the training supervisor discontinue his or her practice or otherwise cease to qualify to act as a training supervisor he or she shall not thereafter be bound by this contract but shall, if requested by the pupil, cede this contract to another qualified training supervisor;
- 4.1 not serve the period of service properly in terms of this contract;
  4.2 commit a breach of any of the terms of this contract; or
- 4.3 be guilty of any misconduct,

4.

Should the pupil:

then the training supervisor will be entitled to cancel this contract.

Signed on	
As witnesses:	
1	Training supervisor
2	

Pupil

Final Rules - The South African Legal Practice Council 19\_01\_2018.docx 19/01/2018

Schedule 4 (Rule 42.1)

# **LEGAL PRACTICE COUNCIL**

# Form of Subpoena

(issued in terms of section 39(3) of the Legal Practice Act, 2014)

То:					
Name	:				
Physical address	:				
You are hereby requ	ired to a	appear in person at			
	on	2	0XXat		(time)
-	-	mittee in the matter of the contract of the contract of 1014), in relation	_		
•		in attendance until in regard to the matte	-		nmittee in
You are also required hereunder.	d to brin	g with you, and then p	produce, the doc	uments specified	d in the list
List of documents t	o be pr	oduced			
					, <b></b>
Given under the hand	d of the	disciplinary committee	e on		20XX
Capacity	<del></del>	<del></del>			

Schedule 5 (Rule 45.2)

#### **The Legal Practice Council**

#### **Complaint of misconduct**

A person wishing to complain against the conduct of a legal practitioner, a candidate legal practitioner or a juristic entity must initiate the process by completing this document, signing it before a Commissioner of Oaths and lodging the original with the Council at the following address:

[Insert address of the appropriate Provincial Council] or by prepaid post to [insert postal address of the Provincial Council]

In this document a reference to a "legal practitioner" is a reference to a legal practitioner, a candidate legal practitioner or a juristic entity, as the context requires.

#### \* PLEASE QUOTE OUR REFERENCE NUMBER AT ALL TIMES \*

#### Please complete the document in print or typing

Please note that it is your duty to inform the Legal Practice Council of any change in your address or particulars after this complaint has been lodged.

1.	COMPLAINANT'S DETAILS
Full name and surname	
Identity number	
Home address and code:	
Postal address and code:	
E-mail address:	
Telephone number/s:	
Your Employer:	

This gazette is also available free online at www.gpwonline.co.za

127

Work Address:	
Employer's telephone number:	
2. LE	GAL PRACTIONER'S DETAILS
Full name and surname	
Where is the legal practitioner	
practising?	
If the legal practitioner is an	
attorney, the name of the firm of	
attorneys where the attorney is	
practising.	
3. D	ETAILS OF YOUR COMPLAINT
On which date did you instruct the	
legal practitioner?	
What was the nature of your	
instruction to the legal practitioner?	
ie what did you ask the legal	
practitioner to do for you?	
When last did you hear from or	
consult with your legal practitioner?	
Was there a written letter of	
engagement?	
If so, please provide a copy.	Annexure:
4. N	ATURE OF YOUR COMPLAINT
Into which of the fo	llowing categories does your complaint fall?
Failure to account for money	
Failure to respond to communication	ations
Failure to deal properly with you	r instructions
Fees and costs	
Other	-

**NATURE OF THE WORK** 

Final Rules - The South African Legal Practice Council 19\_01\_2018.docx 19/01/2018

Third party/motor vehicle accidence claim

5.

129

	Deceased estate	
	Property transaction	
	Divorce proceedings	
	Criminal proceedings	
		mplaint does not fall within any of the above categories
(Us	se a separate schedule if the space	e is insufficient)
6	FURTHER DETA	ILS OF YOUR COMPLAINT
Dic	I the legal practitioner send you	
you	u any letters after your	
ins	tructions to him/her? (If you are	
in p	possession of such letters, please	
end	close only the letters relevant	
to	your complaint.	Annexure/s:
Р	Please state point by point why y	ou are unhappy with the legal practitioner? In what way
	did he/she fail to	do the work you expected to be done?
(Us	se a separate schedule if the space	e is insufficient)

Final Rules - The South African Legal Practice Council 19\_01\_2018.docx 19/01/2018

Please note that this document may be furnished to the legal practitioner. You are cautioned against making any potentially defamatory allegations against the legal practitioner, as you could expose yourself to a civil claim for damages by the legal practitioner

131

LOGO

Schedule 6A (Rule 47.6)

# **LEGAL PRACTITIONERS' FIDELITY FUND**

#### FIDELITY FUND CERTIFICATE

for the year ending 31 December [•]

Pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 6 of the

Legal Practice Act, 28 of 2014 (the Act)

I hereby certify that

# [NAME OF LEGAL PRACTITIONER]

an attorney

of

# [NAME OF FIRM]

has complied with the provisions of Section 85 of the Act

in respect of the year ending 31 December [•]

for Executive Officer

Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund Issued on [●]

**LOGO** 

Schedule 6B (Rule 47.6)

# **LEGAL PRACTITIONERS' FIDELITY FUND**

#### FIDELITY FUND CERTIFICATE

for the year ending 31 December [•]

Pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 6 of the

Legal Practice Act, 28 of 2014 (the Act)

I hereby certify that

# [NAME OF LEGAL PRACTITIONER]

an advocate as contemplated in section 34(2)(b) of the Act has complied with the provisions of Section 85 of the Act in respect of the year ending 31 December [•]

for Executive Officer	

Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund

Issued on [●]

133

Schedule 7A (Rule 49)

# **LEGAL PRACTITIONERS' FIDELITY FUND**

# APPLICATION FOR FUND CERTIFICATE IN TERMS OF THE LEGAL PRACTICE ACT, 2014 (ACT NO. 28 OF 2014) FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31 DECEMBER 20\_\_\_\_

#### **APPLICATION FORM FOR ATTORNEYS**

PLEASE COMPLETE IN BLOCK LETTERS

<b>GENERAL</b>	INFORMATION

1.	Full names of the applicant:							
	Identity number:							
	Practitioner reference number:							
2.	Name under which practice will be carried on ("the firm"). If the practice is incorporated give the full name and registration number:							
	Firm classification (sole practitioner, partnership, incorporated practice):  Firm practice reference number:							
	Company number:							
3.	Physical address at which practice will be carried on (i.e. principal place of practice)							
	Province:							
4.	Contact details:							
	Postal							
	address:							

	Residential address:						
	Docex address (if applicable):						
	Telephone (business): (home):						
	(fax): (e-mail):						
5.	Any other physical address at which practice will be carried on, including province:						
	Province:						
	Name of practitioner in control:						
6.	Full names of partners or co-directors, if any:						
7.	If no Fidelity Fund Certificate has been obtained for the current year, state date or which the applicant will begin to practise for own account or in partnership or as a member of an incorporated practice:						
8.	If applicant ceased to practise for own account, or in partnership or as member of ar incorporated practice, and intends to resume practising, state:						
	Name and address of former practice:						
	Province:						
	When applicant ceased to practise:						
	DITIONAL INFORMATION REQUIRED BY THE LEGAL PRACTITIONERS' FIDELITY FUND RISK MANAGEMENT AND ANALYSIS						
9.	Registration number with the Financial Intelligence Centre (attach proof):						
10.	Appointed auditor: Practice registration number:						
	Firm						
	name:						

- 1	35
-----	----

	Dhariad
	Physical
	address:
	Postal
	address:
	Telephone (business): (fax):
	E-mail address:
11.	The firm participated <i>I</i> did not participate in the automated monthly transfer system for
	the period from20 to20
12.	The firm provides bridging finance to clients: YES / NO.
13.	The firm carried on the business of an investment practice during the year: YES / NO.
	If yes, the investment practice registration in terms of the Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services Act, No. 37 of 2002, with the Financial Services Board is:
14.	The practice purchased / did not purchase -
14.1	insurance cover to protect against the possibility of misappropriation of trust money and property;
14.2	professional indemnity insurance cover.
	If such insurance was acquired, state in each case the extent of the cover, the name of the insurer and the policy number.
15.	The legal practitioner is required to complete and return the attached risk questionnaire for analysis and risk management by the Attorneys Insurance Indemnity

#### **FINANCIAL INFORMATION**

Fund.

16. If We as the practitioner(s) I partner(s) I director(s) is I are responsible for ensuring that the attorneys' trust accounts are maintained in compliance with the provisions of the Legal Practice Act and the rules of the Legal Practice Council. The practitioner(s) I partner(s) / director(s) is I are responsible for the design, implementation and

monitoring of accounting and internal control systems and the completion of the risk assessment of the firm.

- 16.1 I / We, confirm that I / we have maintained the necessary accounting records as required in terms of sections 87(1) and 87(3) of the Legal Practice Act, No. 28 of 2014 and the rules of the Legal Practice Council for the accounting period from 1 October 20\_\_\_\_\_ to 30 September 20\_\_\_\_.
- 16.2 I /We certify that:
- the accounting records, to the best of my *I* our knowledge and belief, are in accordance with the terms of the Legal Practice Act, No. 28 of 2014, and the rules of the Legal Practice Council;
- 16.2.2 any trust deficit was reported to the Council;
- the interest earned in terms of sections 86(5) of the Legal Practice Act was paid to the Council in full on a monthly basis;
- the annual fees and charges are fully paid up.
- the State the amount (as per the bank statement) standing to the credit of the firm's trust banking account(s) and the amount of trust monies invested by the applicant's firm at the end of each quarter of this year, per financial institution.

Balance standing to	(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)	(F)	
the credit of the firm's trust banking	Section 86(1)	Section 86(3)	Section 86(4)	Invest- ments	Estates	Property	Total
account(s)							
Currency							
31 December 20							
31 March 20							
30 June 20							
30 September 20							
TOTAL TRUST							

Trust banking account details	(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)
account details	Section 86(1)	Section 86(3)	Section 86(4)	Invest- ments	Estates

Bank:			
Branch:			
Branch code:			
Account number:			
Credit interest rate: - at 31March - at 30 Sept			

Balance standing	(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)	(F)	
to the credit of the firm's trust banking account(s)	Section 86(1)	Section 86(3)	Section 86(4)	Invest- ments	Estates	Property	Total
Bank service fee							

## 16.4 Analysis of section 86(4) investments by category at 30 September 20\_\_:

Category	Distribution	Duration(average number of months)
Conveyancing	%	months
Commercial	%	months
litigation	%	months
Road Accident Fund	%	months
Investments	%	months
Estates	%	months
Other: (Specify)		
	%	months
TOTAL	100%	

- I hereby authorise the above bank/s to provide the Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund with details of any changes to, and to certify, the above information, from time to time, as requested by the Fund.
- I hereby authorise the Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund to negotiate with my bankers the terms relating to interest accruing on, and bank charges levied against, my trust current banking account(s).

SIGNED ON THIS DAY OF 20 AT
IN THE PRESENCE OF THE UNDERSIGNED WITNESSES:
AS WITNESSES:

138 Final Rules - The South African Legal Practice Council 19\_01\_2018.docx 19/01/2018 2. SIGNATURE OF APPLICANT

#### **GUIDELINES FOR COMPLETING THIS FORM**

This form must be completed in advance for the coming year.

The form should be submitted by, 1 December of each year for a certificate in respect of the following year.

If commencing practice for the first time the application will be in respect of the current year.

The information requested in this application form will, inter alia, be used by the Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund to provide statistics for risk management, risk profiling and reinsurance programmes.

- Item 16.3: The amount (as per bank statements) standing to the credit of the firm's trust banking account, the amount of trust moneys invested by the applicant's firm, estate accounts and other entrusted property.
  - A Insert the balance standing to the credit of the trust current banking account as per the bank statement as at the end of each quarter. If there is more than one trust account, add the balances together and enter the result in A for each quarter.
  - B Insert the total of the amounts invested in terms of section 86(3) in B for each quarter.
  - C Insert the total of the amounts invested in terms of section 86(4) in C for each quarter. On this type of investment the interest generated is payable to the practitioner's client(s), and to the Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund in terms of section 86(5)(b).
  - D Insert the total of the amounts invested in terms of the Council's investment rules in D for each quarter.
  - E Insert the total amount held in respect of estates in terms of section 87(3)(c) of the Act in E for each quarter.
  - F Insert the value of any other entrusted property in terms of section 55(1) of the Act, in F for each quarter.

Use annexures if there is more than one account and financial institution.

For trust funds denominated in any foreign currency, provide a separate annexure in the same format noting the currency.

#### Trust current banking account details:

- (a) Enter name of bank.
- (b) Enter name of branch.
- (c) Enter branch code.
- (d) Enter bank account number.
- (e) Enter the credit interest rate applied to the account as at the dates specified. These dates relate to the current year. If the rates are not shown on the bank statements, practitioners should contact their bank managers to get the correct information. If the rate fluctuates depending on the size of the balance in the account, indicate the rate on balances in excess of R100 000.
- (f) The bank service fee formula must be entered as at 30 September of the current year. The service fee formula is normally printed on the bank statement in the following way:

\_\_\_/\_\_/

The first 3 digits are the charge for the first R100 of each cheque issued, expressed in cents.

The next 3 digits are the charge for each additional R100 of each cheque issued.

The last 3 or 4 digits are the maximum charge per cheque issued.

Use annexures if space is insufficient and for information on multiple accounts.

Item 16.4: You are required to provide your own assessment of the nature of section 86(4) trust investments at 30 September, expressed as a percentage, and the average duration of each type of investment.

Insert percentages to indicate the nature of section 86(4) trust investments.

Also insert the average duration of each investment type.

141

Schedule 7B (Rule 49)

#### **LEGAL PRACTITIONERS' FIDELITY FUND**

# APPLICATION FOR FUND CERTIFICATE IN TERMS OF THE LEGAL PRACTICE ACT, 2014 (ACT NO. 28 OF 2014) FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31 DECEMBER 20\_\_\_\_

## APPLICATION FORM FOR ADVOCATES referred to in section 34(2)(b) of the Act

PLEASE COMPLETE IN BLOCK LETTERS

GEN	NERAL	IN	IFOR	MAT	ION

1.	Full names of the applicant:						
	Identity number:						
	Practitioner reference number:						
2.	Physical address at which practice will be carried on (i.e. principle place of practice)						
	Province:						
3.	Contact details:						
	Postal address:						
	Residential address:						
	Docex address if applicable):						
	Telephone (business): (home):						
	(fax): (e-mail):						
4.	Any other physical address at which practice will be carried on, including province:						
	Province:						
5.	If no Fidelity Fund Certificate has been obtained for the current year, state date o which the applicant will begin to practise:						
6.	If applicant ceased to practise, and intends to resume practising, state:						
	Name and address of former practice:						

	Province:
	When applicant ceased to practise:
	ITIONAL INFORMATION REQUIRED BY THE LEGAL PRACTITIONERS' FIDELITY FUND RISK MANAGEMENT AND ANALYSIS
7.	Registration number with the Financial Intelligence Centre (attach proof):
8.	Appointed auditor: Practice registration number:
	Firm name:
	Physical address:
	Postal address:
	Telephone (business):(fax):
	E-mail address:
9.	The applicant participated <i>I</i> did not participate in the automated monthly transfer system for the period from 20 to 20
10.	The applicant provides bridging finance to clients: YES / NO.
11.	The applicant carried on the business of an investment practice during the year: YES <i>I</i> NO.
	If yes, the investment practice registration in terms of the Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services Act, No. 37 of 2002, with the Financial Services Board is:
12.	The applicant purchased <i>I</i> did not purchase -
12.1	insurance cover to protect against the possibility of misappropriation of trust money and property;

143

### 12.2 professional indemnity insurance cover

If such insurance was acquired, state in each case the extent of the cover, the name of the insurer and the policy number.

13. The legal practitioner is required to complete and return the attached risk questionnaire for analysis and risk management by the Attorneys Insurance Indemnity Fund.

#### **FINANCIAL INFORMATION**

- 14. As the legal practitioner I am responsible for ensuring that the legal practitioner's trust accounts are maintained in compliance with the provisions of the Legal Practice Act, 28 of 2014 ("the Act") and the rules of the Legal Practice Council. I am responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of accounting and internal control systems and the completion of the risk assessment of the firm.
- I confirm that I have maintained the necessary accounting records as required in terms of sections 87(1) and 87(3) of the Act and the rules of the Legal Practice Council for the accounting period from 1 October 20\_\_\_\_ to 30 September 20\_\_\_\_.

## 14.2 I certify that:

- the accounting records, to the best of my knowledge and belief, are in accordance with the terms of the Act and the rules of the Legal Practice Council;
- 14.2.2 any trust deficit was reported to the Council;
- the interest earned in terms of sections 86(5) of the Act was paid to the Council in full on a monthly basis;
- the annual fees and charges are fully paid up.
- 14.3 State the amount (as per the bank statement) standing to the credit of the firm's trust banking account(s) and the amount of trust monies invested by the applicant's firm at the end of each quarter of this year, per financial institution:

Balance standing to the credit of the applicant's trust banking account(s)	(A) Section 86(1)	(B) Section 86(3)	(C) Section 86(4)	(D) Invest- ments	(E) Estates	Total
Currency						
31 December 20						
31 March 20						
30 June 20						
30 September 20						
TOTAL TRUST FUNDS						

Trust banking account details	(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)
	Section 86(1)	Section 86(3)	Section 86(4)	Invest- ments	Estates
Bank:					
Branch:					
Branch code:					
Account number:					
Credit interest rate: - at 31March - at 30 Sept					

Balance standing to the credit of the applicant's trust banking account(s)	(A) Section 86(1)	(B) Section 86(3)	(C) Section 86(4)	(D) Invest- ments	(E) Estates	(F) Property	Total
Bank service fee formula:							

## 14.4 Analysis of section 86(4) investments by category at 30 September 20\_\_:

Category	Distribution	Duration(average number of months)
Commercial	%	months
litigation	%	months
Road Accident Fund	%	months
Investments	%	months
Estates	%	months
Other: (Specify)		
	%	months
TOTAL	100%	

SIGNATURE OF APPLICANT

145

14.5 I hereby authorise the above bank/s to provide the Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund with details of any changes to, and to certify, the above information, from time to time, as requested by the Fund.

I hereby authorise the Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund to negotiate with my bankers the terms relating to interest accruing on, and bank charges levied against, my trust current banking account(s).

SIGNE	D ON THIS	DAY OF	<b>20</b> AT	
	E PRESENCE OF TNESSES:	THE UNDERSIGNED	WITNESSES:	
1.				
2.				

#### **GUIDELINES FOR COMPLETING THIS FORM**

This form must be completed in advance for the coming year.

The form should be submitted by 1 December of each year for a certificate in respect of the following year.

If commencing practice for the first time the application will be in respect of the current year.

The information requested in this application form will, inter alia, be used by the Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund to provide statistics for risk management, risk profiling and reinsurance programmes.

- Item 14.3: The amount (as per bank statements) standing to the credit of the firm's trust banking account, the amount of trust moneys invested by the applicant's firm, estate accounts and other entrusted property.
  - A Insert the balance standing to the credit of the trust current banking account as per the bank statement as at the end of each quarter. If there is more than one trust account, add the balances together and enter the result in A for each quarter.
  - B Insert the total of the amounts invested in terms of section 86(3) in B for each quarter.
  - C Insert the total of the amounts invested in terms of section 86(4) in C for each quarter. On this type of investment the interest generated is payable to the practitioner's client(s), and to the Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund in terms of section 86(5)(b).
  - D Insert the total of the amounts invested in terms of the Council's investment rules in D for each quarter.
  - E Insert the total amount held in respect of estates in terms of section 87(3)(c) of the Act in E for each quarter.
  - F Insert the value of any other entrusted property in terms of section 55(1) of the Act, in F for each quarter.

Use annexures if there is more than one account and financial institution.

For trust funds denominated in any foreign currency, provide a separate annexure in the same format noting the currency.

#### Trust current banking account details:

- (a) Enter name of bank.
- (b) Enter name of branch.
- (c) Enter branch code.
- (d) Enter bank account number.
- (e) Enter the credit interest rate applied to the account as at the dates specified. These dates relate to the current year. If the rates are not shown on the bank statements, practitioners should contact their bank managers to get the correct information. If the rate fluctuates depending on the size of the balance in the account, indicate the rate on balances in excess of R100 000.
- (f) The bank service fee formula must be entered as at 30 September of the current year. The service fee formula is normally printed on the bank statement in the following way:



The first 3 digits are the charge for the first R100 of each cheque issued, expressed in cents.

The next 3 digits are the charge for each additional R100 of each cheque issued.

The last 3 or 4 digits are the maximum charge per cheque issued.

Use annexures if space is insufficient and for information on multiple accounts.

Item 14.4: You are required to provide your own assessment of the nature of section 86(4) trust investments at 30 September, expressed as a percentage, and the average duration of each type of investment.

Insert percentages to indicate the nature of section 86(4) trust investments.

Also insert the average duration of each investment type.

Schedule 8 (Rule 50.24.1)

#### **AUDITOR'S REPORT**

(First Part): Illustrative Auditor's Report (Unmodified opinion)

### Circumstances

- Compliance of trust accounts of trust account practices with the Act and the accounting rules contained in the code of conduct ("the accounting rules").
- Unmodified auditor's opinion
- The information in the Practitioner's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts of trust account practice agrees with the underlying records that were the subject of the engagement on the trust accounts of the trust account practice.

Independent Registered Auditor's Report on Trust Accounts of Trust Account Practice.

To the <*Practitioner / Partners / Directors*<sup>5</sup>> (insert the name of the firm)

We have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the compliance of the trust accounts of *<insert the name of the firm>* with Section 86(1), 86(2), 86(3), 86(4), 86(5), 86(6) and 86(7) of the Legal Practice Act, No. 28 of 2014 (the Act), and accounting rules 0 and 51<sup>6</sup>> (the Rules) for the *<period from <insert date> to <insert date>>/<year ended <i><insert date>>*.7

We clarify that we are not required to perform any procedures on records or documents relating to accounting for deceased and insolvent estates and trusts other than those dealt with via the firm's trust banking account(s).

Throughout the report - delete whichever: "proprietor/partners/directors" is "not applicable"

Applicable Rules are: 50.6, 50.7. 50.8, 50.9, 50.10, 50.11, 50.13, 50.14.7.2, 50.14.7.3, 50.14.8, 50.14.9, 50.14.12. 50.14.13, 50.14.14, 50.14.15, 50.14.16, 50.15, 50.16, 50.19 and 51.

Throughout the report - delete which is not applicable: <period from <insert date> to <insert date>>/<year ended <insert date>>.

149

<year ended <insert date>> to the underlying records that were the subject of our engagement on the compliance of the firm's trust accounts with the Act and the Rules We are also required to read the firm's representations and the other disclosures in the firm's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts for the purpose of identifying material inconsistencies with our knowledge obtained in our engagement on the compliance of the firm's trust accounts with the Act and Rules.

<Practitioner's/Partner's/Partners'/Director's/Directors'> responsibility for the trust accounts

The responsible for ensuring that the firm's trust
accounts are maintained in compliance with the Act and the Rules, and for such internal
control as the /practitioner/partners/directors> determine(s) is necessary to maintain the
integrity of the trust accounts in accordance with the relevant mandates, including such
controls as the /practitioner/partners/directors> determine(s) is also necessary to prevent
and detect fraud and theft. The /practitioner/partners/directors> is/are also responsible for
the preparing the attached statement and for the financial information and declarations
contained therein.

#### Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express a reasonable assurance opinion on compliance of the firm's trust accounts with the Act and the Rules, based on our procedures performed, and to report as required on the firm's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts.

We conducted our assurance engagement in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements ISAE 3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information. That standard requires that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the engagement to obtain reasonable assurance about the compliance of trust accounts of trust account practices, in all material respects, with the Act and the Rules.

A reasonable assurance engagement in accordance with ISAE 3000 involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the compliance of trust accounts of trust account practices with the Act and the Rules. The nature, timing and extent of procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of non-compliance with the Act and the Rules, whether due to fraud and error. In making those risk assessments we considered internal control relevant to the circumstances of the engagement. Our reasonable assurance engagement included the following procedures:

- Considering, and applying when considered applicable in the engagement circumstances, the guidance in the Guide on *Engagements on Attorneys Trust* Account issued by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors;
- Making inquiries of the trust account practitioner and his or her staff;
- Testing transactions for all significant activities with the objective of evaluating whether:
  - Transactions were appropriately identified as trust transactions;
  - Trust transactions were in accordance with mandates and supported by adequate documentation and narrative to identify from whom funds were received, and for whose credit;
  - Deposits and withdrawals from the trust bank account were to, or for, a trust creditor;
  - Transfers to the firm's business account were only in respect of moneys claimed to be due to the firm; and
- Testing and/or scrutinising bank reconciliations, as considered appropriate in the engagement circumstances, and evaluating whether confirmations from financial institutions were in support of the records made available to us.

We believe that our work performed and evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

#### Opinion

In our opinion, the trust

In our opinion, the trust accounts of (*insert the name of the firm*) for the period/year ended <*insert date*> were maintained, in all material respects, in compliance with the Act and the Rules.

## Report on Firm's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Refer paragraphs 75-77 of the Guide for Registered Auditors: *Engagements on Attorneys Trust Accounts* for guidance regarding the auditor's reporting responsibilities.

151

inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the course of our engagement. The firm's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts is the responsibility of the firm.

We have not undertaken an assurance engagement on the firm's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts and accordingly we do not express an opinion thereon.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

<The form and content of this section of the auditor's report will vary depending on the nature of the auditor's other reporting responsibilities.>9

Restriction on distribution and use

This report is for the purpose of meeting the auditor reporting requirements of the Rules and, as regards the accompanying firm's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts, the additional auditor reporting requirements of the Legal Practice Council and the Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund. Consequently it may not be suitable for any other purpose. It is intended solely for the use of *practitioner/partners/directors* of the firm, the Council and the Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund, and should not be distributed to other parties.

Auditor's Signature

Name of individual registered auditor

IRBA Registration number for firm and/or auditor

Registered audit firm

Date of report

Auditor's address (if not on a firm letterhead)

\_

Refer paragraph 78 of the Guide for Registered Auditors: *Engagements on Attorneys Trust Accounts*, for illustrative wording to insert as: *Report on Other Legal and regulatory requirements*, where a reportable irregularity, as required in section 45 of the Auditing Profession Act, No. 26 of 2005 has been reported.

#### (Second Part): Illustrative Auditor's Report (Qualified opinion)

#### Circumstances

- Certain non-compliance identified (rather than significant non-compliance) of the trust account practitioner's trust accounts with the Act and the Rules.
- Qualified auditor's opinion
- The information in the firm's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts agrees with the underlying records that were the subject of the engagement on the trust account practitioner's trust accounts.

## Independent Registered Auditor's Report on Trust Accounts of a Trust Account Practitioner

To the <*Practitioner / Partners / Directors*<sup>1</sup>> (insert the name of the firm)

We have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the compliance of the trust accounts of *<insert the name of the firm>* with Section 86(1), 86(2), 86(3), 86(4), 86(5), 86(6) and 86(7) of the Legal Practice Act, no 29 of 2014 (the Act), and Accounting Rules 0 and 51<sup>2</sup> (the "Rules") for the *<period from <insert date>* to *<insert date>>*/< year ended *<insert date>>*.

We clarify that we are not required to perform any procedures on records or documents relating to accounting for deceased and insolvent estates and trusts other than those dealt with via the firm's trust banking account(s).

<Practitioner's/Partner's/Partners'/Director's/Directors'> responsibility for the trust accounts

1 Throughout the report - delete whichever: "proprietor/partners/directors" is "not applicable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 50.66, 50.7. 50.8, 50.9, 50.10, 50.11, 50.13, 50.14.7.2, 50.14.7.3, 50.14.8, 50.14.9, 50.14.12. 50.14.13, 50.14.14, 40.15.15, 50.14.16, 50.15, 50.16, 50.19 and 51.

153

The responsible for ensuring that the firm's trust
accounts are maintained in compliance with the Act and the Rules, and for such internal control
as the responsible for ensuring that the firm's trust
accounts are maintained in compliance with the Act and the Rules, and for such internal control
as the responsible for maintain the integrity of the
trust accounts in accordance with the relevant mandates, including such controls as the
repractitioner/partners/directors> determine(s) is also necessary to prevent and detect fraud and
theft. The responsible for the preparing the attached
firm's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts and for the financial information and declarations
contained therein.

#### Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express a reasonable assurance opinion on the compliance of the firm's trust accounts with the Act and the Rules, based on our procedures performed, and to report as required on the firm's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts.

We conducted our assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard on Assurance Engagements ISAE 3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information. That standard requires that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the engagement to obtain reasonable assurance about the compliance of the trust accounts of trust account practices, in all material respects, with the Act and the Rules.

A reasonable assurance engagement in accordance with ISAE 3000 involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the compliance of trust accounts of the account practice with the Act and the Rules. The nature, timing and extent of procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of non-compliance with the Act and the Rules, whether due to fraud and error. In making those risk assessments we considered internal control relevant to the circumstances of the engagement. Our reasonable assurance engagement included the following procedures:

- Considering, and applying when considered applicable in the engagement circumstances, the guidance in the Guide on Engagements on Attorneys Trust Accounts issued by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors;
- Making inquiries of the trust account practitioner and his or her staff;
- Testing of transactions for all significant activities with the objective of evaluating whether:
  - Transactions were appropriately identified as trust transactions;

- Trust transactions were in accordance with mandates and supported by adequate documentation and narrative to identify from whom funds were received, and for whose credit;
- Deposits and withdrawals from the trust bank account were to, or for, a trust creditor;
- that transfers to the firm's business account were only in respect of moneys claimed to be due to the firm; and
- Testing and/or scrutinising bank reconciliations, as considered appropriate in the engagement circumstances, and evaluating whether confirmations from financial institutions were in support of the records made available to us.

We believe that our work performed and evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

#### Basis for qualified opinion

The firm's trust accounts were not maintained in compliance with the Act and the Rules, as follows<sup>3</sup>:

List ...<insert instances of non-compliance identified>

#### Qualified opinion

In our opinion, except for the instances of non-compliance listed in the preceding paragraph, the trust accounts of *<insert the name of the firm>* for the period/year ended *<insert date>* were maintained in compliance with the Act and the Rules.

#### Report on firm's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts<sup>4</sup>

Any contravention of Sections 86 of the Act, and any instance of contravention of the rules identified in the course of the engagement relating to trust accounts in terms of the Rules is regarded as material and should be reported.

Refer paragraphs 75-77 of the Guide for Registered Auditors: *Engagements on Attorneys Trust Accounts* for guidance regarding the auditor's reporting responsibilities.

with our knowledge obtained in the course of our engagement. The firm's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts is the responsibility of the attorney.

Based on our reading we have not identified any information contained in the firm's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts that is inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the course of our engagement. However, we have not undertaken an assurance engagement on the firm's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts and accordingly we do not express an opinion thereon.<sup>5</sup>

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

<The form and content of this section of the auditor's report will vary depending on the nature of the auditor's other reporting responsibilities.>6

Restriction on distribution use

This report is for the purpose of meeting the auditor reporting requirements of the Rules and, as regards the accompanying firm's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts, the additional auditor reporting requirements of the Legal Practice Council and the Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund. Consequently it may not be suitable for any other purpose. It is intended solely for the use of practitioner/partners/directors> of the firm, the Legal Practice Council and the Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund, and should not be distributed to other parties.

Auditor's Signature

Name of individual registered auditor

IRBA Registration number of firm and/or auditor

Registered audit firm

Date of report

Auditor's address (if not on a firm letterhead)

Refer paragraph 77 of the Guide for Registered Auditors: *Engagements on Attorneys Trust Accounts* for matters to be considered when inconsistencies are identified.

Insert paragraph on *Report on Other Legal and regulatory requirements* where a reportable irregularity has been reported (refer paragraph 78 of the Guide for Registered Auditors: *Engagements on Attorneys Trust Accounts* for illustrative wording).

## (Third Part): Annual Statement on Trust Accounts of Trust Account Practice<sup>1</sup>

#### (On practitioner's letterhead)

The Executive Office

Legal Practice Council

Address

Date

## Practitioner's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts<sup>2</sup>

This statement is in support of the below listed practitioner(s) application for a Fidelity Fund Certificate for the <year/period> commencing <insert date> and ending <insert date>.

## 15. List of trust account practitioners in firm / practice applying for annual Fidelity Fund Certificate<sup>3</sup>

1.

2.

#### 16. Firm's compliance representations

I/we confirm that I/we have maintained the necessary accounting records<sup>4</sup> as required in terms of section 86 of the Legal Practice Act, no 28 of 2014 and the accounting rules applicable to trust account practitioners for the ended <insert date>, inter alia:

- The firm's trust accounts have been updated monthly and balanced at least quarterly;
- b) The firm complied/ has not complied with the service fee structure (including the cash deposit fee structure where applicable) and the credit interest rates, as amended from time to time, as nationally/provincially agreed upon between the Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund and the firm's bank(s);
- c) The ratio as a percentage of total bank charges (excluding VAT) incurred during the year to the total of interest earned during the year was <insert percentage>;

To be attached to the auditor's *Report on the Practitioner's* Trust Account Practice to be submitted to the Legal Practice Council

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> To be attached to the auditor's report on the Practitioner's Trust Accounts to be submitted to the Legal Practice Council.

Attach separate list if there are numerous partners / directors in the firm.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Accounting records include those for trust liabilities in respect of which the practitioner is the executor, trustee or curator or which he administers on behalf of the executor, trustee or curator.

- 157
- d) The firm's trust accounts for the period subsequent to 2X February 20X2 have been written up to (insert date) and the trial balance was last balanced at <insert date> and in compliance with the provisions of <insert Rule X> read with <insert Rule X>:
- e) The following changes in the composition of the firm occurred during the year or during the period from <insert date> to <insert date>:

<insert changes>:

- f) The firm was issued with a valid fidelity fund certificate for the calendar year ended <insert financial period end> (i.e. the calendar year before the financial period/year of this report in the name of <insert the name of the firm>).
- g) The firm is registered as an Accountable Institution in accordance with section 43B of the Financial Intelligence Centre Act, Act No. 38 of 2001 (FICA) with accountable institution registration reference number:<insert number> that was issued by the Financial Intelligence Centre.
- h) The firm <has/has not> complied with the requirements of section 21 of FICA "Identification of clients and other persons when establishing a business relationship or conducting a single transaction with a client".
- i) The firm <has / has not> reported <insert number> cash transactions (received or paid) above the prescribed limit to the Financial Intelligence Centre for the period reported on in accordance with the requirements of Section 28 of FICA "Cash transactions above prescribed limit".
- j) The firm <has / has not> reported <insert number> property associated with terrorist and related property reports to the Financial Intelligence Centre for the period in accordance with the requirements of section 28A of FICA "Property associated with terrorist and related activities".
- k) The firm <has / has not> reported <insert number> suspicious and unusual transactions to the Financial Intelligence Centre for the period in accordance with the requirements of section 29 of FICA "Suspicious and unusual transactions".
- The firm <has / has not> formulated and implemented internal rules in terms of section 42 of FICA which includes the requirement to report cash threshold

transactions (section 28) and suspicious and unusual transactions (section 29) to the Financial Intelligence Centre.

## 17. Places of practice

At the date of this report, the firm's principal place of practice is that given in the letterhead and the firm's South African offices are situated at <insert full physical addresses<sup>5</sup>>:

<insert office addresses>

### 18. Information extracted from the trust accounting records

Reconciliation of interest earned on the firm's section 78(1) and section (2)(a) trust accounts from 1 March 20XX to 2X February 20XX:

(i)	Amount brought forward from the previous financial year in	
	respect of interest earned on monies deposited in terms of	
	section 86(2) and monies invested in terms of section 86(3)	
	of the Legal Practice Act, no 28 of 2014.	
(ii)	Amount earned during the current period on monies	
	deposited in trust banking accounts in terms of section 78(1)	
	and monies invested in trust investment accounts in terms of	
	section 86(3) of the Legal Practice Act, no 28 of 2014.	
(iii)	Amount incurred during the current period in respect of	
	refundable bank charges (excluding VAT – firms not liable for	
	Vat as vendors may include VAT)	
(iv)	Amount already paid over to the Council as nominee of the	
	Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund during the period under	
	review in terms of section 86(5) of the Legal Practice Act, no	
	28 of 2014 is: (a schedule of the payments made is to be	
	attached)	
(v)	Amount carried over to the next financial period in respect of	
	interest earned on monies deposited in terms of section 86(2)	
	and monies invested in terms of section 86(3) of the Legal	

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Attach as a separate list if the firm has multiple offices in South Africa.

Practice Act, no 28 of 2014.

(v.i)	The emount referred to in nevertable 4(v) egrees/ does not	agrae <sup>6</sup> with the
(vi)	The amount referred to in paragraph 4(v) agrees/ does not	_
	balance as recorded in the accounting records, which amount,	less the amount
	of R paid over to the Council since period	l end, <is is="" not=""></is>
	held in the firm's trust account.	
	If not held in the trust account, a written explanation detailing	ng how the trust
	interest has been dealt with is to be annexed to the report.	
(vii)	The following information was extracted from our trust account	iting records that

(vii) The following information was extracted from our trust accounting records that were the subject of our auditor's assurance engagement in respect of trust creditors/liabilities and trust funds available at the period / year end <insert date> and on one other date, selected by our auditor <insert date>, were as follows:

TOTAL TRUST CREDITORS / LIABILITIES	Local	Foreign <sup>7</sup>	At period end <sup>8</sup>	At year end
Trust creditors/liabilities				
Trust creditors in terms of:				
- Section 86(2)				
- Section 86(3)				
- Section 86(5)(a)				
- Section 86(5)(b)				

159

If the answer to paragraph 4(vi) is: "does not agree", list all instances in which the accounting rules may not have been complied with. (If space is insufficient, this may be continued on a separate sheet and attached to this assurance report).

Attach a detailed schedule of liabilities per foreign currency per category, in the same format, and convert to Rand at the reporting date.

The date selected, by the auditor, must be a date, other than the financial year end, which occurs during the financial year / period to which this assurance engagement relates.

- Interest		
Trust creditors in terms of estates <sup>9</sup>		
Trust creditors in terms of other entrusted assets <sup>10</sup>		
TOTAL TRUST CREDITORS / LIABILITIES		
Trust funds available in terms of trust banking		
accounts:		
- Section 86(2)		
- Section 86(3)		
- Section 86(4)		
- Trust cash on hand		
- Interest		
Trust funds and assets relating to estates		
Other entrusted assets <sup>11</sup>		
Debit balances in trust ledger <sup>12</sup>		
TOTAL FUNDS		
TRUST SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) <sup>13</sup>		

### 19. **Investment practice**

The firm:

 (i) has/ has not carried on the business of an investment practice during the year under review;

This is trust liabilities in respect of which the practitioner is the executor, trustee or curator or which he administers on behalf of the executor, trustee or curator for which consent has been obtained from the Master of the High Court to deal with through the firm's trust account.

This relates to the liability originating from any asset entrusted to the practitioner other than the items listed, supported by a detailed schedule of the nature of such liability.

Assets entrusted to the practitioner other than the trust funds items listed.

Details of debit balances in the trust ledger must be provided as an attachment to the report providing reasons for the occurrence and how it was resolved.

Detailed explanation required on how the surplus / deficit originated and how it was subsequently cleared and resolved. Indicate when the deficit was reported to the Council.

161

- (ii) has/ has not complied<sup>14</sup> in all respects with the provisions of investment practice<rule 51> contained in the rules;
- (iii) <is / is not> registered as a Financial Services Provider (FSP) with the FAIS Department of the Financial Services Board.

.....

<Name of trust account practice>

<Sole Practitioner/Partners/Directors>15

## SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REQUESTED BY THE LEGAL PRACTICE COUNCIL FIRM (INSERT FIRM NAME)

Schedule of Interest payments

For the financial	period	to	

Trust Ba	nking Account at <	nsert Name of Bank	>, Branch Code No.	and
Account	No		_	
	Date	Financial Period	Method of Payment (EFT / Cheque)	Amount
1.				
2.				
3.				
4.				
5.				
6.				
7.				
8.				

<sup>14</sup> If the answer to paragraph 5(ii) is: "has not complied", list all instances in which the rules may not have been complied with. (If space is insufficient, this may be continued on a separate sheet and attached to this assurance report).

This gazette is also available free online at www.gpwonline.co.za

Delete whichever is not applicable. For practices with a large number of partners / directors this "Practitioners' Annual Statement on Trust Accounts" should be signed by the partner / director authorised by the Partnership / Board of the Inc.

162

Final Rules - The South African Legal Practice Council 19\_01\_2018.docx 25/01/2018

9.		
10.		
11.		
12.		
13.		
Total		

#### Notes:

- 1. The total indicated above should agree with Par 4(v) of the **Practitioner's Annual Statement on Trust Accounts**.
- 2. Kindly note that a separate schedule should be submitted for each trust bank account operated by the firm.

163

## Second Schedule (Rule 51.4)

## **CLIENT INVESTMENT MANDATE**

I/We, the	undersigned	
(the clien	t) of	<del> </del>
do hereb	y authorise and empower	
(firm's na	me)	
to make t	the following investments as my/our agent and on my/our behalf:	
20.	TYPE OF INVESTMENTS	YES / NO
20.1	With a bank (subject to the conditions as set out at	
	the bottom of this mandate); and/or	
20.2	Stocks and shares on JSE; and/or	
20.3	Money lending; and/or	
20.4	Other (give details under 5 or on an annexure, if necess	sary)
21.	TYPE OF MANDATE GIVEN	YES / NO
21.1	Discretionary	
21.2	Non-discretionary	
22.	IS FIRM TO KEEP ALL SECURITIES/CERTIFICATES	YES / NO
23.	REPORTING Monthly / Quarterly / 6-Monthly / Annually	
24.	GENERAL	
Instructio	ns re securities, interest payments, charges etc.	

#### 25. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS BY INVESTOR

The investor acknowledges:

- 25.1 that the firm acts as the investor's agent in relation to any investments made in terms of this mandate;
- 25.2 that the investor assumes (except in so far as there may in law be a right of recovery against the firm) all risks connected with the administration by the firm of money entrusted to the firm, as well as the responsibility to ensure that the firm executes the instructions as recorded in this mandate;
- 25.3 that any funds invested with a bank are not protected against the possible liquidation or other failures of the bank;
- 25.4 that money or other assets paid to the firm for investment pursuant to this mandate do not enjoy the protection of the Legal Practitioners' Fidelity Fund.

Signed at	on this	day of	
		_	Signature of client
Accepted at	on this	d	ay of
		_	Signature of the firm

To be completed and signed in duplicate and a copy to be handed to the client. Conditions applicable to investments with a Bank